# 行政院國家科學委員會專題研究計畫 成果報告

## 黎曼曲面的量子幾何

計畫類別: 個別型計畫

計畫編號: NSC92-2115-M-009-016-

執行期間: 92年08月01日至93年07月31日

執行單位: 國立交通大學應用數學系

計畫主持人: 張麗萍

報告類型: 精簡報告

處理方式:本計畫可公開查詢

中華民國93年9月15日

# WEIL-PETERSSON METRIC ON THE UNIVERSAL TEICHMÜLLER SPACE I: CURVATURE PROPERTIES AND CHERN FORMS

#### LEON A. TAKHTAJAN AND LEE-PENG TEO

ABSTRACT. We prove that the universal Teichmüller space T(1) carries a new structure of a complex Hilbert manifold. We show that the connected component of the identity of T(1), the Hilbert submanifold  $T_0(1)$ , is a topological group. We define a Weil-Petersson metric on T(1) by Hilbert space inner products on tangent spaces, compute its Riemann curvature tensor, and show that T(1) is a Kähler-Einstein manifold with negative Ricci and sectional curvatures. We introduce and compute Mumford-Miller-Morita characteristic forms for the vertical tangent bundle of the universal Teichmüller curve fibration over the universal Teichmüller space. As an application, we derive Wolpert curvature formulas for the finite-dimensional Teichmüller spaces from the formulas for the universal Teichmüller space.

#### Contents

1. Introduction	2
2. The universal Teichmüller space	5 5
2.1. Teichmüller theory	5
2.2. Homogeneous spaces of $Homeo_{qs}(S^1)$	10
2.3. Teichmüller spaces and Teichmüller curves of Fuchsian group	s 17
2.4. Resolvent kernel	18
2.5. Variational formulas	20
3. $T(1)$ as a Hilbert manifold	23
3.1. Hilbert space structure on tangent spaces	23
3.2. The $L^2$ -estimates	28
3.3. The Hilbert manifold structure of $T(1)$	31
3.4. Integral manifolds of the distribution $\mathfrak{D}_T$	33
4. Velling-Kirillov and Weil-Petersson metrics	34
4.1. Velling-Kirillov metric on the universal Teichmüller curve	34
4.2. Weil-Petersson metric on the universal Teichmüller space	35
5. Characteristic forms of the universal Teichmüller curve	37
5.1. The form $c_1(V)$ as Velling-Kirillov symplectic form	38
5.2. The Chern form $c_1(V)$ and the resolvent kernel	40
5.3. Mumford-Morita-Miller characteristic forms	42
6. First and second variations of the hyperbolic metric	43
6.1. The first variation	43

6.2. The second variation	44
7. Riemann curvature tensor	46
7.1. The first variation of the Weil-Petersson metric	46
7.2. The second variation of the Weil-Petersson metric	50
7.3. Ricci and sectional curvatures	51
8. Finite-dimensional Teichmüller spaces	54
Appendix A.	62
Appendix B.	66
References	69

#### 1. Introduction

The universal Teichmüller space T(1) is the simplest Teichmüller space that bridges spaces of univalent functions and general Teichmüller spaces. Introduced by Bers [Ber65, Ber72, Ber73], the universal Teichmüller space is an infinite-dimensional complex manifold modeled on a Banach space. It contains Teichmüller spaces of Riemann surfaces as complex submanifolds. The universal Teichmüller space T(1) also came to the forefront with the advent of string theory. It contains as a complex submanifold an infinite-dimensional complex Fréchet manifold  $M\ddot{o}b(S^1)\backslash Diff_+(S^1)$ , which plays an important role in one of the approaches to non-perturbative bosonic closed string field theory based on Kähler geometry [BR87a, BR87b]. The manifold  $M\ddot{o}b(S^1)\backslash Diff_+(S^1)$ —a homogeneous space of the Lie group  $Diff_+(S^1)$ , also has an interpretation as a coadjoint orbit of the Bott-Virasoro group, and as such carries a natural right-invariant Kähler metric [Kir87, KY87].

The complex geometry of the finite-dimensional Teichmüller spaces — Teichmüller spaces  $T(\Gamma)$  of cofinite Fuchsian groups, has been extensively studied in the context of Ahlfors-Bers deformation theory of complex structures on Riemann surfaces. In particular, A. Weil defined a natural Hermitian metric on  $T(\Gamma)$  by the Petersson inner product on the tangent spaces. Called Weil-Petersson metric, it was shown to be a Kähler metric by Weil and Ahlfors. In his seminal paper [Ahl62] Ahlfors has studied the curvature properties of the Weil-Petersson metric. In particular, he proved that the Bers coordinates on  $T(\Gamma)$  are geodesic at the origin, and computed the Riemann curvature tensor of the Weil-Petersson metric in terms of multiple principal value integrals. Using these formulas, Ahlfors proved that  $T(\Gamma)$ has negative Ricci, holomorphic sectional, and scalar curvatures. Further results have been obtained by Royden [Roy75]. Wolpert re-examined Ahlfors' approach in [Wol86]. He developed a different method for computing Riemann and Ricci curvature tensors, and obtained explicit formulas in terms of the resolvent kernel of the Laplace operator of the hyperbolic metric on the corresponding Riemann surface.

Curvature properties of the infinite-dimensional complex Fréchet manifold  $M\ddot{o}b(S^1)\backslash Diff_+(S^1)$  have been studied by Kirillov and Yuriev [KY87], and

by Bowick and Rajeev [BR87a, BR87b]. In particular, they computed the Riemann curvature tensor of the right-invariant Kähler metric and proved that  $M\ddot{o}b(S^1) \setminus Diff_+(S^1)$  is a Kähler-Einstein manifold.

Since both the finite-dimensional Teichmüller spaces  $T(\Gamma)$  and the homogeneous space  $M\ddot{o}b(S^1)\setminus Diff_+(S^1)$  are complex submanifolds of T(1), it is natural to investigate whether the latter space carries a "universal" Kähler metric which can be pulled back to the submanifolds. The immediate difficulty is that the universal Teichmüller space T(1) is a complex Banach manifold, so that its tangent spaces do not carry Hermitian metric. Nag and Verjovsky [NV90] were the first to address this problem. They have shown that the Kähler metric on  $M\ddot{o}b(S^1)\setminus Diff_+(S^1)$  is the pull-back of a certain Hermitian metric defined on a Hilbert subspace of the tangent space at the origin of T(1). The latter metric is analogous to the Weil-Petersson metric on finite-dimensional Teichmüller spaces. However, finite-dimensional Teichmüller spaces  $T(\Gamma)$  embed into T(1) transversally to the Hilbert subspace, so that the Weil-Petersson metric on  $T(\Gamma)$  can not be pulled back from T(1). Nevertheless, following a suggestion by Velling, Nag and Verjovsky [NV90] have shown that the Weil-Petersson metric on  $T(\Gamma)$ can be obtained by a certain "averaging" procedure using Patterson's uniform distribution of the "lattice points" of a cofinite Fuchsian group  $\Gamma$  in the hyperbolic plane. The major open problem is to define the Weil-Petersson metric on the whole space T(1), to study its curvature properties, and to find relation between curvatures of this metric and the Weil-Petersson metric on finite-dimensional Teichmüller spaces <sup>1</sup>.

An attempt to define the Weil-Petersson metric on the universal Teichmüller space based on the completion of  $\operatorname{diff}(S^1)/\operatorname{m\"ob}(S^1)^2$  in the Sobolev's  $\frac{3}{2}$ -norm was made in [STZ99]. However, the paper [STZ99] does not contain a rigorous proof that is needed for introducing a Hilbert manifold structure on an infinite-dimensional manifold. Also, the identification between the tangent space  $\operatorname{diff}(S^1)/\operatorname{m\"ob}(S^1)$  and the space of holomorphic functions on the unit disk made in [STZ99] is not correct and actually introduces Sobolev's  $\frac{9}{2}$ -norm rather than  $\frac{3}{2}$ -norm. As a result, the corresponding quasisymmetric homeomorphisms of  $S^1$  are of class  $C^3(S^1)$ .

Here we introduce Weil-Petersson metric on the universal Teichmüller space T(1) and study its curvature properties. We prove that T(1) carries a new structure of a Hilbert manifold such that in the underlying topology T(1) has uncountably many components. We prove that the connected component of the identity in T(1), the Hilbert submanifold  $T_0(1)$ , is a topological group. We define the Weil-Petersson metric on T(1) by Hilbert space inner products on tangent spaces. We re-examine the Ahlfors original computation [Ahl62] of the second variation of the hyperbolic metric and of the Riemann tensor for the finite-dimensional Teichmüller spaces in terms of the principal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>See the remark on p. 136 in [NV90].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Here diff $(S^1)$  and möb $(S^1)$  are Lie algebras of Lie groups Diff<sub>+</sub> $(S^1)$  and Möb $(S^1)$ .

value integrals. We show how to extend the Ahlfors' method to the case of the universal Teichmüller space and how to convert formulas using principal value integrals into closed expressions using resolvent kernel of the Laplace operator on the hyperbolic plane. Our results extend the Wolpert's formulas [Wol86] to the infinite-dimensional Hilbert manifold T(1). We also prove that T(1) is a Kähler-Einstein manifold with negative Ricci and sectional curvatures. Using the averaging procedure, we derive Wolpert's curvature formulas [Wol86] for the finite-dimensional Teichmüller spaces from the curvature formulas for the universal Teichmüller space. Finally, we introduce and compute Mumford-Morita-Miller characteristic forms for the vertical tangent bundle associated with the fibration  $\pi: T(1) \to T(1)$ , where T(1) is the universal Teichmüller curve. Here again we consider T(1) and T(1) as Hilbert manifolds and show that the integration over the fibers operation, used in the definition of Mumford-Morita-Miller characteristic forms, is well-defined.

This is the first paper in a series. In the subsequent paper we will construct a Kähler potential for the Weil-Petersson metric on T(1) and will study the properties of the period mapping.

Here is the more detailed content of the paper. In Section 2 we present necessary facts from Teichmüller theory, mainly following classical monographs by Ahlfors [Ahl87], Lehto [Leh87] and Nag [Nag88]. Namely, in Section 2.1 we briefly cover: the main definitions, the group structure of the universal Teichmüller space T(1), the Bers embedding, structure of T(1)as an infinite-dimensional complex Banach manifold modeled on the complex Banach space  $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$ , and the basic properties of the universal Teichmüller curve  $\pi: \mathcal{T}(1) \to \mathcal{T}(1)$ . In Section 2.2 we realize  $\mathcal{T}(1)$  and  $\mathcal{T}(1)$  as homogeneous spaces of the group  $\operatorname{Homeo}_{as}(S^1)$  of quasi-symmetric homeomorphisms of  $S^1$ , and by using conformal welding we identify T(1) and T(1)with the spaces of univalent functions on the unit disk  $\mathbb{D}$ . We describe the decomposition of the tangent bundle of  $\mathcal{T}(1)$  over the fiber  $\pi^{-1}(0)$  and present isomorphisms between the tangent spaces. Lemma 2.5 which describes a special property of the quasiconformal mapping with harmonic Beltrami differential seems to be a new result. In Section 2.3 we present, in a succinct form, basic facts about the Teichmüller spaces and Teichmüller curves of Fuchsian groups, including the definition of the Weil-Petersson metric, and Patterson's lemma on the uniform distribution of lattice points on the hyperbolic plane. In Section 2.4 we collect necessary properties of the resolvent kernel  $G = \frac{1}{2}(\Delta_0 + \frac{1}{2})^{-1}$  of the Laplace operator  $\Delta_0$  on the hyperbolic plane, and in Section 2.5 we present Ahlfors' classical variational formulas. In Section 3 we introduce new Hilbert manifold structure on T(1). Namely, in Section 3.1 we define the Hilbert subspaces  $H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  and  $A_2(\mathbb{D})$  of the tangent spaces to T(1) and to  $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$ . In Theorem 3.3 we prove that the differential of the Bers embedding  $\beta: T(1) \to A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  is a bounded bijection between these Hilbert spaces. In Section 3.2 we prepare all  $L^2$ -estimates used in Section 3.3. The main result there is Theorem 3.10 — the existence of a Hilbert manifold atlas for T(1). In Theorem 3.13 we prove that the Bers embedding is also a biholomorphic mapping of Hilbert manifolds. In Section 4.1, following [Teo02], we recall the definition of the Velling-Kirillov metric on the universal Teichmüller curve  $\mathcal{T}(1)$  considered as a Banach manifold, and in Section 4.2 we define the Weil-Petersson metric on the Hilbert manifold T(1). In Section 5.1 we prove that Velling-Kirillov metric is realanalytic on  $\mathcal{T}(1)$  by explicitly constructing its real-analytic Kähler potential — Theorem 5.3. We introduce Mumford-Miller-Morita characteristic forms by considering  $\pi: \mathcal{T}(1) \to \mathcal{T}(1)$  as a fibration of Hilbert manifolds. The latter property is crucial for the operation "integration over the fibers" (which are non-compact) to be well-defined. In Theorem 5.10 we explicitly compute Mumford-Miller-Morita forms in terms of the resolvent G. This is an infinite-dimensional generalization of Wolpert's result in [Wol86]. In Section 6 we give a simple derivation of the second variation of the hyperbolic metric — Proposition 6.3. In Section 7 we prove that the Weil-Petersson metric on T(1) is Kähler and explicitly compute its Riemann and Ricci curvature tensors, showing that T(1) is a Kähler-Einstein manifold. The main results there are Theorem 7.7 and 7.11. They are based on a more technical Proposition 7.2 and Lemma 7.8, and the proof of the latter is presented in Appendix B. In Section 8 we derive Wolpert's curvature formulas [Wol86] for finite-dimensional Teichmüller spaces from the corresponding "universal" curvature formulas for T(1), obtained in Section 7. Finally, in Appendix A we prove that  $T_0(1)$  and the corresponding Teichmüller curve  $T_0(1)$  — the inverse image of  $T_0(1)$  under the projection  $\pi$ , are topological groups in Hilbert manifold topology. Moreover, we show that  $T_0(1)$  is the closure of  $\text{M\"ob}(S^1)\setminus \text{Diff}_+(S^1)$  in T(1) with respect to the Hilbert manifold topology, and prove that  $T_0(1)$  is the inverse image of  $\beta(T(1)) \cap A_2(\mathbb{D})$  under the Bers embedding.

Acknowledgments. We appreciate useful discussions with C. Bishop. The work of the first author was partially supported by the NSF grant DMS-0204628. The work of the second author was partially supported by the grant NSC 91-2115-M-009-017. The second author also thanks CTS for the fellowship to visit Stony Brook University in the Summer of 2003, where part of this work was done.

## 2. The universal Teichmüller space

- 2.1. **Teichmüller theory.** Here we present, in a succinct form, necessary facts from Teichmüller theory (for more details, see monographs [Ahl87, Leh87, Nag88] and the exposition in [Teo02]).
- 2.1.1. Main definitions. Let  $\mathbb{D} = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| < 1\}$  be the open unit disk and let  $\mathbb{D}^* = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| > 1\}$  be its exterior. Denote by  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  and  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  the complex Banach spaces of bounded Beltrami differentials on  $\mathbb{D}^*$

and  $\mathbb{D}$  respectively, and let  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  be the open unit ball in  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)$ . Two classical models of the universal Teichmüller space T(1) are the following.

**Model A.** Extend every  $\mu \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  to  $\mathbb{D}$  by the reflection

(2.1) 
$$\mu(z) = \overline{\mu\left(\frac{1}{\overline{z}}\right)} \frac{z^2}{\overline{z}^2} , \ z \in \mathbb{D},$$

and consider the unique quasiconformal (q.c.) mapping  $w_{\mu}: \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$ , which fixes -1, -i and 1 (i.e., is normalized) and satisfies the Beltrami equation

$$(w_{\mu})_{\bar{z}} = \mu(w_{\mu})_z .$$

Here and in what follows subscripts z and  $\bar{z}$  always stand for the partial derivatives  $\frac{\partial}{\partial z}$  and  $\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}}$ , unless it is explicitly stated otherwise. Due to the reflection symmetry (2.1) the q.c. mapping  $w_{\mu}$  satisfies

(2.2) 
$$\frac{1}{w_{\mu}(z)} = \overline{w_{\mu}\left(\frac{1}{\bar{z}}\right)}$$

and fixes domains  $\mathbb{D}$ ,  $\mathbb{D}^*$ , and the unit circle  $S^1$ . For  $\mu, \nu \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$ , set  $\mu \sim \nu$  if  $w_{\mu}|_{S^1} = w_{\nu}|_{S^1}$ . The universal Teichmüller space T(1) is defined as a set of equivalence classes of normalized q.c. mappings  $w_{\mu}$ ,

$$T(1) = L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1/\sim.$$

**Model B.** Extend every  $\mu \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  to be zero outside  $\mathbb{D}^*$ , and consider the unique q.c. mapping  $w^{\mu}$  which satisfies the Beltrami equation

$$w^{\mu}_{\bar{z}} = \mu w^{\mu}_{z},$$

and is normalized by the conditions f(0) = 0, f'(0) = 1 and f''(0) = 0. Here  $f = w^{\mu}|_{\mathbb{D}}$  is holomorphic on  $\mathbb{D}$  and prime stands for the derivative. For  $\mu, \nu \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$ , set  $\mu \sim \nu$  if  $w^{\mu}|_{\mathbb{D}} = w^{\nu}|_{\mathbb{D}}$ . The universal Teichmüller space T(1) is defined as a set of equivalence classes of normalized q.c. mappings  $w^{\mu}$ ,

$$T(1) = L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1 / \sim$$
.

Since  $w_{\mu}|_{S^1} = w_{\nu}|_{S^1}$  if and only if  $w^{\mu}|_{\mathbb{D}} = w^{\nu}|_{\mathbb{D}}$ , these two definitions of the universal Teichmüller space are equivalent. The set T(1) is a topological space with the quotient topology induced from  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$ . Denote by  $\mathcal{L}^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  the subspace of  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  consisting of real-analytic Beltrami differentials. Every point in T(1) can be represented by  $\mu \in \mathcal{L}^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  [Leh87, Sect. III.1.1].

The space T(1) has a unique structure of a complex Banach manifold, such that the projection map

$$\Phi: L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1 \to T(1)$$

is a holomorphic submersion. The differential of  $\Phi$  at the origin

$$D_0\Phi: L^\infty(\mathbb{D}^*) \to T_0T(1)$$

is a complex linear surjection of holomorphic tangent spaces. The kernel of  $D_0\Phi$  is the subspace  $\mathcal{N}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  of infinitesimally trivial Beltrami differentials. Explicitly,

$$\mathcal{N}(\mathbb{D}^*) = \left\{ \mu \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*) : \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} \mu \, \phi \, d^2 z = 0 \text{ for all } \phi \in A_1(\mathbb{D}^*) \right\},$$

where  $d^2z = dx \wedge dy$ , z = x + iy, and

$$A_1(\mathbb{D}^*) = \left\{ \phi \text{ holomorphic on } \mathbb{D}^* : \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}^*} |\phi| d^2z < \infty \right\}.$$

The Banach space of bounded harmonic Beltrami differentials on  $\mathbb{D}^*$  is defined by

$$\Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*) = \left\{ \mu \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*) : \mu(z) = (1 - |z|^2)^2 \overline{\phi(z)}, \ \phi \in A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*) \right\},\,$$

where

$$A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*) = \left\{ \phi \text{ holomorphic on } \mathbb{D}^* : \|\phi\|_{\infty} = \sup_{z \in \mathbb{D}^*} \left| (1 - |z|^2)^2 \phi(z) \right| < \infty \right\}.$$

The Banach space  $\Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  is not separable. The decomposition

(2.3) 
$$L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*) = \mathcal{N}(\mathbb{D}^*) \oplus \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$$

identifies the holomorphic tangent space  $T_0T(1) = L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)/\mathcal{N}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  at the origin of T(1) with the Banach space  $\Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$ . The universal Teichmüller space T(1) is a complex Banach manifold modeled on  $\Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$ .

Remark 2.1. Traditionally, the universal Teichmüller space is defined using the complex Banach space  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D})_1$ . The reflection (2.1) establishes natural complex anti-linear isomorphism between  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  and  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D})_1$ , and the universal Teichmüller space in the traditional definition is complex conjugate to the space T(1) defined above.

2.1.2. The group structure. The unit ball  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  carries a group structure induced by the composition of q.c. mappings. The group law

$$\lambda = \nu * \mu^{-1}$$

is defined through  $w_{\lambda} = w_{\nu} \circ w_{\mu}^{-1}$ , where  $\mu^{-1}$  stands for the inverse element to  $\mu$ , i.e.,  $\mu * \mu^{-1} = 0$ . The group law is given explicitly by

$$\lambda = \left(\frac{\nu - \mu}{1 - \bar{\mu}\nu} \, \frac{(w_{\mu})_z}{(\overline{w}_{\mu})_{\bar{z}}}\right) \circ w_{\mu}^{-1} \,.$$

It follows from this formula that  $\mathcal{L}^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  is a subgroup of  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$ .

For every  $\lambda \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  set  $[\lambda] = \Phi(\lambda) \in T(1)$ . The group structure on  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  projects to T(1) by  $[\lambda] * [\mu] = [\lambda * \mu]$ . For every  $\mu \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  the right translations

$$R_{[\mu]}: T(1) \to T(1), \quad [\lambda] \mapsto [\lambda * \mu],$$

are biholomorphic automorphisms of T(1). The left translations, in general, are not even continuous mappings (see, e.g., [Leh87, Sect. III.3.4]). For every  $\mu \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  the kernel of  $D_{\mu}\Phi$  is the subspace  $D_0R_{\mu}(\mathcal{N}(\mathbb{D}^*))$  of  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  and

$$T_{[\mu]}T(1) = D_0 R_{[\mu]} (T_0 T(1)) \simeq D_0 R_{\mu} (\Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)).$$

2.1.3. The Bers embedding. Let  $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  be the complex Banach space

$$A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D}) = \left\{ \phi \text{ holomorphic on } \mathbb{D} : \|\phi\|_{\infty} = \sup_{z \in \mathbb{D}} \left| (1 - |z|^2)^2 \phi(z) \right| < \infty \right\}.$$

The Bers embedding  $\beta: T(1) \hookrightarrow A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  is defined as follows. Denote by  $\mathcal{S}(f)$  the Schwarzian derivative of a conformal map f,

$$S(f) = \frac{f_{zzz}}{f_z} - \frac{3}{2} \left(\frac{f_{zz}}{f_z}\right)^2.$$

For every  $\mu \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  the holomorphic function  $\mathcal{S}(w^{\mu}|_{\mathbb{D}}) \in A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  (by Kraus-Nehari inequality it lies in the ball of radius 6 in  $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$ ). Set

$$\beta([\mu]) = \mathcal{S}(w^{\mu}|_{\mathbb{D}}).$$

The Bers embedding is a holomorphic map of complex Banach manifolds, and its differential at the origin is

(2.4) 
$$D_0\beta(\mu)(z) = -\frac{6}{\pi} \iint_{\mathbb{D}_*} \frac{\mu(\zeta)}{(\zeta - z)^4} d^2\zeta.$$

The complex-linear mapping  $D_0\beta$  induces the isomorphism  $\Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*) \xrightarrow{\sim} A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  of the holomorphic tangent spaces to T(1) and  $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  at the origin. The mapping  $\Lambda : A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D}) \to \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$ , inverse to  $D_0\beta$ , is given by

$$\mu(z) = \Lambda(\phi)(z) = -\frac{1}{2} (1 - |z|^2)^2 \phi(\frac{1}{\bar{z}}) \frac{1}{\bar{z}^4}.$$

According to the Ahlfors-Weill theorem, over the ball of radius 2 in  $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  the map  $\phi \mapsto [\Lambda(\phi)]$  is the right inverse to  $\beta$ ,  $\beta \circ \Lambda = \mathrm{id}$ .

2.1.4. The complex structure. For every  $\mu \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  let  $U_{\mu} \subset T(1)$  be the image of the ball of radius 2 in  $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  under the map  $h_{\mu}^{-1} = \Phi \circ R_{\mu} \circ \Lambda$ . The maps  $h_{\mu\nu} = h_{\mu} \circ h_{\nu}^{-1} : h_{\nu}(U_{\mu} \cap U_{\nu}) \to h_{\mu}(U_{\mu} \cap U_{\nu})$  are biholomorphic as functions on the Banach space  $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$ . The structure of T(1) as a complex Banach manifold modeled on the Banach space  $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  is explicitly described by the complex-analytic atlas given by the open covering

$$T(1) = \bigcup_{\mu \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1} U_{\mu}$$

with coordinate maps  $h_{\mu}$  and transition maps  $h_{\mu\nu}$ . The canonical projection  $\Phi: L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1 \to T(1)$  is a holomorphic submersion and the Bers embedding  $\beta: T(1) \to A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  is a biholomorphic map with respect to this complex structure.

Remark 2.2. Since every point T(1) can be represented by a real-analytic Beltrami differential, it is sufficient to consider the atlas formed by the charts  $(U_{\mu}, h_{\mu})$  with  $\mu \in \mathcal{L}^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$ .

Complex coordinates on T(1) defined by the coordinate charts  $(U_{\mu}, h_{\mu})$  are called Bers coordinates. For every  $\nu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  set  $\phi = D_0\beta(\nu)$  and define a holomorphic vector field  $\frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon_{\nu}}$  on  $U_0$  by setting

$$Dh_0\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon_\nu}\right) = \phi$$

at all points in  $U_0$  <sup>3</sup>. At every point  $[\mu] \in U_0$ , identified with the corresponding harmonic Beltrami differential  $\mu$ , the vector field  $\frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon_{\nu}}$  in terms of the Bers coordinates on  $U_{\mu}$  corresponds to

$$\tilde{\phi} = D_{\mu} h_{\mu} \left( \frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon_{\nu}} \right) = \left( D_{\mu} h_{\mu} \left( D_{\mu} h_{0} \right)^{-1} \right) (\phi) = D_{0} \left( \beta \circ \Phi \right) \left( D_{\mu} R_{\mu}^{-1} \left( \Lambda(\phi) \right) \right).$$

Using identification  $\Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*) \simeq A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$ , provided by the mapping  $D_0\beta$ , we get

(2.5) 
$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon_{\nu}}\Big|_{\mu} = P\left(D_{\mu}R_{\mu}^{-1}(\nu)\right) = P\left(R(\nu,\mu)\right),$$

where

(2.6) 
$$R(\nu,\mu) = \left(\frac{\nu}{1 - |\mu|^2} \frac{(w_{\mu})_z}{(\overline{w}_{\mu})_{\overline{z}}}\right) \circ w_{\mu}^{-1},$$

and  $P: L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*) \to \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  is the projection onto the subspace of harmonic Beltrami differentials, defined by the decomposition (2.3). Explicitly,

(2.7) 
$$(P\mu)(z) = \frac{3(1-|z|^2)^2}{\pi} \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} \frac{\mu(\zeta)}{(1-\zeta\bar{z})^4} d^2\zeta.$$

Remark 2.3. Right translating  $\nu \in T_0T(1)$  defines a holomorphic tangent vector

$$D_0 R_{[\mu]}(\nu) = (1 - |\mu|^2) \, \nu \circ w_\mu \, \frac{(\overline{w}_\mu)_{\bar{z}}}{(w_\mu)_z} \in T_{[\mu]} T(1)$$

at every  $[\mu] \in T(1)$ . In Bers coordinates on  $U_{\mu}$  this tangent vector is represented by  $\nu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$ . However, the family  $\{D_0 R_{[\mu]}(\nu)\}_{[\mu] \in T(1)}$  of holomorphic tangent vectors does not form a smooth vector field on T(1) since the left translations are not continuous on T(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>We identify holomorphic tangent space to  $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  at every point with  $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$ .

2.1.5. The universal Teichmüller curve. The universal Teichmüller curve  $\mathcal{T}(1)$  is a natural complex fiber space over T(1) with a holomorphic projection map  $\pi: \mathcal{T}(1) \to T(1)$ . The fiber over each point  $[\mu]$  is a quasi-disk  $w^{\mu}(\mathbb{D}^*) \subset \hat{\mathbb{C}}$  with complex structure induced from  $\hat{\mathbb{C}}$  and

(2.8) 
$$T(1) = \{([\mu], z) : [\mu] \in T(1), \ z \in w^{\mu}(\mathbb{D}^*)\}.$$

The fibration  $\pi: \mathcal{T}(1) \to T(1)$  has a natural holomorphic section given by  $T(1) \ni [\mu] \mapsto ([\mu], \infty) \in \mathcal{T}(1)$  — the "zero section", which defines the embedding  $T(1) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{T}(1)$ . The universal Teichmüller curve is a complex Banach manifold modeled on  $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D}) \oplus \mathbb{C}^4$ , and the mapping

$$T(1) \times \mathbb{D}^* \ni ([\mu], z) \mapsto ([\mu], w^{\mu}(z)) \in \mathcal{T}(1)$$

is a real-analytic isomorphism.

2.2. Homogeneous spaces of  $\operatorname{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$ . Let  $\operatorname{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$  be the group of orientation preserving quasi-symmetric homeomorphisms of the unit circle  $S^1$  (see, e.g., [Leh87] for the definition), and let  $\operatorname{Diff}_+(S^1)$ ,  $\operatorname{M\"ob}(S^1)$ , and  $S^1$  be the subgroups of  $\operatorname{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$  consisting, respectively, of smooth orientation preserving diffeomorphisms of  $S^1$ , of  $\operatorname{M\"obius}$  transformations of  $S^1$ , and of rotations of  $S^1$ .

Denote by  $\mathcal{U}$  the set of univalent functions on  $\mathbb{D}$  and let

$$\mathcal{D} = \left\{ f \in \mathcal{U} : f(0) = 0, f'(0) = 1, f''(0) = 0, f \text{ admits a q.c. extension to } \mathbb{C} \right\},$$
$$\widetilde{\mathcal{D}} = \left\{ f \in \mathcal{U} : f(0) = 0, f'(0) = 1, f \text{ admits a q.c. extension to } \mathbb{C} \right\}.$$

According to the Beurling-Ahlfors extension theorem, the maps

$$T(1) \ni [\mu] \mapsto w^{\mu}|_{\mathbb{D}} \in \mathcal{D}$$

and

$$T(1) \ni [\mu] \mapsto w_{\mu}|_{S^1} \in \text{M\"ob}(S^1) \backslash \text{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$$

define bijections

(2.9) 
$$\mathcal{D} \stackrel{\sim}{\leftarrow} T(1) \stackrel{\sim}{\rightarrow} \text{M\"ob}(S^1) \backslash \text{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1),$$

which endow the spaces  $\mathcal{D}$  and  $\text{M\"ob}(S^1)\backslash \text{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$  with the structure of complex Banach manifolds modeled on the Banach space  $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$ . In what follows, we will always identify the coset space  $\text{M\"ob}(S^1)\backslash \text{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$  with the subgroup of  $\text{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$  fixing -1, -i and 1, so that the bijection  $T(1) \xrightarrow{\sim} \text{M\"ob}(S^1)\backslash \text{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$  is a group isomorphism.

Remark 2.4. It is a non-trivial problem to describe the complex Banach manifold structure of the spaces  $\mathcal{D}$  and  $\text{M\"ob}(S^1)\backslash \text{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$  intrinsically, without using the bijection (2.9).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Here  $\hat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \{0\}$  is identified with  $\mathbb{C}$  via the conformal map  $z \mapsto 1/z$ .

2.2.1. Conformal welding. According to Beurling-Ahlfors extension theorem, for every  $\gamma \in \text{M\"ob}(S^1) \backslash \text{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$  there exists a unique  $\alpha \in \text{M\"ob}(S^1)$  which fixes 1, and univalent functions f and g on  $\mathbb{D}$  and  $\mathbb{D}^*$ , satisfying the following properties.

**CW1.** f and g admit q.c. extensions to  $\mathbb{C}$ .

CW2.  $\alpha \circ \gamma = (g^{-1} \circ f)|_{S^1}$ .

**CW3.** f(0) = 0, f'(0) = 1, f''(0) = 0.

CW4.  $g(\infty) = \infty$ .

The factorization **CW2** is known as conformal welding. For  $\gamma = w_{\mu}|_{S^1}$ ,  $[\mu] \in T(1)$ ,  $f = w^{\mu}|_{\mathbb{D}}$  and  $g = (w^{\mu} \circ w_{\mu}^{-1} \circ \alpha^{-1})|_{\mathbb{D}^*}$ , so that  $g(\mathbb{D}^*) = w^{\mu}(\mathbb{D}^*)$ . Here  $w^{\mu}$  is normalized so that f satisfies **CW3** and  $\alpha \in \text{M\"ob}(S^1)$  is uniquely determined by the conditions  $\alpha(1) = 1$  and **CW4**. For  $[\mu] \in T(1)$  we will always denote  $\gamma_{\mu} = (\alpha \circ w_{\mu})|_{S^1}$ ,  $f^{\mu} = f$  and  $g_{\mu} = g$ , so that

$$\gamma_{\mu} = (g_{\mu}^{-1} \circ f^{\mu})|_{S^1}.$$

Slightly abusing notations, we will denote by  $\gamma_{\mu}$  a q.c. extension of  $\gamma_{\mu} = (\alpha \circ w_{\mu})|_{S^1} \in \text{M\"ob}(S^1) \setminus \text{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$  given by  $\alpha \circ w_{\mu}$ . Since  $\alpha \in \text{M\"ob}(S^1)$  fixes 1, the q.c. mapping  $\gamma_{\mu}$  satisfies the reflection property (2.2) and the factorization

(2.10) 
$$\gamma_{\mu} = g_{\mu}^{-1} \circ f^{\mu},$$

where  $f^{\mu} = w^{\mu}$  and  $g_{\mu} = w^{\mu} \circ w_{\mu}^{-1} \circ \alpha^{-1}$ . We will distinguish between  $\gamma_{\mu} \in \text{M\"ob}(S^1) \backslash \text{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$  and its q.c. extension by explicitly specifying either the property **CW2** or the factorization (2.10).

The following result will be used in Section 3.

**Lemma 2.5.** Let  $\mu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1 = \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  and  $\gamma_{\mu} = \alpha \circ w_{\mu}$  the q.c. mapping introduced above. Then the mapping  $\gamma_{\mu}$  fixes 0 and  $\infty$ .

*Proof.* By the reflection property (2.2) and the factorization (2.10), it is sufficient to prove that  $f^{\mu} = w^{\mu}$  fixes  $\infty$ . Denote

$$\gamma = i \circ \gamma_{\mu} \circ i, \quad g = i \circ g_{\mu} \circ i, \quad f = i \circ f^{\mu} \circ i, \quad i^{*}(\mu) = \mu \circ i \frac{\overline{\imath_{z}}}{\imath_{z}},$$

where  $i(z) = z^{-1}$ . The factorization (2.10) for  $\gamma_{\mu}$  gives  $\gamma = g^{-1} \circ f$ , and the property **CW3** for  $f^{\mu}$  yields the following Laurent expansion of f at  $\infty$ ,

(2.11) 
$$f(z) = z + \frac{a_1}{z} + \frac{a_2}{z^2} + \cdots$$

We will prove that f(0) = 0 for  $\mu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  by exploiting the argument in Royden-Earle's proof of the Ahlfors-Weill theorem, as presented in [Nag88, Sect. 3.8.5].

Namely, f satisfies the Beltrami equation with the Beltrami differential  $\nu = i^*(\mu)|_{\mathbb{D}}$ , which is supported on  $\mathbb{D}$ . The fundamental theorem from the

theory of q.c. mappings (see, e.g. [Ahl87]) asserts that f admits the series representation

$$(2.12) f(z) = z + P(\nu)(z) + P(\nu H(\nu))(z) + P(\nu H(\nu H(\nu)))(z) + \cdots,$$

which is uniformly and absolutely convergent on  $\mathbb{C}$ . Here for  $h \in C^2(\mathbb{D})$  we denote

$$\begin{split} P(h)(z) &= -\frac{1}{\pi} \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}} \frac{h(\zeta)}{\zeta - z} \, d^2 \zeta, \\ H(h)(z) &= -\frac{1}{\pi} \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}} \frac{h(\zeta)}{(\zeta - z)^2} \, d^2 \zeta, \end{split}$$

where the latter integral — the Hilbert transform, is understood in the principal value sense. Since  $\nu$  has compact support, it immediately follows from the definition of the operators P and H that the series (2.12) has the Laurent expansion (2.11) at  $\infty$ . We will prove that for  $\nu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D})$  each term of this series vanishes at z=0. Representing  $\nu(z)=-\frac{1}{2}(1-|z|^2)^2\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}a_n\bar{z}^n$  and using polar coordinates, we get for any (n-1) – iterate of the operator  $\nu H$ , n>1,

$$P(\nu H(\nu H(\nu \dots H(\nu))))(0)$$

$$= \left(\frac{1}{2\pi}\right)^n \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \dots \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \frac{\sum_{m_1,\dots,m_n} a_{m_1} \dots a_{m_n} r_1^{m_1+1} \dots r_n^{m_n+1} e^{-im_1\theta_1} \dots e^{-im_n\theta_n}}{r_1 e^{i\theta_1} (r_2 e^{i\theta_2} - r_1 e^{i\theta_1})^2 \dots (r_n e^{i\theta_n} - r_{n-1} e^{i\theta_{n-1}})^2}$$

$$(1 - r_1^2)^2 \dots (1 - r_n^2)^2 dr_1 d\theta_1 \dots dr_n d\theta_n$$

$$= \sum_{m_1,\dots,m_n=0}^{\infty} a_{m_1} \dots a_{m_n} I_{m_1,\dots,m_n},$$

where each integral in the definition of H is understood in the principal value sense. The interchange of the orders of summation and integration can be easily justified. For fixed  $r_1 \neq 0, r_1 \neq r_2, r_2 \neq r_3, \ldots, r_{n-1} \neq r_n$ , let

$$I_{m_1,\dots,m_n}(r_1,\dots,r_n) = \int_0^{2\pi} \dots \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{e^{-im_1\theta_1} \dots e^{-im_n\theta_n} d\theta_1 \dots d\theta_n}{r_1 e^{i\theta_1} (r_2 e^{i\theta_2} - r_1 e^{i\theta_1})^2 \dots (r_n e^{i\theta_n} - r_{n-1} e^{i\theta_{n-1}})^2}.$$

A change of variables  $\theta_k \mapsto \theta_k + \theta$ ,  $k = 1, \dots, n$  gives

$$I_{m_1,\dots,m_n}(r_1,\dots,r_n) = e^{-i(m_1+\dots+m_n+(2n-1))\theta} I_{m_1,\dots,m_n}(r_1,\dots,r_n).$$

Since all  $m_k \ge 0$  and 2n-1 > 0 for  $n \ge 1$ , we have  $e^{-i(m_1+...+m_n+(2n-1))\theta} \ne 1$  and hence

$$I_{m_1,\ldots,m_n}(r_1,\ldots,r_n)=0.$$

This proves that all  $I_{m_1,...,m_n}$  vanish. Therefore f(0) = 0.

Remark 2.6. Since  $P(f)_z = H(f)$ , it also follows from the proof that  $f_z(0) = 1$ .

Similar to (2.9), there are bijections

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{D}} \stackrel{\sim}{\longleftarrow} \mathcal{T}(1) \stackrel{\sim}{\longrightarrow} S^1 \backslash \mathrm{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1),$$

where we always identify the coset space  $S^1 \backslash \text{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$  with the stabilizer of 1 in  $\text{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$  (see, e.g., [Teo02]). For every  $\gamma \in S^1 \backslash \text{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$  there exist unique univalent functions f and g on  $\mathbb{D}$  and  $\mathbb{D}^*$ , satisfying the properties **CW1**, **CW4** and

**CW2'.** 
$$\gamma = (g^{-1} \circ f)|_{S^1};$$
  
**CW3'.**  $f(0) = 0, f'(0) = 1.$ 

Namely, the fibration  $\pi: \mathcal{T}(1) \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}(1)$  corresponds to the fiber space  $S^1 \backslash \mathrm{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$  over  $\mathrm{M\ddot{o}b}(S^1) \backslash \mathrm{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$  with the fibers isomorphic to  $S^1 \backslash \mathrm{M\ddot{o}b}(S^1) \simeq \mathbb{D}^*$ . The points in the fiber at  $[\mu] \in \mathcal{T}(1)$  correspond to the points  $\sigma_w \circ \gamma_\mu \in S^1 \backslash \mathrm{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$ ,  $w \in \mathbb{D}^*$  with<sup>5</sup>

$$\sigma_w(z) = \frac{1-w}{1-\bar{w}} \frac{1-z\bar{w}}{z-w} \in S^1 \backslash \text{M\"ob}(S^1).$$

Using the properties CW1 and CW2 for  $\gamma_{\mu}$ , we get the factorization CW2' for  $\gamma$  is

$$\gamma = \sigma_w \circ \gamma_u = (g^{-1} \circ f)|_{S^1},$$

where

$$f = \lambda_w \circ f^{\mu}, \quad g = \lambda_w \circ g_{\mu} \circ \sigma_w^{-1},$$

and

$$\lambda_w(z) = \frac{z}{c_w z + 1}, \quad c_w = -\frac{1}{g_\mu(w)} = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{f''(0)}{f'(0)},$$

so that  $(g_{\mu} \circ \sigma_w^{-1})(\infty) = g_{\mu}(w)$ , and the functions f and g satisfy the properties **CW3**' and **CW4** respectively. The mapping

$$\mathcal{T}(1) \ni ([\mu], g_{\mu}(w)) \mapsto \gamma = \sigma_w \circ \gamma_{\mu} \in S^1 \backslash \mathrm{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$$

establishes the isomorphism  $\mathcal{T}(1) \xrightarrow{\sim} S^1 \backslash \mathrm{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$ .

As before, we will also denote by  $\gamma$  a q.c. extension of  $\gamma \in S^1 \backslash \text{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$  which satisfies the reflection property (2.2) and admits the factorization  $\gamma = g^{-1} \circ f$ .

Remark 2.7. It is known [Kir87] that  $\operatorname{Diff}_+(S^1)$  is an infinite-dimensional Lie group and homogeneous spaces  $\operatorname{M\"ob}(S^1) \backslash \operatorname{Diff}_+(S^1)$  and  $S^1 \backslash \operatorname{Diff}_+(S^1)$  are infinite-dimensional complex Fréchet manifolds. In this case conformal welding readily follows from the Riemann mapping theorem without using q.c. mappings [Kir87]. Note that our convention for the conformal welding is different from that in [Kir87]: we are using right cosets instead of left cosets.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Here the subscript w does not stand for the derivative.

The bijection  $\mathcal{T}(1) \xrightarrow{\sim} S^1 \setminus \text{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$  endows the universal Teichmüller curve  $\mathcal{T}(1)$  with the group structure. Explicitly,

$$([\lambda], z) = ([\nu], \zeta) * ([\mu], w)^{-1},$$

where

(2.13) 
$$\lambda = \left(\frac{\nu - \mu}{1 - \bar{\mu}\nu} \frac{\gamma_z}{\bar{\gamma}_{\bar{z}}}\right) \circ \gamma^{-1}$$

and

(2.14) 
$$z = \left(w^{\lambda} \circ \gamma \circ (w^{\nu})^{-1}\right)(\zeta).$$

Here  $\gamma$  is a q.c. extension of  $\sigma_u \circ \gamma_\mu$ ,  $u = g_\mu^{-1}(w)$ , and the point  $([\lambda], z) \in \mathcal{T}(1)$  does not depend on the choice of the extension  $\gamma$ .

The mapping

$$T(1) \ni [\mu] \mapsto \gamma_{\mu} \in S^1 \backslash \mathrm{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1) \simeq \mathcal{T}(1)$$

is a complex–analytic embedding of T(1) into T(1) which is not a group homomorphism. On the other hand, the natural embedding

$$\text{M\"ob}(S^1)\backslash \text{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1) \simeq T(1) \ni [\mu] \mapsto w_\mu \in S^1\backslash \text{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1) \simeq T(1)$$

is a group homomorphism, though not a complex–analytic mapping. Considering  $w_{\mu}$  as an element of  $S^1 \backslash \mathrm{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$  via this embedding, it admits a conformal welding

$$(2.15) w_{\mu} = g_{\mu}^{-1} \circ f^{\mu}$$

that satisfies the properties CW1, CW2', CW3', CW4. In terms of the functions  $f^{\mu}$  and  $g_{\mu}$  satisfying properties CW1–CW4, we have

$$f^{\mu} = \lambda_{\mu} \circ f^{\mu}$$
 and  $g_{\mu} = \lambda_{\mu} \circ g_{\mu} \circ \alpha_{\mu}^{-1}$ ,

where  $\alpha_{\mu} \in \mathrm{PSU}(1,1)$  is such that  $w_{\mu} = \alpha_{\mu} \circ \gamma_{\mu}$ , and  $\lambda_{\mu} \in \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{C})$  is uniquely determined by the conditions  $f^{\mu}(0) = 0$ ,  $(f^{\mu})'(0) = 1$  and  $g_{\mu}(\infty) = \infty$ 

2.2.2. The horizontal and vertical subspaces. The right translations  $R_{([\mu],z)}$ :  $\mathcal{T}(1) \to \mathcal{T}(1)$  are biholomorphic automorphisms of  $\mathcal{T}(1)$  [Ber73]. The holomorphic tangent space to  $\mathcal{T}(1)$  at  $([\mu],z)$  is identified with the holomorphic tangent space at  $(0,\infty)$  — the origin of  $\mathcal{T}(1)$  by

$$T_{([\mu],z)}\mathcal{T}(1) = D_{(0,\infty)}R_{([\mu],z)}(T_{(0,\infty)}\mathcal{T}(1)) \simeq T_{(0,\infty)}\mathcal{T}(1).$$

The holomorphic tangent space at the origin naturally splits into the direct sum of horizontal and vertical subspaces,

$$T_{(0,\infty)}\mathcal{T}(1) = \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*) \oplus \mathbb{C}.$$

The identification of holomorphic tangent spaces provides a natural splitting of the tangent space at every point in  $\mathcal{T}(1)$  into the direct sum of horizontal and vertical subspaces. Lifts of horizontal and vertical tangent vectors at

the origin of  $\mathcal{T}(1)$  to every point in the fiber at the origin are explicitly described as follows.

**TV1.** Let  $\mu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*) \subset T_{(0,\infty)}\mathcal{T}(1)$  be a horizontal tangent vector to  $\mathcal{T}(1)$  at the origin. A curve  $([t\mu], z(t)), z(0) = z$ , which defines the horizontal lift of  $\mu$  to the point  $(0, z) \in \mathcal{T}(1)$  in the fiber  $\pi^{-1}(0)$  at the origin, for small t is given by the equation

$$([\mu(t)], \infty) * (0, z) = ([t\mu], z(t)).$$

Using (2.13), (2.14) and Lemma 2.5, we get

$$\mu(t) = (\sigma_z^{-1})^*(t\mu) = t\mu \circ \sigma_z^{-1} \frac{\overline{(\sigma_z^{-1})'}}{(\sigma_z^{-1})'}$$
 and  $z(t) = w^{t\mu}(z)$ .

Thus the horizontal lift of  $\mu \in T_{(0,\infty)}\mathcal{T}(1)$  to every point in the fiber  $(0,z) \in \pi^{-1}(0)$  is the vector field

$$\tau_{\mu} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon_{\mu}} \Big|_{0} + \dot{w}^{\mu}(z) \frac{\partial}{\partial z}, \quad \text{where} \quad \dot{w}^{\mu}(z) = \frac{dz}{dt}(0)$$

(cf. [Wol86]). At the point  $(0,z) \in \pi^{-1}(0)$  the vector field  $\tau_{\mu}$  is identified with the horizontal tangent vector  $(\sigma_z^{-1})^* \mu \in T_{(0,\infty)} \mathcal{T}(1)$ .

**TV2.** Let  $\mathbf{1} \in \mathbb{C} \subset T_{(0,\infty)}\mathcal{T}(1)$  be the vertical tangent vector to  $\mathcal{T}(1)$  at the origin, given by the value of the vector field  $\partial_z = \frac{\partial}{\partial z}$  at  $z = \infty$ . A curve defining the right translate of  $\mathbf{1}$  to the point  $(0,z) \in \mathcal{T}(1)$  in the fiber  $\pi^{-1}(0)$  at the origin for small t is given by the equation

$$(0,t^{-1})*(0,z) = (0,z(t)),$$

and it follows from (2.14) that

$$\frac{dz}{dt}(0) = \frac{(1-z)(1-|z|^2)}{(1-\bar{z})}.$$

Thus the right translate of  $\mathbf{1} \in T_{(0,\infty)}\mathcal{T}(1)$  to the point  $(0,z) \in \pi^{-1}(0)$  is the vector  $\frac{(1-z)(1-|z|^2)}{(1-\bar{z})}\partial_z$  at (0,z). As a result, the vector field  $\partial_z$  at every point  $(0,z) \in \pi^{-1}(0)$  is identified with the vertical tangent vector

$$\frac{(1-\bar{z})}{(1-z)(1-|z|^2)}\mathbf{1} \in T_{(0,\infty)}\mathcal{T}(1).$$

2.2.3. The isomorphisms of the tangent spaces. The real tangent vector space  $T_0^{\mathbb{R}} S^1 \setminus \text{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$  to  $S^1 \setminus \text{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$  at the origin is identified with the subspace of Zygmund class continuous real-valued vector fields  $\mathbf{u} = u(\theta) \frac{d}{d\theta}$  on  $S^1$  (see, e.g., [Teo02] for the definition), satisfying

$$\int_0^{2\pi} u(\theta)d\theta = 0.$$

In particular, the Fourier series  $u(\theta) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} c_n e^{in\theta}$  is absolutely convergent. For |z| = 1 set

$$\tilde{u}(z) = i \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}} c_n z^{n+1}.$$

The function  $\tilde{u}$  on  $S^1$  admits the decomposition

$$\tilde{u} = u_+ + u_-,$$

where  $u_+$  and  $u_-$  are boundary values of functions holomorphic on  $\mathbb{D}$  and  $\mathbb{D}^*$  respectively and  $u_+(0) = 0$ . Explicitly,

$$u_{+}(z) = i \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_n z^{n+1},$$
  
 $u_{-}(z) = i \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_{-n} z^{1-n}.$ 

It is a difficult problem to characterize the Zygmund class in terms of the Fourier series (cf. Remark 2.4). On the other side, in terms of the Fourier series the almost complex structure J on  $T_0^{\mathbb{R}} S^1 \backslash \text{Homeo}(S^1)$  is explicitly given by the classical conjugation operator

$$J \mathbf{u} = i \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}} \operatorname{sgn}(n) c_n e^{in\theta} \frac{d}{d\theta} \quad \text{for} \quad \mathbf{u} = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}} c_n e^{in\theta} \frac{d}{d\theta}.$$

Remark 2.8. Note that our definition of the operator J differs by a negative sign from the definition in [Kir87, NV90] for the homogeneous space  $S^1 \setminus \text{Diff}_+(S^1)$ .

The holomorphic and anti-holomorphic tangent vectors at the origin are

$$\mathbf{v} = \frac{\mathbf{u} - iJ\mathbf{u}}{2} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_n e^{in\theta} \frac{d}{d\theta}$$
 and  $\bar{\mathbf{v}} = \frac{\mathbf{u} + iJ\mathbf{u}}{2} = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{-1} c_n e^{in\theta} \frac{d}{d\theta}$ .

For every smooth function  $\mathcal{F}$  in a neighborhood of the origin in  $\mathcal{T}(1)$  and  $\mathbf{u} \in T_0^{\mathbb{R}} S^1 \backslash \mathrm{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$  set

$$\dot{\mathcal{F}}[\mathbf{u}] = \left. \frac{d}{dt} \right|_{t=0} \mathcal{F}(\gamma^t),$$

where  $\gamma_t$  is a curve in  $S^1 \backslash \text{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$  with the tangent vector u at the origin. Corresponding directional derivatives of  $\mathcal{F}$  at the origin in  $\mathcal{T}(1)$  in the holomorphic and anti-holomorphic directions v and  $\bar{\mathbf{v}}$  are defined by (2.16)

$$\partial \mathcal{F}(\mathbf{v}) = \frac{1}{2} \left( \dot{\mathcal{F}}[\mathbf{u}] - i \dot{\mathcal{F}}[J \, \mathbf{u}] \right), \quad \text{and} \quad \bar{\partial} \mathcal{F}(\bar{\mathbf{v}}) = \frac{1}{2} \left( \dot{\mathcal{F}}[\mathbf{u}] + i \dot{\mathcal{F}}[J \, \mathbf{u}] \right).$$

For  $s \in \mathbb{R}$  let

$$\mathcal{H}^{s}(S^{1}) = \left\{ \mathbf{u} = \sum_{n = -\infty}^{\infty} a_{n} e^{in\theta} \frac{d}{d\theta} : \sum_{n = -\infty}^{\infty} |n|^{2s} |a_{n}|^{2} < \infty \right\}$$

be the Sobolev space of complex-valued vector fields on  $S^1$ . The properties of the tangent spaces  $T_0S^1\backslash \mathrm{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$ ,  $T_0\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$  and  $T_0\,\mathrm{M\ddot{o}b}(S^1)\backslash \mathrm{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$ , which will be used in Section 5, can be succinctly summarized as follows (see [Teo02] for details).

**TS1.** Under the  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear isomorphism  $T_0^{\mathbb{R}} S^1 \backslash \operatorname{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1) \xrightarrow{\sim} T_0 \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$ 

$$u(\theta) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}} c_n e^{in\theta} \mapsto u_+(z) = i \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_n z^{n+1},$$

and  $\dot{f}|_{\mathbb{D}} = u_+, \, \dot{g}_0|_{\mathbb{D}^*} = -u_-, \text{ where}$ 

$$\dot{f} = \frac{d}{dt} f^t \Big|_{t=0}, \quad \dot{g} = \frac{d}{dt} g_t \Big|_{t=0},$$

 $\gamma_t = g_t^{-1} \circ f^t$  is a smooth curve in  $\mathcal{T}(1)$  tangent to u at the origin, and  $\dot{g}_0(z) = \dot{g}(z) - \dot{g}'(\infty)z$ .

**TS2.** Under the  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear isomorphism

$$T_0^{\mathbb{R}} \operatorname{M\"ob}(S^1) \backslash \operatorname{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1) \xrightarrow{\sim} T_0 T(1) \xrightarrow{D_0 \beta} A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$$

$$u(\theta) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{-1,0,1\}} c_n e^{in\theta} \mapsto \frac{d^3 u_+}{dz^3}(z) = i \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} (n^3 - n) c_n z^{n-2}.$$

**TS3.** If

$$\phi(z) = \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} (n^3 - n)a_n z^{n-2} \in A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$$

then

$$\sum_{n=2}^{\infty} n^{2s} |a_n|^2 < \infty \quad \text{for all} \quad s < 1.$$

**TS4.**  $T_0^{\mathbb{R}} S^1 \backslash \operatorname{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1) \subset \mathcal{H}^s(S^1)$  for all s < 1.

2.3. Teichmüller spaces and Teichmüller curves of Fuchsian groups. Let  $\Gamma$  be a Fuchsian group, i.e., a discrete subgroup of PSU(1,1). Let

$$L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*, \Gamma) = \left\{ \mu \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*) : \mu \circ \gamma \frac{\overline{\gamma'}}{\gamma'} = \mu \quad \text{for all} \quad \gamma \in \Gamma \right\}$$

be the space of bounded Beltrami differentials for  $\Gamma$  and

$$L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*,\Gamma)_1 = L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1 \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*,\Gamma)$$

be the open unit ball in  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*, \Gamma)$ . The Teichmüller space of the Fuchsian group  $\Gamma$  is defined by

$$T(\Gamma) = L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*, \Gamma)_1 / \sim$$

where the equivalence relation is the same as the one used to define the universal Teichmüller space T(1) in Section 2.1.1. The Teichmüller space  $T(\Gamma)$  has a natural structure of a complex Banach manifold such that the

tangent space at the origin of  $T(\Gamma)$  is identified with the Banach space  $\Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*,\Gamma)$  of bounded harmonic Beltrami differentials for  $\Gamma$ ,

$$\Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*,\Gamma) = \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*,\Gamma).$$

For every Fuchsian group  $\Gamma$  the canonical embedding  $T(\Gamma) \hookrightarrow T(1)$  is holomorphic, so that the universal Teichmüller space T(1) contains all the Teichmüller spaces  $T(\Gamma)$  as complex submanifolds. The universal Teichmüller space T(1) is the Teichmüller space for the trivial Fuchsian group  $\Gamma = \{1\}$ .

The inverse image of  $T(\Gamma)$  under the projection map  $\mathcal{T}(1) \to T(\Gamma)$  is called the Bers fiber space  $\mathcal{BF}(\Gamma)$ . The quasi-Fuchsian group  $\Gamma^{\mu} = w^{\mu} \circ \Gamma \circ (w^{\mu})^{-1}$ acts on the fiber  $w^{\mu}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  at the point  $[\mu] \in T(\Gamma)$ . The Teichmüller curve  $\mathcal{T}(\Gamma)$  of the Fuchsian group  $\Gamma$  is a fiber space over  $T(\Gamma)$  with the fiber  $\Gamma^{\mu} \setminus w^{\mu}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  at the point  $[\mu] \in T(\Gamma)$ .

The domain  $\mathbb{D}^*$  is a model of the hyperbolic plane  $\mathbb{H}^2$ . The hyperbolic (Poincaré) metric on  $\mathbb{D}^*$  — a Hermitian metric of constant Gaussian curvature -1, is

(2.17) 
$$ds^{2} = \rho(z)|dz|^{2} = \frac{4|dz|^{2}}{(1-|z|^{2})^{2}},$$

and the hyperbolic area 2-form is  $\rho(z)\,d^2z$ . The Fuchsian group  $\Gamma$  is of finite type (cofinite) if the corresponding Riemann surface — the orbifold  $\Gamma\backslash\mathbb{D}^*$ , has a finite hyperbolic area. In this case, the Teichmüller space  $T(\Gamma)$  is a finite-dimensional complex manifold with a natural Hermitian metric, called the Weil-Petersson metric. It is defined as Petersson's inner product on tangent spaces  $T_{[\mu]}T(\Gamma)\simeq\Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*,\Gamma_\mu)$ , where  $[\mu]\in T(\Gamma)$  and  $\Gamma_\mu=w_\mu\circ\Gamma\circ w_\mu^{-1}$ . For  $\mu,\nu\in T_0T(\Gamma)$ ,

$$\langle \mu, \nu \rangle_{WP} = \iint_{\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{D}^*} \mu \bar{\nu} \rho(z) d^2 z.$$

The Weil-Petersson metric on  $T(\Gamma)$  is a Kähler metric.

The following result, due to Patterson [Pat75], will be used in Section 8. Here we present it in a convenient form as in [Teo02].

**Lemma 2.9.** Let  $\Gamma$  be a cofinite Fuchsian group and  $h \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z)$  be  $\Gamma$ -automorphic, i.e.,  $h \circ \gamma = h$  for all  $\gamma \in \Gamma$ . Then

$$\iint\limits_{\Gamma\backslash\mathbb{D}^*}h(z)\rho(z)d^2z=\lim_{r\to 1^+}\frac{A(\Gamma\backslash\mathbb{D}^*)}{A(\mathbb{D}^*_r)}\iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}^*_r}h(z)\rho(z)d^2z,$$

where  $\mathbb{D}_r^* = \{z \in \mathbb{D}^* : |z| \geq r\}$ ,  $A(\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{D}^*)$  is the hyperbolic area of the Riemann surface  $\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{D}^*$ , and  $A(\mathbb{D}_r^*)$  is the hyperbolic area of  $\mathbb{D}_r^*$ .

#### 2.4. Resolvent kernel. Let

(2.18) 
$$\Delta_0 = -\rho(z)^{-1} \partial_z \partial_{\bar{z}}$$

be the Laplace-Beltrami operator of the hyperbolic metric on  $\mathbb{D}$ , acting on functions. It is well-known (see, e.g., [Hej76, Lan85]) that the differential expression (2.18) defines a unique positive, self-adjoint operator on the Hilbert space  $L^2(\mathbb{D}, \rho(z)d^2z)$ , which we still denote by  $\Delta_0$ . Let

$$G = \frac{1}{2} \left( \Delta_0 + \frac{1}{2} \right)^{-1}$$

be (a one-half of) the resolvent of  $\Delta_0$  at the regular point  $\lambda = -\frac{1}{2}$ .

Remark 2.10. Note that the Laplace-Beltrami operator in [Hej76, Lan85] is  $4\Delta_0$ , so that the regular point  $\lambda = -\frac{1}{2}$  for the operator  $\Delta_0$  corresponds to  $\lambda = -2$  for the Laplace-Beltrami operator in [Hej76, Lan85].

The resolvent G is a bounded integral operator on  $L^2(\mathbb{D}, \rho(z)d^2z)$  with kernel

(2.19) 
$$G(z,w) = \frac{2u+1}{2\pi} \log \frac{u+1}{u} - \frac{1}{\pi},$$

where u(z, w) is a point-pair invariant on  $\mathbb{D}$ ,

$$u(z,w) = \frac{|z-w|^2}{(1-|z|^2)(1-|w|^2)}.$$

The resolvent kernel G(z, w) has the following properties (see, e.g., [Hej76] and [Lan85, Sect. XIV.3]).

**RK1.** G is symmetric, G(z, w) = G(w, z), and is a point-pair invariant,

$$G(\gamma z, \gamma w) = G(z, w)$$
 for all  $\gamma \in PSU(1, 1)$ .

**RK2.** G(z, w) is positive for all  $z, w \in \mathbb{D}$ .

**RK3.** If  $g \in BC^{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  — the space of smooth bounded functions on  $\mathbb{D}$ , then the integral

$$f(z) = \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}} G(z, w) g(w) \rho(w) d^2w$$

is absolutely convergent for all  $z\in\mathbb{D}$  and  $f=G(g)\in BC^\infty(\mathbb{D})$  satisfies the differential equation

$$2\left(\Delta_0 + \frac{1}{2}\right)(f) = g.$$

Conversely, if  $f \in BC^{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  and  $g = 2\left(\Delta_0 + \frac{1}{2}\right)(f) \in BC^{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$ , then f = G(g).

**RK4.** For all  $z \in \mathbb{D}$ ,

$$\iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}}G(z,w)\rho(w)d^2w=1.$$

The last property immediately follows from RK3 since

$$2\left(\Delta_0 + \frac{1}{2}\right)(1) = 1,$$

where 1 is the constant function equal to 1 on  $\mathbb{D}$ .

The resolvent kernel G of the Laplace-Beltrami operator on  $\mathbb{D}^*$  is given by the same formula (2.19) and satisfies the properties  $\mathbf{RK1} - \mathbf{RK4}$ .

When  $\Gamma$  is a cofinite Fuchsian group, we denote by  $G_{\Gamma}$  the one-half of the resolvent of the Laplace-Beltrami operator on the Riemann surface  $\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{D}$  at  $\lambda = -\frac{1}{2}$ . It is a bounded integral operator on  $L^2(\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{D}, \rho(z)d^2z)$  with kernel

(2.20) 
$$G_{\Gamma}(z,w) = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} G(z,\gamma w), \ z,w \in \mathbb{D},$$

and it enjoys all the properties **RK1-RK4**. The corresponding resolvent kernel on  $\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{D}^*$  is given by the same formula with  $z, w \in \mathbb{D}^*$ .

Remark 2.11. The operator  $G_{\Gamma}$  plays a prominent role in the Weil-Petersson geometry of the finite-dimensional Teichmüller space  $T(\Gamma)$  [Wol86].

2.5. Variational formulas. Here we collect necessary variational formulas. To simplify the computations in the following sections, we will use different realizations of the hyperbolic plane  $\mathbb{H}^2$ , given either by the unit disk  $\mathbb{D}$  or its exterior  $\mathbb{D}^*$ , or by the upper half-plane  $\mathbb{U}$ .

Let l and m be integers and  $\Gamma$  a Fuchsian group (we will be primarily interested in the cases when  $\Gamma = \{1\}$ , i.e., is a trivial group, and when  $\Gamma$  is a cofinite Fuchsian group). Using the model  $\mathbb{H}^2 \simeq \mathbb{D}$ , tensor of type (l,m) for  $\Gamma$  is a  $C^{\infty}$ -function  $\omega$  on  $\mathbb{D}$  satisfying

$$\omega(\gamma z)\gamma'(z)^l \overline{\gamma'(z)}^m = \gamma(z)$$
 for all  $\gamma \in \Gamma$ .

Let  $\omega^{\varepsilon}$  be a smooth family of tensors of type (l,m) for  $\Gamma_{\varepsilon\mu} = w_{\varepsilon\mu} \circ \Gamma \circ w_{\varepsilon\mu}^{-1}$ , where  $\mu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D},\Gamma)$  and  $\varepsilon \in \mathbb{C}$  is sufficiently small. Set

$$(w_{\varepsilon\mu})^*(\omega^{\varepsilon}) = \omega^{\varepsilon} \circ w_{\varepsilon\mu}((w_{\varepsilon\mu})_z)^l((\overline{w}_{\varepsilon\mu})_{\overline{z}})^m,$$

which is a tensor of type (l,m) for  $\Gamma$  — a pull-back of the tensor  $\omega^{\varepsilon}$  by  $w_{\varepsilon\mu}$ . Lie derivatives of the family  $\omega^{\varepsilon}$  along vector fields  $\partial/\partial\varepsilon_{\mu}$  and  $\partial/\partial\bar{\varepsilon}_{\mu}$  are defined in the standard way,

$$L_{\mu}\omega = \frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon}\Big|_{\varepsilon=0} (w_{\varepsilon\mu})^*(\omega^{\varepsilon}) \quad \text{and} \quad L_{\bar{\mu}}\omega = \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{\varepsilon}}\Big|_{\varepsilon=0} (w_{\varepsilon\mu})^*(\omega^{\varepsilon}).$$

When  $\omega$  is a function on  $T(\Gamma)$  — a tensor of type (0,0), the Lie derivatives reduce to directional derivatives

$$L_{\mu}\omega = \partial\omega(\mu)$$
 and  $L_{\bar{\mu}}\omega = \bar{\partial}\omega(\bar{\mu})$ 

— the evaluation of the 1-forms  $\partial \omega$  and  $\bar{\partial} \omega$  on the holomorphic and antiholomorphic tangent vectors  $\mu$  and  $\bar{\mu}$  to  $T(\Gamma)$  at the origin. Corresponding real vector fields  $\frac{\partial}{\partial t_{\mu}}$  are defined by

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t_{\mu}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon_{\mu}} + \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{\varepsilon}_{\mu}},$$

so that

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon_{\mu}} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{\partial}{\partial t_{\mu}} - i \frac{\partial}{\partial t_{i\mu}} \right) \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{\varepsilon}_{\mu}} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{\partial}{\partial t_{\mu}} + i \frac{\partial}{\partial t_{i\mu}} \right).$$

For the model  $\mathbb{H}^2 \simeq \mathbb{U}$  we have

(2.21) 
$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon} w_{\varepsilon\mu}(z) = -\frac{1}{\pi} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} R\left(w_{\varepsilon\mu}(z), w_{\varepsilon\mu}(u)\right) \mu(u) (w_{\varepsilon\mu})_{u}^{2}(u) d^{2}u,$$
$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon} w_{\varepsilon\mu}(z) = -\frac{1}{\pi} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} R\left(w_{\varepsilon\mu}(z), \overline{w_{\varepsilon\mu}(u)}\right) \overline{\mu(u) (w_{\varepsilon\mu})_{u}^{2}(u)} d^{2}u,$$

where the q.c. mapping  $w_{\varepsilon\mu}$  is normalized by fixing  $0,1,\infty$  and the kernel R is

$$R(z,u) = \frac{z(z-1)}{(u-z)u(u-1)} = \frac{1}{u-z} + \frac{z-1}{u} - \frac{z}{u-1}.$$

Setting

$$F[\mu] = \frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon} \Big|_{\varepsilon=0} w_{\varepsilon\mu} \text{ and } \Phi[\mu] = \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{\varepsilon}} \Big|_{\varepsilon=0} w_{\varepsilon\mu},$$

we get from (2.21)

(2.22) 
$$F[\mu](z) = -\frac{1}{\pi} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} R(z, u) \mu(u) d^2 u,$$
$$\Phi[\mu](z) = -\frac{1}{\pi} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} R(z, \bar{u}) \overline{\mu(u)} d^2 u.$$

The function  $\Phi[\mu](z)$  is holomorphic on  $\mathbb{U}$  and satisfies

$$\Phi[\mu]_{zzz}(z) = -\frac{6}{\pi} \iint_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\overline{\mu(u)}}{(\bar{u} - z)^4} d^2u.$$

As it follows from (2.7), the projection  $P: L^{\infty}(\mathbb{U}) \to \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{U})$  is given by

(2.23) 
$$(P\mu)(z) = -\frac{3(z-\bar{z})^2}{\pi} \iint_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\mu(u)}{(u-\bar{z})^4} d^2u.$$

Equivalently, for  $\mu(z)=\frac{(z-\bar{z})^2}{2}\overline{\phi(z)}$  with  $\phi\in A_\infty(\mathbb{U}), \ \Phi[\mu]_{zzz}=\phi$  on  $\mathbb{U}$ . The function  $F[\mu]$  satisfies  $F[\mu]_{\bar{z}}=\mu$  on  $\mathbb{U}$ , and is holomorphic on the lower half-plane  $\overline{\mathbb{U}}$ .

**Lemma 2.12.** For  $\mu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{U})$  and  $z \in \mathbb{U}$ ,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \iint_{\mathbb{U}(z,\varepsilon)} \frac{\mu(u)}{(u-z)^4} d^2 u = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \iint_{\mathbb{U}(z,\varepsilon)} \frac{\mu(u)}{(u-z)^5} d^2 u = 0,$$

where  $\mathbb{U}(z,\varepsilon) = \mathbb{U} \setminus \{u \in \mathbb{U} : |u-z| < \varepsilon\}.$ 

*Proof.* The proof of the first formula essentially follows the classical Ahlfors' proof in [Ahl87, Lemma 2 in Sect. VI D] by using  $\mu(u) = \frac{(u-\bar{u})^2}{2} \overline{\phi(u)}$  with  $\phi \in A_{\infty}(\mathbb{U})$ , the identity

$$\frac{(u-\bar{u})^2}{(u-z)^4} = \frac{\partial}{\partial u} \left( -\frac{1}{u-z} + \frac{\bar{u}-z}{(u-z)^2} - \frac{1}{3} \frac{(\bar{u}-z)^2}{(u-z)^3} \right),$$

and Stokes' theorem. The second formula is proved similarly.

Another classical result of Ahlfors [Ahl61] is the following.

**Lemma 2.13.** For  $\mu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{U})$  and  $z \in \mathbb{U}$ ,

$$F[\mu](z) = \frac{(z-\bar{z})^2}{2} \overline{\Phi''(z)} + (z-\bar{z}) \overline{\Phi'(z)} + \overline{\Phi(z)},$$

where  $\Phi(z) = \Phi[\mu](z)$ .

Remark 2.14. It follows from Lemma 2.13 that  $F[\mu]_{zzz} = 0$  for  $\mu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{U})$ , in agreement with Lemma 2.12.

Corollary 2.15. For  $\mu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{U})$  and  $z \in \mathbb{U}$ ,

$$\iint\limits_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\mu(u)}{(u-z)(u-\bar{z})^3} d^2u = 0.$$

*Proof.* Using (2.22), we have

$$F[\mu](z) - \frac{(z - \bar{z})^2}{2} \overline{\Phi''(z)} - (z - \bar{z}) \overline{\Phi'(z)} - \overline{\Phi(z)}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{\pi} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \mu(u) \frac{(z - \bar{z})^3}{(u - z)(u - \bar{z})^3} d^2w.$$

For  $\mu \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{U})_1$  set

$$K_{\mu}(u,v) = \frac{(w_{\mu})_{u}(u)(w_{\mu})_{v}(v)}{(w_{\mu}(u) - w_{\mu}(v))^{2}}$$
 and  $K_{\mu}(u,\bar{v}) = \frac{(w_{\mu})_{u}(u)\overline{(w_{\mu})_{v}(v)}}{(w_{\mu}(u) - \overline{w_{\mu}(v)})^{2}}$ .

We have from (2.21) the following formulas [Ahl62]

(2.24) 
$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon} K_{\varepsilon\mu}(z, u) = -\frac{1}{\pi} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \mu(v) K_{\varepsilon\mu}(z, v) K_{\varepsilon\mu}(v, u) d^{2}v,$$
$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{\varepsilon}} K_{\varepsilon\mu}(z, u) = -\frac{1}{\pi} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \overline{\mu(v)} K_{\varepsilon\mu}(z, \bar{v}) K_{\varepsilon\mu}(\bar{v}, u) d^{2}v,$$

and

(2.25) 
$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon} K_{\varepsilon\mu}(z, \bar{u}) = -\frac{1}{\pi} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \mu(v) K_{\varepsilon\mu}(z, v) K_{\varepsilon\mu}(v, \bar{u}) d^2 v,$$
$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{\varepsilon}} K_{\varepsilon\mu}(z, \bar{u}) = -\frac{1}{\pi} \iint_{\mathbb{T}} \overline{\mu(v)} K_{\varepsilon\mu}(z, \bar{v}) K_{\varepsilon\mu}(\bar{v}, \bar{u}) d^2 v,$$

where the integrals are understood in the principal value sense.

For the model  $\mathbb{H}^2 \simeq \mathbb{D}$  the q.c. mapping  $w_{\mu}$  is normalized by fixing -1, -i, 1. The kernel R is given by

$$R(z,u) = \frac{(z+1)(z+i)(z-1)}{(u-z)(u+1)(u+i)(u-1)},$$

and formulas similar to (2.22) hold for F and  $\Phi$ . In particular, let f be a q.c. mapping such that  $f|_{\mathbb{D}} \in \mathcal{D}$ , and let  $\mu$  be a Beltrami differential supported on the quasi-disk  $\Omega^* = f(\mathbb{D}^*)$ . Let  $v_{t\mu}$  be the solution on  $\mathbb{C}$  of the Beltrami equation

$$(v_{t\mu})_{\bar{z}} = t\mu(v_{t\mu})_z,$$

satisfying  $v_{t\mu}(0) = 0, v'_{t\mu}(0) = 1$  and  $v''_{t\mu}(0) = 0$ . Then

$$\dot{v} = \left. \frac{d}{dt} \right|_{t=0} v_{t\mu}$$

is a holomorphic function on  $\Omega = f(\mathbb{D})$  and

(2.26) 
$$\dot{v}_{zzz}(z) = -\frac{6}{\pi} \iint_{\Omega^*} \frac{\mu(u)}{(u-z)^4} d^2u.$$

3. 
$$T(1)$$
 as a Hilbert manifold

In this section we are going to endow T(1) with a structure of a complex manifold modeled on the separable Hilbert space

$$A_2(\mathbb{D}) = \left\{ \phi \text{ holomorphic on } \mathbb{D} : \|\phi\|_2^2 = \iint_{\mathbb{D}} |\phi|^2 \rho^{-1}(z) d^2 z < \infty \right\}$$

of holomorphic functions on  $\mathbb{D}$ . In the corresponding topology, the universal Teichmüller space T(1) is a disjoint union of uncountably many components on which the right translations act transitively.

#### 3.1. Hilbert space structure on tangent spaces. Let

$$A_2(\mathbb{D}^*) = \left\{ \phi \text{ holomorphic on } \mathbb{D}^* : \|\phi\|_2^2 = \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} |\phi|^2 \rho^{-1}(z) d^2 z < \infty \right\}$$

be the Hilbert space of holomorphic functions on  $\mathbb{D}^*$ .

**Lemma 3.1.** The vector spaces  $A_2(\mathbb{D})$  and  $A_2(\mathbb{D}^*)$  are subspaces of  $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  and  $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  respectively. The natural inclusion maps  $A_2(\mathbb{D}) \hookrightarrow A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  and  $A_2(\mathbb{D}^*) \hookrightarrow A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  are bounded linear mappings of Banach spaces.

*Proof.* It is sufficient to consider only the spaces of holomorphic functions on  $\mathbb{D}$ . For every  $\phi \in A_2(\mathbb{D})$ , let  $\phi = \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} (n^3 - n) a_n z^{n-2}$  be the power series expansion. Then

$$\|\phi\|_2^2 = \iint_{\mathbb{T}} |\phi|^2 \rho^{-1} d^2 z = \frac{\pi}{2} \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} (n^3 - n) |a_n|^2,$$

and by Cauchy-Schwarz inequality,

$$|\phi(z)| = \left| \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} (n^3 - n) a_n z^{n-2} \right|$$

$$\leq \left( \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} (n^3 - n) |a_n|^2 \right)^{1/2} \left( \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} (n^3 - n) |z|^{2n-4} \right)^{1/2}$$

for every  $z \in \mathbb{D}$ . Since

$$\sum_{n=2}^{\infty} (n^3 - n)|z|^{2n-4} = \frac{6}{(1 - |z|^2)^4},$$

we have

$$\|\phi\|_{\infty} = \sup_{z \in \mathbb{D}} \left| (1 - |z|^2)^2 \phi(z) \right| \le \sqrt{\frac{12}{\pi}} \|\phi\|_2.$$

Let

$$H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}) = \left\{ \mu = \rho^{-1} \bar{\phi}, \ \phi \text{ holomorphic on } \mathbb{D}: \|\mu\|_2^2 = \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}} |\mu|^2 \rho(z) d^2z < \infty \right\}$$

and

$$H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*) = \left\{ \mu = \rho^{-1}\bar{\phi}, \ \phi \text{ holomorphic on } \mathbb{D}^* : \|\mu\|_2^2 = \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} |\mu|^2 \rho(z) d^2z < \infty \right\}$$

be the Hilbert spaces of harmonic Beltrami differentials on  $\mathbb{D}$  and  $\mathbb{D}^*$  respectively. It follows from Lemma 3.1 that the natural inclusion maps  $H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}) \hookrightarrow \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D})$  and  $H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*) \hookrightarrow \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  are bounded and under the linear mapping  $D_0\beta$ ,  $H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*) \xrightarrow{\sim} A_2(\mathbb{D})$ .

Remark 3.2. It follows from the proof of Lemma 3.1 that every  $\mu \in H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D})$  (respectively in  $H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$ ) satisfies

$$\lim_{|z| \to 1} \mu(z) = 0.$$

Indeed, for given  $\varepsilon > 0$  let N be such that

$$\sum_{n=N}^{\infty} (n^3 - n)|a_n|^2 < \varepsilon.$$

Then

$$|\mu(z)| \le \frac{(1-|z|^2)^2}{4} \left| \sum_{n=2}^{N-1} (n^3 - n) a_n z^{n-2} \right|$$

$$+ \frac{(1-|z|^2)^2}{4} \left( \sum_{n=N}^{\infty} (n^3 - n) |a_n|^2 \right)^{1/2} \left( \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} (n^3 - n) |z|^{2n-4} \right)^{1/2}$$

$$\le \frac{(1-|z|^2)^2}{4} \left| \sum_{n=2}^{N-1} (n^3 - n) a_n z^{n-2} \right| + \frac{\sqrt{6\varepsilon}}{4},$$

so that

$$\limsup_{|z| \to 1} |\mu(z)| \le \frac{\sqrt{6\varepsilon}}{4}.$$

Since  $\varepsilon$  is arbitrary this proves the assertion.

For every  $[\mu] \in T(1)$  let  $D_0 R_{[\mu]} (H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*))$  be the subspace of the tangent space  $T_{[\mu]} T(1) = D_0 R_{[\mu]} (\Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*))$  with a Hilbert space structure isomorphic to  $H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$ . Let  $\mathfrak{D}_T$  be the distribution on T(1), defined by the assignment

$$T(1) \ni [\mu] \mapsto D_0 R_{[\mu]} \left( H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*) \right) \subset T_{[\mu]} T(1).$$

Similarly, let  $\mathfrak{D}_A$  be the distribution on  $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$ , defined by

$$A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D}) \ni \phi \mapsto A_2(\mathbb{D}) \subset T_{\phi}A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D}) \simeq A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D}).$$

The next statement asserts that under the Bers embedding  $\beta: T(1) \to A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  the distribution  $\mathfrak{D}_T$  is isomorphic to the restriction of the distribution  $\mathfrak{D}_A$  to  $\beta(T(1))$ .

**Theorem 3.3.** For every  $[\mu] \in T(1)$  the linear mapping

$$D_0\left(\beta\circ R_{[\mu]}\right):H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)\to A_2(\mathbb{D})$$

is a topological isomorphism.

Proof. Let  $\nu \in H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$ . Set  $w_t = w_{t\nu*\mu} = w_{t\nu} \circ w_{\mu}$  and let  $w_t = g_t^{-1} \circ f^t$  be the conformal welding associated with the q.c. mapping  $w_t$  by (2.15). Let  $v_t = f^t \circ f^{-1}$ , where  $w_{\mu} = g^{-1} \circ f$  is the factorization for  $w_{\mu}$ , and set  $\Omega = f(\mathbb{D}) = g(\mathbb{D})$ ,  $\Omega^* = f(\mathbb{D}^*) = g(\mathbb{D}^*)$ . Since

$$\beta([t\nu * \mu]) = \mathcal{S}(f^t) = \mathcal{S}(v_t) \circ f f_z^2 + \mathcal{S}(f),$$

we have

$$D_0\left(\beta \circ R_{[\mu]}\right)(\nu) = \frac{d}{dt}\Big|_{t=0} \mathcal{S}(\mathbf{f}^t) = \dot{v}_{zzz} \circ \mathbf{f} \, \mathbf{f}_z^2, \quad \text{where} \quad \dot{v} = \frac{d}{dt}\Big|_{t=0} v_t.$$

The q.c. mapping  $v_t$  is holomorphic on  $\Omega$  and satisfies  $v_t \circ g = g_t \circ w_{t\nu}$ . Since  $g_t$  and g are holomorphic on  $\mathbb{D}^*$ , the Beltrami differential of  $v_t$  is given by

$$t\tilde{\nu}(z) = \begin{cases} 0, & z \in \Omega, \\ t(\nu \circ \mathbf{g}^{-1})(z) \frac{\overline{\mathbf{g}_z^{-1}(z)}}{\overline{\mathbf{g}_z^{-1}(z)}}, & z \in \Omega^*. \end{cases}$$

It follows from (2.26) that

(3.1)

$$D_0\left(\beta \circ R_{[\mu]}\right)(\nu)\left(f^{-1}(z)\right)\left(f_z^{-1}(z)\right)^2 = \dot{v}_{zzz}(z) = -\frac{6}{\pi} \iint_{\Omega_*^*} \frac{\tilde{\nu}(u)}{(u-z)^4} d^2u.$$

Let  $\rho_1(z) = (\rho \circ f^{-1})(z)|f_z^{-1}(z)|^2$  and  $\rho_2(z) = (\rho \circ g^{-1})(z)|g_z^{-1}(z)|^2$  be the hyperbolic metric densities on the domains  $\Omega$  and  $\Omega^*$  respectively. Classical inequalities (see e.g., [Leh87, Nag88])

$$\frac{1}{4} \le \eta_i^2(z)\rho_i(z) \le 4, \qquad i = 1, 2,$$

where  $\eta_1(z)$  and  $\eta_2(z)$  stand, respectively, for the distances of  $z \in \Omega$  and  $z \in \Omega^*$  to the quasi-circle  $f(S^1)$ , yield the following estimates (cf. [Nag88, Sect. 3.4.5])

$$\iint_{\Omega} \frac{d^2 z}{|u - z|^4} \le \iint_{|z - u| > \eta_2(u)} \frac{d^2 z}{|u - z|^4} = \frac{\pi}{\eta_2(u)^2} \le 4\pi \rho_2(u), \quad u \in \Omega^*,$$

and

$$\iint\limits_{\Omega^*} \frac{d^2 u}{|u-z|^4} \le 4\pi \rho_1(z), \quad z \in \Omega.$$

From here it follows

$$\begin{split} &\|D_0\left(\beta\circ R_{[\mu]}\right)(\nu)\|_2^2 = \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}} \left|D_0\left(\beta\circ R_{[\mu]}\right)(\nu)\right|^2 \rho^{-1} d^2z = \iint\limits_{\Omega} \left|\dot{v}_{zzz}\right|^2 \rho_1^{-1} d^2z \\ \leq &\frac{6^2}{\pi^2} \iint\limits_{\Omega} \rho_1(z)^{-1} \iint\limits_{\Omega^*} \frac{d^2v}{|v-z|^4} \iint\limits_{\Omega^*} \frac{|\tilde{\nu}(u)|^2 d^2u}{|u-z|^4} \ d^2z \\ \leq &\frac{6^2 \cdot 4}{\pi} \iint\limits_{\Omega} \iint\limits_{\Omega^*} \frac{|\tilde{\nu}(u)|^2 d^2u}{|u-z|^4} \ d^2z \leq 6^2 \cdot 4^2 \iint\limits_{\Omega^*} |\tilde{\nu}(u)|^2 \rho_2(u) d^2u \\ = &6^2 \cdot 4^2 \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}^*} |\nu|^2 \rho(u) d^2u = 576 \|\nu\|_2^2. \end{split}$$

To prove that the mapping  $D_0\left(\beta \circ R_{[\mu]}\right)$  is onto, we adapt to our case Bers' arguments, as presented in [Nag88, Sect. 3.5]. For  $\phi \in A_2(\mathbb{D})$  set  $q = (\phi \circ f^{-1})(f_z^{-1})^2$ , and choose  $\mu$  in the equivalence class of  $[\mu] \in T(1)$  to be the conformally natural extension of  $(g^{-1} \circ f)|_{S^1}$ , constructed by Douady and Earle [DE86]. Let h be the corresponding quasiconformal reflection [EN88]

on  $\mathbb{C}$  which fixes the quasi-circle  $f(S^1)$ . According to the Bers reproducing formula [Ber66],

(3.2) 
$$q(z) = -\frac{3}{\pi} \iint_{\Omega_*} \frac{q(h(u))(u - h(u))^2 h_{\bar{u}}(u)}{(u - z)^4} d^2 u.$$

Analogous to  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  and  $\Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$ , consider the Banach spaces  $L^{\infty}(\Omega^*)$  and

$$\Omega^{-1,1}(\Omega^*) = \left\{ \mu \in L^{\infty}(\Omega^*) : \mu = \rho_2^{-1} \bar{q}, \ q \ \text{ is holomorphic on } \ \Omega^* \right\}.$$

Denote by  $\tilde{P}$  the corresponding projection  $\tilde{P}: L^{\infty}(\Omega^*) \to \Omega^{-1,1}(\Omega^*)$ . The mapping

$$\mu \mapsto (g^*)^{-1}(\mu) = \mu \circ g^{-1} \frac{\overline{(g^{-1})'}}{(g^{-1})'}$$

establishes the isomorphisms  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*) \simeq L^{\infty}(\Omega^*)$  and  $\Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*) \simeq \Omega^{-1,1}(\Omega^*)$ , and  $\tilde{P} = (g^*)^{-1} \circ P \circ g^*$ . Define  $\nu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  by

$$(g^*)^{-1}(\nu)(z) = \tilde{P}\left(\frac{1}{2}(q(h(z))(z-h(z))^2h_{\bar{z}}(z)\right) \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\Omega^*).$$

The comparison between (3.2) and (3.1) shows that

$$D_0\left(\beta \circ R_{[\mu]}\right)(\nu) = \phi.$$

To prove that  $\nu \in H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  we use the Earle-Nag [EN88] estimate,

(3.3) 
$$\frac{1}{C} \le |z - h(z)|^4 \rho_1(h(z)) \rho_2(z) \le C, \quad z \in \Omega^*,$$

where the constant C depends only on  $\|\mu\|_{\infty}$ . Since the operator  $\tilde{P}$  gives the orthogonal projection of  $L^2(\Omega^*, \rho_2(z) d^2 z)$  onto  $H^{-1,1}(\Omega^*)$ , we get by the Earle-Nag inequality

$$\begin{split} \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}^*} |\nu|^2 \rho(z) d^2z &= \iint\limits_{\Omega^*} |(\mathbf{g}^*)^{-1}(\nu)(z)|^2 \rho_2(z) d^2z \\ &\leq \frac{1}{4} \iint\limits_{\Omega^*} |q(h(z))(z-h(z))^2 h_{\bar{z}}(z)|^2 \rho_2(z) d^2z \\ &\leq \frac{C}{4} \iint\limits_{\Omega^*} |q(h(z))h_{\bar{z}}(z)|^2 \rho_1^{-1}(h(z)) d^2z. \end{split}$$

Since h is sense reversing, for

$$\kappa = \frac{h_z^{-1}}{h_{\bar{z}}^{-1}}$$

we have  $\|\kappa\|_{\infty} < 1$ . Now

$$\iint_{\Omega^*} |q(h(z))h_{\bar{z}}(z)|^2 \rho_1(h(z))^{-1} d^2 z$$

$$= \iint_{\Omega} |q(z)|^2 \rho_1(z)^{-1} |(h_{\bar{z}} \circ h^{-1})(z)h_{\bar{z}}^{-1}(z)|^2 (1 - |\kappa(z)|^2) d^2 z$$

$$= \iint_{\Omega} \frac{|q(z)|^2}{1 - |\kappa(z)|^2} \rho_1(z)^{-1} d^2 z$$

$$\leq C_1 \iint_{\Omega} |q(z)|^2 \rho_1(z)^{-1} d^2 z = C_1 ||\phi||_2^2 < \infty,$$

so that  $\|\nu\|_2 \leq C_2 \|\phi\|_2$ . This also proves that the inverse map to  $D_0\left(\beta \circ R_{[\mu]}\right)$  is bounded, so that  $D_0\left(\beta \circ R_{[\mu]}\right)$  is a topological isomorphism.

Remark 3.4. It follows from the proof of the first part of Theorem 3.3 that  $D_0\left(\beta \circ R_{[\mu]}\right) = D_0\left(\beta \circ \Phi \circ R_{\mu}\right)$  extends to be a bounded linear operator on  $L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z)$  and the estimate

$$||D_0 (\beta \circ \Phi \circ R_\mu) (\nu)||_2 = ||D_\mu (\beta \circ \Phi) (D_0 R_\mu(\nu))||_2 \le 24 ||\nu||_2$$

holds for all  $\nu \in L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z)$  and  $\mu \in L^\infty(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$ .

3.2. The  $L^2$ -estimates. The lemmas below are needed for the rigorous definition of a complex Hilbert manifold structure on T(1).

**Lemma 3.5.** For every  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists  $0 < \delta < 1$  such that for all  $\mu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  with  $\|\mu\|_{\infty} < \delta$ ,

$$\left| \frac{|(w_{\mu})_{z}(z)|^{2}}{(1 - |w_{\mu}(z)|^{2})^{2}} - \frac{1}{(1 - |z|^{2})^{2}} \right| < \frac{\varepsilon}{(1 - |z|^{2})^{2}}$$

for all  $z \in \mathbb{D} \cup \mathbb{D}^*$ . The same inequality holds for  $w_{\mu^{-1}} = w_{\mu}^{-1}$ .

*Proof.* Using the isomorphism  $\Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*) \xrightarrow{\sim} \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D})$  given by reflection (2.1) and property (2.2), it is sufficient to prove the estimate for  $z \in \mathbb{D}$ . Since  $\gamma_{\mu} = \alpha \circ w_{\mu}$ , where  $\alpha \in \mathrm{PSU}(1,1)$ , the estimate holds for  $w_{\mu}$  if and only if it holds for  $\gamma_{\mu}$ . By Lemma 2.5  $\gamma_{\mu}$  fixes 0 and  $\infty$ , and by the result of Ahlfors and Bers in [AB60] (see also the remark of Bers in [Ber73]) the functional

$$\mathcal{L}^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1 \ni \mu \mapsto (\gamma_{\mu})_z(0) \in \mathbb{C}$$

is real-analytic at  $\mu = 0$ . In particular, for every  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists  $0 < \delta < 1$  such that for all  $\mu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  with  $\|\mu\|_{\infty} < \delta$ ,

$$\left| |(\gamma_{\mu})_z(0)|^2 - 1 \right| < \varepsilon.$$

For  $z \in \mathbb{D}$ , let  $\tilde{\mu} = \mu \circ \sigma_z$ , where  $\sigma_z(w) = \frac{w+z}{1+\overline{z}w}$ . Then  $\gamma_{\tilde{\mu}} = \tilde{\sigma}_z \circ \gamma_{\mu} \circ \sigma_z$  for some  $\tilde{\sigma}_z \in \mathrm{PSU}(1,1)$ . Since  $\tilde{\mu} \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$ , it follows from Lemma 2.5 that  $\gamma_{\tilde{\mu}}(0) = 0$ . Therefore from  $\tilde{\sigma}_z(\gamma_{\mu}(z)) = 0$ , one obtains

$$\frac{|(\gamma_{\mu})_z(z)|^2}{(1-|\gamma_{\mu}(z)|^2)^2}(1-|z|^2)^2 = |(\gamma_{\tilde{\mu}})_z(0)|^2.$$

Since  $\|\tilde{\mu}\|_{\infty} = \|\mu\|_{\infty}$ , the assertion follows. On the other hand, if  $\mu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$ , then  $\mu^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  and  $\|\mu^{-1}\|_{\infty} = \|\mu\|_{\infty}$ . Hence the assertion also holds for  $w_{\mu^{-1}}$ .

Corollary 3.6. Let  $\mu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$ ,  $\|\mu\|_{\infty} < \delta$ , where  $\delta$  corresponds to  $\varepsilon = 1$  in the previous lemma. Then for every  $\lambda \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  the linear mapping  $D_{\lambda}R_{\mu}$  extends to an invertible bounded linear operator on the Hilbert space  $L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z)$ . Moreover,

$$\|D_{\lambda}R_{\mu}(\nu)\|_{2} \leq \frac{\sqrt{2}}{(1-\|\mu\|_{\infty})^{2}}\|\nu\|_{2},$$

for all  $\nu \in L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z)$  and  $\lambda \in L^\infty(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$ . The same inequality holds for  $D_{\lambda}R_{\mu^{-1}}$ .

Proof. Since

$$D_{\lambda}R_{\mu}(\nu) = \frac{\left(1 - |\mu|^2\right)\nu \circ w_{\mu}}{\left(1 + \overline{\mu}\lambda \circ w_{\mu}\frac{\overline{(w_{\mu})_z}}{\overline{(w_{\mu})_z}}\right)^2} \frac{\overline{(w_{\mu})_z}}{\overline{(w_{\mu})_z}},$$

and

$$\left\| \frac{1 - |\mu|^2}{\left(1 + \overline{\mu}\lambda \circ w_{\mu} \frac{\overline{(w_{\mu})_z}}{(w_{\mu})_z}\right)^2} \right\|_{\infty} \le \frac{1}{(1 - \|\mu\|_{\infty})^2}$$

for all  $\lambda \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$ , we have by using Lemma 3.5 and  $\|\mu\|_{\infty} = \|\mu^{-1}\|_{\infty}$ ,

$$\iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} \left| D_{\lambda} R_{\mu}(\nu) \right|^2 \rho(z) d^2 z \le (1 - \|\mu\|_{\infty})^{-4} \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} \left| \nu \circ w_{\mu} \frac{\overline{(w_{\mu})_z}}{(w_{\mu})_z} \right|^2 \rho(z) d^2 z$$

$$= (1 - \|\mu\|_{\infty})^{-4} \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} |\nu|^2 \frac{4|(w_{\mu^{-1}})_z|^2}{(1 - |w_{\mu^{-1}}|^2)^2} (1 - |\mu^{-1}|^2) d^2 z$$

$$\le 2(1 - \|\mu\|_{\infty})^{-4} \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} |\nu|^2 \rho(z) d^2 z = 2(1 - \|\mu\|_{\infty})^{-4} \|\nu\|_2^2.$$

Replacing everywhere  $\mu$  by  $\mu^{-1}$  we get the same estimate for  $D_{\lambda}R_{\mu^{-1}}$ .

Denote by  $\mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  the subgroup of  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  generated by  $\mu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$ ,  $\|\mu\|_{\infty} < \delta$ , where  $\delta$  is as in Corollary 3.6.

**Lemma 3.7.** For every  $\mu \in \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  there exists C > 0 such that

$$||R_{\mu}(\lambda_1) - R_{\mu}(\lambda_2)||_2 < C||\lambda_1 - \lambda_2||_2$$

for all  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  satisfying  $\lambda_1 - \lambda_2 \in L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z)$ .

*Proof.* Suppose first that  $\|\mu\|_{\infty} < \delta$ . Set  $\lambda(t) = \lambda_1 + t\nu$ , where  $\nu = \lambda_2 - \lambda_1$ , so that  $\lambda(t) \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$ ,  $0 \le t \le 1$ . By fundamental theorem of calculus,

$$R_{\mu}(\lambda_1) - R_{\mu}(\lambda_2) = \int_0^1 \frac{d}{dt} R_{\mu}(\lambda(t)) dt$$
$$= \int_0^1 D_{\lambda(t)} R_{\mu}(\nu) dt.$$

Using Corollary 3.6,

$$||R_{\mu}(\lambda_{1}) - R_{\mu}(\lambda_{2})||_{2}^{2} = \iint_{\mathbb{D}^{*}} \left| \int_{0}^{1} D_{\lambda(t)} R_{\mu}(\nu)(z) \right|^{2} \rho(z) d^{2}z$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{1} \left( \iint_{\mathbb{D}^{*}} \left| D_{\lambda(t)} R_{\mu}(\nu)(z) \right|^{2} \rho(z) d^{2}z \right) dt$$

$$\leq C^{2} ||\nu||_{2}^{2} = C^{2} ||\lambda_{1} - \lambda_{2}||_{2}^{2}.$$

The same estimate also holds for  $R_{\mu}^{-1}$ .

Since every  $\mu \in \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  can be written as  $\mu_n^{\varepsilon_n} * \cdots * \mu_1^{\varepsilon_1}$ , where  $\mu_i \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$ ,  $\|\mu_i\|_{\infty} < \delta$ , and  $\varepsilon_i = \pm 1$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, n$ , we have

$$R_{\mu} = R_{\mu_1}^{\varepsilon_1} \circ \dots \circ R_{\mu_n}^{\varepsilon_n},$$

and the assertion of the lemma follows.

Remark 3.8. Applying the same argument, we get from Corollary 3.6 that for every  $\mu \in \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  there exists C > 0, depending only on  $\|\mu\|_{\infty}$  such that

$$\left\| D_{\lambda} R_{\mu}(\nu) \right\|_{2} \le C \|\nu\|_{2},$$

for all  $\nu \in L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z)$  and  $\lambda \in L^\infty(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$ .

**Lemma 3.9.** For every  $\mu \in \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  there exists C > 0 such that

$$\|(\beta \circ \Phi)(\lambda * \mu) - (\beta \circ \Phi)(\mu)\|_2 \le C\|\lambda\|_2$$

for all  $\lambda \in L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z) \cap L^\infty(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$ .

*Proof.* Set  $\phi(t) = (\beta \circ \Phi)(t\lambda * \mu)$ . By fundamental theorem of calculus,

$$(\beta \circ \Phi)(\lambda * \mu) - (\beta \circ \Phi)(\mu) = \int_0^1 \frac{d\phi}{dt}(t)dt,$$

where

$$\frac{d\phi}{dt}(t) = D_{t\lambda} \left(\beta \circ \Phi \circ R_{\mu}\right) \left(\lambda\right) = \left(D_{t\lambda * \mu}(\beta \circ \Phi) \circ D_{t\lambda} R_{\mu}\right) \left(\lambda\right)$$

by chain rule. Since  $(D_0R_{\mu})^{-1} = D_{\mu}R_{\mu^{-1}}$ , it follows from Remarks 3.4 and 3.8 that

$$||D_{t\lambda*\mu}(\beta \circ \Phi)(\nu)||_2 \le 24||D_{t\lambda*\mu}R_{(t\lambda*\mu)^{-1}}(\nu)||_2 \le C_1||\nu||_2.$$

Using Remark 3.8 again, we get

$$\left\| \frac{d\phi}{dt}(t) \right\|_2 = \| \left( D_{t\lambda*\mu}(\beta \circ \Phi) \circ D_{t\lambda} R_{\mu} \right) (\lambda) \|_2 \le C_2 \|\lambda\|_2, \quad 0 \le t \le 1.$$

Therefore,

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| (\beta \circ \Phi)(\lambda * \mu) - (\beta \circ \Phi)(\mu) \right\|_{2}^{2} &= \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \left| \int_{0}^{1} \frac{d\phi}{dt}(t, z) dt \right|^{2} \rho(z)^{-1} d^{2}z \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{1} \left( \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \left| \frac{d\phi}{dt}(t, z) \right|^{2} \rho(z)^{-1} d^{2}z \right) dt \\ &\leq C_{2}^{2} \left\| \lambda \right\|_{2}^{2}, \end{aligned}$$

which concludes the proof.

3.3. The Hilbert manifold structure of T(1). For every  $\mu \in \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  let  $V_{\mu} \subset U_{\mu} \subset T(1)$  be the image under the map  $h_{\mu}^{-1} = \Phi \circ R_{\mu} \circ \Lambda$  of the open ball of radius  $\sqrt{\pi/3}$  about the origin in  $A_2(\mathbb{D})$ , which by Lemma 3.1 is contained in the ball of radius 2 in  $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$ . Here  $(U_{\mu}, h_{\mu})$  is the coordinate chart  $U_{\mu}$  of the complex-analytic atlas for T(1) as a complex Banach manifold (see Section 2.1.4). Let

$$\tilde{h}_{\mu} = h_{\mu}\big|_{V_{\mu}} : V_{\mu} \to A_2(\mathbb{D}).$$

The main result of this subsection is the following.

**Theorem 3.10.** For every  $\mu, \nu \in \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  the sets  $\tilde{h}_{\mu}(V_{\mu} \cap V_{\nu})$  and  $\tilde{h}_{\nu}(V_{\mu} \cap V_{\nu})$  are open in  $A_2(\mathbb{D})$  and the map

$$\tilde{h}_{\mu\nu} = \tilde{h}_{\mu} \circ \tilde{h}_{\nu}^{-1} : \tilde{h}_{\nu}(V_{\mu} \cap V_{\nu}) \longrightarrow \tilde{h}_{\mu}(V_{\mu} \cap V_{\nu}) \subset A_{2}(\mathbb{D})$$

is a biholomorphic function on the Hilbert space  $A_2(\mathbb{D})$ .

*Proof.* First we prove that the sets  $\tilde{h}_{\mu}(V_{\mu} \cap V_{\nu})$  and  $\tilde{h}_{\nu}(V_{\mu} \cap V_{\nu})$  are open in  $A_2(\mathbb{D})$ . Since  $V_{\mu} \cap V_{\nu} \neq \emptyset$  (otherwise there is nothing to prove), there exist  $\phi_1 \in \tilde{h}_{\mu}(V_{\mu} \cap V_{\nu})$  and  $\phi_2 \in \tilde{h}_{\nu}(V_{\mu} \cap V_{\nu})$ ,  $\|\phi_1\|_2, \|\phi_2\|_2 < \sqrt{\pi/3}$ , such that  $\tilde{h}_{\mu}^{-1}(\phi_1) = \tilde{h}_{\nu}^{-1}(\phi_2)$ , i.e.,

$$(\Phi \circ R_{\mu} \circ \Lambda)(\phi_1) = (\Phi \circ R_{\nu} \circ \Lambda)(\phi_2).$$

Setting  $\lambda_1 = \Lambda(\phi_1), \lambda_2 = \Lambda(\phi_2)$  and  $\kappa = \nu * \mu^{-1}$ , we get

$$\Phi(\lambda_1) = \Phi(\lambda_2 * \kappa).$$

The sets  $h_{\mu}(U_{\mu} \cap U_{\nu})$  and  $h_{\nu}(U_{\mu} \cap U_{\nu})$  are open in  $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$ , so that there exists  $\delta_1 > 0$  such that  $h_{\mu}(U_{\mu} \cap U_{\nu})$  contains a ball of radius  $\delta_1$  about  $\phi_1$  in  $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$ . The mapping  $h_{\mu\nu}: h_{\nu}(U_{\mu} \cap U_{\nu}) \to h_{\mu}(U_{\mu} \cap U_{\nu}) \subset A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  is a

continuous function in the Banach space  $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$ , so that there exists  $\delta_2 > 0$  such that the inverse image by  $h_{\mu\nu}$  of the ball of radius  $\delta_1$  about  $\phi_1$  in  $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  contains the ball of radius  $\delta_2$  about  $\phi_2$  in  $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$ . According to Lemma 3.1, the latter ball contains any ball of radius  $\delta_3 < \sqrt{\pi/12} \, \delta_2$  about  $\phi_2$  in  $A_2(\mathbb{D})$ . Now for every  $\varphi_2 \in A_2(\mathbb{D})$  satisfying  $\|\varphi_2 - \varphi_2\|_2 < \delta_3$  set

$$\varphi_1 = h_{\mu\nu}(\varphi_2) = (\beta \circ \Phi \circ R_{\kappa} \circ \Lambda)(\varphi_2).$$

We claim that  $\delta_3 > 0$  can be chosen such that  $\varphi_1 \in A_2(\mathbb{D})$  and  $\|\varphi_1\|_2 < \sqrt{\pi/3}$ , which implies that  $\tilde{h}_{\nu}(V_{\mu} \cap V_{\nu})$  contains the ball of radius  $\delta_3$  about  $\phi_2$  in  $A_2(\mathbb{D})$ . Indeed, set  $\lambda = \Lambda(\varphi_2)$ , so that  $\varphi_1 = (\beta \circ \Phi)(\lambda * \kappa)$ . Since  $\lambda - \lambda_2 \in L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z)$ , we have by Lemmas 3.9 and 3.7,

$$\|\varphi_1 - \phi_1\|_2 = \|(\beta \circ \Phi)(\lambda * \kappa) - (\beta \circ \Phi)(\lambda_2 * \kappa)\|_2$$

$$\leq C\|\lambda * \lambda_2^{-1}\|_2 \leq C^2\|\lambda - \lambda_2\|_2$$

$$= 2C^2\|\varphi_2 - \phi_2\|_2 < 2C^2\delta_3,$$

where the constant C > 0 (chosen to be the same for both Lemmas 3.7 and 3.9) depends only on  $\lambda_2$  and  $\kappa$ . Choosing  $\delta_3$  small enough we have  $\|\varphi_1\|_2 < \sqrt{\pi/3}$ .

The same argument applied to the map  $\tilde{h}_{\nu\mu} = \tilde{h}_{\mu\nu}^{-1}$  proves that  $\tilde{h}_{\mu}(V_{\mu} \cap V_{\nu})$  is open in  $A_2(\mathbb{D})$ .

It remains to prove that the map  $h_{\mu\nu}$  is a holomorphic function in the Hilbert space  $A_2(\mathbb{D})$ . It is bounded, so according to [Bou67] it is sufficient to prove that for every  $\varphi \in \tilde{h}_{\nu}(V_{\mu} \cap V_{\nu})$  and every  $\eta \in A_2(\mathbb{D})$  the mapping  $\mathbb{C} \ni t \mapsto \phi(t) = \tilde{h}_{\mu\nu}(\varphi + t\eta) \in A_2(\mathbb{D})$  is a holomorphic function in some neighborhood of 0 in  $\mathbb{C}$ . For this purpose we use the standard argument based on the fact that the map  $h_{\mu\nu}$  is already a holomorphic function in the Banach space  $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  and the mapping  $\mathbb{C} \ni t \mapsto \phi(t) \in A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  is a holomorphic function in some neighborhood of 0 in  $\mathbb{C}$ . Thus there exists  $\delta > 0$  such that for every  $|t_0| < \delta$ ,

$$\|\phi(t) - \phi(t_0) - (t - t_0) \frac{d\phi}{dt}(t_0)\|_{\infty} = o(|t - t_0|) \text{ as } t \to t_0.$$

Moreover,  $\delta$  can be chosen such that  $\varphi + t\eta \in \tilde{h}_{\nu}(V_{\mu} \cap V_{\nu})$  for  $|t| < \delta$ . Then for every  $z \in \mathbb{D}$  the complex-valued function  $\phi(t)(z)$  is holomorphic on  $|t| < \delta$  and

$$\phi(t,z) - \phi(t_0,z) - (t-t_0)\frac{d\phi}{dt}(t_0,z)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{|w-t_0|=\delta_1} \phi(w,z) \left(\frac{1}{w-t} - \frac{1}{w-t_0} - \frac{t-t_0}{(w-t_0)^2}\right) dw$$

$$= \frac{(t-t_0)^2}{2\pi i} \oint_{|w-t_0|=\delta_1} \frac{\phi(w,z)}{(w-t_0)^2(w-t)} dw,$$

where  $\delta_1 > 0$  is such that the disk of radius  $\delta_1$  about  $t_0$  is inside the disk of radius  $\delta$  about the origin, and t satisfies  $|t-t_0| < \delta_1$ . Since  $\phi(t) \in \tilde{h}_{\mu}(V_{\mu} \cap V_{\nu})$ ,

 $\|\phi(t)\|_2^2 < \pi/3$  for all  $|t| < \delta$ , and we have

$$\begin{split} & \left\| \frac{\phi(t) - \phi(t_0)}{t - t_0} - \frac{d\phi}{dt}(t_0) \right\|_2^2 \\ & \leq \frac{|t - t_0|^2}{4\pi^2} \oint_{|w| = \delta_1} \frac{|dw|}{|w|^4 |w - (t - t_0)|^2} \oint_{|w| = \delta_1} \left\| \phi(w + t_0) \right\|_2^2 |dw| \\ & = O(|t - t_0|^2) \quad \text{as} \quad t \to t_0. \end{split}$$

According to [Bou67], Theorem 3.10 justifies the following definition.

**Definition 3.11.** The covering

$$T(1) = \bigcup_{\mu \in \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1} V_{\mu}$$

with the coordinate maps  $\tilde{h}_{\mu}: V_{\mu} \longrightarrow A_2(\mathbb{D})$  and the transition maps

$$\tilde{h}_{\mu\nu} = \tilde{h}_{\mu} \circ \tilde{h}_{\nu}^{-1} : \tilde{h}_{\nu}(V_{\mu} \cap V_{\nu}) \longrightarrow \tilde{h}_{\mu}(V_{\mu} \cap V_{\nu})$$

is a complex-analytic atlas which endows T(1) with the structure of a complex Hilbert manifold modeled on the Hilbert space  $A_2(\mathbb{D})$ .

Corollary 3.12. The right translations are biholomorphic mappings on the Hilbert manifold T(1).

*Proof.* Representing a point in T(1) by  $\mu \in \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  we have  $R_{[\mu]}(V_\lambda) = V_{\lambda*\mu}$ , so that  $\tilde{h}_{\lambda*\mu} \circ R_{[\mu]} \circ \tilde{h}_{\lambda}^{-1}$  is the identity mapping on  $\tilde{h}_{\lambda}(V_{\lambda}) \subset A_2(\mathbb{D})$ .

We will continue to use the name Bers coordinates for the complex coordinates  $(V_{\mu}, \tilde{h}_{\mu})$  on the Hilbert manifold T(1). As in Section 2.1.4, the vector field  $\frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon_{\nu}}$  corresponding to  $\nu \in H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  at a point  $[\mu] \in V_0$  in terms of the Bers coordinates on  $V_{\mu}$  has the same form (2.5), i.e.,

$$\left. \frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon_{\nu}} \right|_{[\mu]} = P\left( \left( \frac{\nu}{1 - |\mu|^2} \frac{(w_{\mu})_z}{(\overline{w}_{\mu})_{\overline{z}}} \right) \circ w_{\mu}^{-1} \right),$$

where  $P:L^2(\mathbb{D}^*,\rho(z)d^2z)\to H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  is the orthogonal projector given by (2.7).

3.4. Integral manifolds of the distribution  $\mathfrak{D}_T$ . Finally, we introduce a Hilbert manifold structure on the Banach space  $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  by defining the coordinate chart at every  $\phi \in A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  to be  $\phi + A_2(\mathbb{D})$ . By Lemma 3.1 the Hilbert manifold topology on  $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  is stronger than the Banach space topology. The Hilbert manifold  $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  is not connected. Rather  $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  is the union of uncountably many components  $\phi + A_2(\mathbb{D})$  with  $\phi \in A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})/A_2(\mathbb{D})$ , which are integral manifolds of the distribution  $\mathfrak{D}_A$ .

**Theorem 3.13.** The Bers embedding  $\beta: T(1) \to \beta(T(1)) \subset A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  is a biholomorphic mapping of Hilbert manifolds.

*Proof.* To prove that the Bers embedding is holomorphic it is sufficient to show that for every  $\mu \in \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  the image of the ball of radius  $\sqrt{\pi/3}$  about 0 in  $A_2(\mathbb{D})$  by the mapping  $\beta \circ \tilde{h}_{\mu}^{-1} = \beta \circ \Phi \circ R_{\mu} \circ \Lambda$  is inside a translate by  $(\beta \circ \Phi)(\mu)$  of some ball about 0 in  $A_2(\mathbb{D})$ . This immediately follows from Lemma 3.9,

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left( \beta \circ \tilde{h}_{\mu}^{-1} \right) (\varphi) - \left( \beta \circ \Phi \right) (\mu) \right\|_{2} &= \| \left( \beta \circ \Phi \right) (\lambda * \mu) - \left( \beta \circ \Phi \right) (\mu) \|_{2} \\ &< C \| \lambda \|_{2}, \end{split}$$

where  $\lambda = \Lambda(\varphi) \in L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  and the constant C > 0 depends only on  $\|\mu\|_{\infty}$ . Since the Bers embedding is a holomorphic mapping of Banach manifolds, the standard argument used in the proof of Theorem 3.10 works for this case, so that the mapping  $\beta \circ \tilde{h}_{\mu}^{-1} - (\beta \circ \Phi)(\mu)$  is a holomorphic function on the Hilbert space  $A_2(\mathbb{D})$ .

Finally, the image  $\beta(T(1))$  is open in the Hilbert manifold  $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  since it is open in a weaker Banach manifold topology. Using Theorem 3.3 and the inverse function theorem for Hilbert manifolds [Lan95] we see that the Bers embedding is biholomorphic.

Theorem 3.13 allows us to conclude that the distribution  $\mathfrak{D}_T$  on T(1) is equivalent to the restriction of the distribution  $\mathfrak{D}_A$  on  $\beta(T(1)) \subset A_\infty(\mathbb{D})$ , and therefore is integrable. Its integral manifolds are inverse images by the Bers embedding  $\beta$  of the integral manifolds of the distribution  $\mathfrak{D}_A$  on  $\beta(T(1))$ , i.e., of the components  $(\phi + A_2(\mathbb{D})) \cap \beta(T(1))$ . For every  $[\mu] \in T(1)$  denote by  $T_{[\mu]}(1)$  the component of the Hilbert manifold T(1) containing  $[\mu]$ . It follows from Theorems 3.3 and 3.13 that the Hilbert manifold  $T_{[\mu]}(1)$  is the integral manifold of the distribution  $\mathfrak{D}_T$  passing through  $[\mu] \in T(1)$ . The right translations act transitively on the set of components, i.e.  $R_{[\nu]}(T_{[\mu]}(1)) = T_{[\mu*\nu]}(1)$  for all  $[\mu], [\nu] \in T(1)$ .

We will denote the component of  $0 \in T(1)$  by  $T_0(1)$ . We will prove in Appendix A that  $T_0(1)$  is the inverse image of  $\beta(T(1)) \cap A_2(\mathbb{D})$  under the Bers embedding. Moreover, we will show that  $T_0(1)$  is a topological group which is the closure of  $\text{M\"ob}(S^1) \setminus \text{Diff}_+(S^1)$  in T(1) in the Hilbert manifold topology.

### 4. Velling-Kirillov and Weil-Petersson metrics

4.1. Velling-Kirillov metric on the universal Teichmüller curve. The Velling-Kirillov metric is a right-invariant Hermitian metric on  $\mathcal{T}(1)$ , defined at the origin of  $\mathcal{T}(1)$  by

(4.1) 
$$\|\mathbf{v}\|_{VK}^2 = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n|c_n|^2,$$

where

$$\mathbf{v} = \frac{\mathbf{u} - iJ\mathbf{u}}{2}$$
 and  $\mathbf{u} = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}} c_n e^{in\theta} \frac{d}{d\theta} \in T_0^{\mathbb{R}} S^1 \setminus \mathrm{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1).$ 

The convergence of the series is guaranteed by the property **TS4** (with s = 1/2) in Section 2.2.3. The Velling-Kirillov metric is a smooth right-invariant Kähler metric on the complex Banach manifold  $\mathcal{T}(1)$ . Its symplectic form  $\omega_{VK}$  at the origin of  $\mathcal{T}(1)$  is given by

$$\omega_{VK}(\mathbf{v}, \bar{\mathbf{v}}) = \frac{i}{2} \|\mathbf{v}\|_{VK}^2,$$

In the following section we prove that the Velling-Kirillov metric is real-analytic on  $\mathcal{T}(1)$  by presenting its real-analytic Kähler potential.

Remark 4.1. For the homogeneous space  $S^1 \setminus \text{Diff}_+(S^1)$  the metric was introduced in this form by A.A. Kirillov [Kir87] and it has been studied by A.A. Kirillov and D. Yuriev. In particular, in [KY87] it was shown to be Kähler. In [Vel], J. Velling has introduced a Hermitian metric for the space  $\mathcal{T}(1)$  using arguments from geometric function theory. In [Teo02], Kirillov's definition was extended to  $\mathcal{T}(1)$  and it was shown that the resulting metric coincides with the metric introduced by Velling. The Velling-Kirillov metric is the unique right-invariant Kähler metric on the universal Teichmüller curve  $\mathcal{T}(1)$  [Teo02].

4.2. Weil-Petersson metric on the universal Teichmüller space. In this section we consider T(1) as a Hilbert manifold. The Weil-Petersson metric on T(1) is a Hermitian metric defined by the Hilbert space inner product on tangent spaces, which are identified with the Hilbert space  $H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  by right translations (see Section 3.3). Thus the Weil-Petersson metric is a right-invariant metric on T(1) defined at the origin of T(1) by

(4.2) 
$$\langle \mu, \nu \rangle_{WP} = \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} \mu \bar{\nu} \rho(z) d^2 z, \quad \mu, \nu \in H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*) = T_0 T(1).$$

To every  $\mu \in H^{-1.1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  there corresponds a vector field  $\frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon_{\mu}}$  over  $V_0$ , given by (2.5)-(2.7). We set for every  $\kappa \in V_0$ ,

$$(4.3) \quad g_{\mu\bar{\nu}}(\kappa) = \left\langle \left. \frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon_{\mu}} \right|_{\kappa}, \left. \frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon_{\nu}} \right|_{\kappa} \right\rangle_{WP} = \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} P(R(\mu, \kappa)) \overline{P(R(\nu, \kappa))} \rho(z) d^2 z.$$

This formula explicitly defines the Weil-Petersson metric on the coordinate chart  $V_0$ . The Weil-Petersson metric extends to other charts  $V_{\mu}$  by right translations.

The following statement is an easy consequence of Lemma 3.5.

**Lemma 4.2.** The Weil-Petersson metric is continuous on T(1).

*Proof.* As it follows from Corollary 3.12, it is sufficient to prove that for every  $\mu \in H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  the function  $g_{\mu\bar{\mu}}$  is continuous on  $V_0$  at 0. Since the embedding  $V_0 \hookrightarrow U_0$  is continuous by Lemma 3.1, it is sufficient to prove that the function  $g_{\mu\bar{\mu}}$  is defined on a neighborhood of 0 in  $U_0$  and is continuous at 0.

Since the projector P is norm-decreasing,

$$g_{\mu\bar{\mu}}(\kappa) = \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} P(R(\mu,\kappa)) \overline{P(R(\mu,\kappa))} \rho(z) d^2 z$$

$$\leq \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} R(\mu,\kappa) \overline{R(\mu,\kappa)} \rho(z) d^2 z$$

$$= 4 \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} \frac{|\mu|^2}{1 - |\kappa|^2} \frac{|(w_{\kappa})_z|^2}{(1 - |w_{\kappa}|^2)^2} d^2 z.$$

According to Lemma 3.5, for every  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists  $0 < \delta < 1$  such that for all  $\kappa \in U_0$  satisfying  $\|\kappa\|_{\infty} < \delta$  we have

$$\left| g_{\mu\bar{\mu}}(\kappa) - g_{\mu\bar{\mu}}(0) \right| \leq 4 \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} \frac{|\mu|^2}{1 - |\kappa|^2} \left| \frac{|(w_{\kappa})_z|^2}{(1 - |w_{\kappa}|^2)^2} - \frac{1}{(1 - |z|^2)^2} \right| \\
+ \frac{|\mu|^2}{(1 - |z|^2)^2} \left( \frac{1}{1 - |\kappa|^2} - 1 \right) d^2 z \\
\leq \frac{\varepsilon + \delta^2}{1 - \delta^2} \iint_{\mathbb{D}} |\mu|^2 \rho d^2 z.$$

Thus, for  $\delta$  small enough  $\left|g_{\mu\bar{\mu}}(\kappa) - g_{\mu\bar{\mu}}(0)\right| \leq 2\varepsilon \|\mu\|_2^2$ .

Remark 4.3. Using the basic properties of the q.c. mappings, it can be shown that the Weil-Petersson metric is real-analytic on T(1). In fact, it is sufficient to prove that for every  $\mu, \nu \in H^{-1.1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  the mapping  $V_0 \ni \kappa \mapsto g_{\mu\bar{\nu}}(\kappa) \in \mathbb{C}$  is real-analytic on  $V_0$ . Since this result will not be used later, we omit the proof. Explicit curvature computations in Section 7 will show that the Weil-Petersson metric on T(1) is twice differentiable.

We will prove in Section 7 that the Weil-Petersson metric is Kähler. Its symplectic form  $\omega_{WP}$  is a right-invariant (1,1) form on the Hilbert manifold T(1). At the origin of T(1),

$$\omega_{WP}(\mu,\bar{\nu}) = \frac{i}{2} \langle \mu, \nu \rangle_{WP}, \quad \mu, \nu \in H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*).$$

Remark 4.4. The Weil-Petersson metric on the distribution  $\mathfrak{D}_T$  (without defining the Hilbert manifold structure) was introduced by S. Nag and A. Verjovsky [NV90] as a direct generalization of the Weil-Petersson metric on the finite-dimensional Teichmüller spaces. It was proved in [NV90] that the embedding  $\text{M\"ob}(S^1) \setminus \text{Diff}_+(S^1) \hookrightarrow T(1)$  is holomorphic and the pull-back of the Weil-Petersson metric on the distribution  $\mathfrak{D}_T$  coincides, up to a constant,

with the right invariant Kähler metric introduced by Kirillov [Kir87] by the orbit method. At the tangent space of the origin the latter metric is defined by (cf. (4.1))

$$\|\mathbf{v}\|^2 = \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} (n^3 - n)|c_n|^2,$$

where

$$\mathbf{v} = \frac{\mathbf{u} - iJ\mathbf{u}}{2} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbf{u} = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0, \pm 1\}} c_n e^{in\theta} \frac{d}{d\theta} \in T_0^{\mathbb{R}} \, \mathsf{M\"ob}(S^1) \setminus \, \mathsf{Diff}_+(S^1).$$

5. CHARACTERISTIC FORMS OF THE UNIVERSAL TEICHMÜLLER CURVE Let  $V = T_v \mathcal{T}(1)$  be the vertical tangent bundle of the fibration

$$\pi: \mathcal{T}(1) \to T(1).$$

It is a holomorphic line bundle over the complex Banach manifold  $\mathcal{T}(1)$ , the fiber over a point  $([\mu], z) \in \mathcal{T}(1)$  is the holomorphic tangent bundle to the quasi-disk  $w^{\mu}(\mathbb{D}^*)$ . The hyperbolic metric on  $w^{\mu}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  defines a Hermitian metric on V, and we denote by  $c_1(V)$  the first Chern form of V corresponding to this metric.

The Hilbert manifold structure on T(1) naturally induces a Hilbert manifold structure on T(1), such that the projection  $\pi: T(1) \to T(1)$  is a holomorphic mapping of Hilbert manifolds. Similar to the Hilbert manifold T(1), the Hilbert manifold T(1) is also a disjoint union of uncountably many components. We will prove in Appendix A that the component containing the identity  $T_0(1)$  is a topological group.

The vertical tangent bundle is also a holomorphic line bundle over the Hilbert manifold  $\mathcal{T}(1)$ . We will continue to denote corresponding line bundle by V, and by  $c_1(V)$  — the first Chern form corresponding to the hyperbolic metric on the fibers, specifying explicitly which topology we are using. Since the Hilbert manifold topology is stronger than the Banach manifold topology, the form  $c_1(V)$  for the Banach manifold structure on  $\mathcal{T}(1)$  naturally restricts onto  $\mathcal{T}(1)$  considered as a Hilbert manifold.

Similar to Wolpert's work [Wol86] on finite dimensional Teichmüller spaces, we define the analogs of Mumford-Morita-Miller characteristic forms as the following (n, n)-forms on the Hilbert manifold T(1),

(5.1) 
$$\kappa_n = (-1)^{n+1} \pi_*(c_1(V)^{n+1}),$$

where  $\pi_*: \Omega^*(\mathcal{T}(1)) \to \Omega^{*-2}(\mathcal{T}(1))$  is the operation of "integration over the fibers" of the fibration  $\pi: \mathcal{T}(1) \to \mathcal{T}(1)$ . As we will see in Section 5.3, it is the passage from the Banach manifold structure to the Hilbert manifold structure that makes the operation  $\pi_*$  well-defined (i.e., the integrals over non-compact fibers become convergent).

5.1. The form  $c_1(V)$  as Velling-Kirillov symplectic form. In this section we work with the Banach manifold structure on  $\mathcal{T}(1)$ . Let z be the complex coordinate on  $\hat{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \{0\}$ . The assignment  $\mathcal{T}(1) \ni ([\mu], z) \mapsto -z^2 \partial_z$  defines a holomorphic section of the line bundle V over  $\mathcal{T}(1)$  6. The hyperbolic metric on  $w^{\mu}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  is the pull-back of the hyperbolic metric on  $\mathbb{D}^*$  by the conformal map  $g_{\mu}^{-1}$ , so that

$$||z^2 \partial_z||_{([\mu],z)}^2 = \frac{4|z^2 (g_\mu^{-1})'(z)|^2}{(|g_\mu^{-1}(z)|^2 - 1)^2}.$$

The first Chern form of the line bundle V is

$$c_1(V) = \frac{i}{2\pi}\Theta = \frac{i}{2\pi}\bar{\partial}\partial \log ||z^2\partial_z||^2,$$

where  $\partial$  and  $\bar{\partial}$  are, respectively, the (1,0) and (0,1) components of the de Rham differential on  $\mathcal{T}(1)$ .

Let

$$K = \log ||z^2 \partial_z||_{([\mu],z)} - \log 2.$$

**Lemma 5.1.** The function  $K : \mathcal{T}(1) \to \mathbb{R}$  is real-analytic. Under the correspondence  $\mathcal{T}(1) \ni ([\mu], z) \mapsto \gamma \in S^1 \backslash Homeo_{qs}(S^1)$ , where  $\gamma = (g^{-1} \circ f)|_{S^1}$ ,

$$K(\gamma) = \log |g'(\infty)|.$$

*Proof.* Using the formulas  $g = \lambda_w \circ g_\mu \circ \sigma_w^{-1}$  and  $w = g_\mu^{-1}(z)$  from Section 2.2.1, it is straightforward to compute

$$g'(\infty) = \frac{z^2(g_{\mu}^{-1})'(z)(1-\bar{w})}{(|w|^2-1)(1-w)}.$$

Now it easily follows from the general properties of q.c. mappings that for  $z \in \mathbb{D}^*$  the functional  $T(1) \ni [\mu] \mapsto g_{\mu}^{-1}(z) \in \mathbb{C}$  is real-analytic so that  $|g'(\infty)|$  is a real-analytic function on  $\mathcal{T}(1)$ .

Remark 5.2. The quantity  $|g'(\infty)|$  is the capacity of the quasi-circle  $g(S^1)$  corresponding to  $\gamma \in \text{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$ .

**Theorem 5.3.** The first Chern form of the vertical tangent bundle to the universal Teichmüller curve  $\mathcal{T}(1)$  is proportional to the symplectic form of the Velling-Kirillov metric,

$$c_1(V) = -\frac{2}{\pi} \,\omega_{VK}.$$

Equivalently, the function K is a Kähler potential for the Velling-Kirillov metric on  $\mathcal{T}(1)$ .

*Proof.* It is based on the following lemmas.

**Lemma 5.4.** The (1,1)-form  $c_1(V)$  on  $\mathcal{T}(1)$  is right-invariant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Under the conformal map  $z \mapsto \frac{1}{z}$  the vector field  $-z^2 \partial_z \mapsto \partial_z$ .

*Proof.* We need to prove that for every  $\gamma_0 \in S^1 \backslash \text{Homeo}(S^1) \cong \mathcal{T}(1)$  the difference  $R_{\gamma_0}^*K - K$ , where  $R_{\gamma_0} : \mathcal{T}(1) \to \mathcal{T}(1)$  is the right translation by  $\gamma_0$  and  $(R_{\gamma_0}^*K)(\gamma) = K(\gamma \circ \gamma_0)$ , is a harmonic function on  $\mathcal{T}(1)$ .

For every  $\gamma=g^{-1}\circ f\in \mathcal{T}(1)$  let  $\tilde{\gamma}=\gamma\circ\gamma_0=\tilde{g}^{-1}\circ\tilde{f}$ . Since  $\tilde{g}=\tilde{f}\circ\gamma_0^{-1}\circ f^{-1}\circ g$ , we have

$$\left(R_{\gamma_0}^*K - K\right)(\gamma) = \log|\tilde{g}'(\infty)| - \log|g'(\infty)| = \log|(\tilde{f} \circ \gamma_0^{-1} \circ f^{-1})'(\infty)|.$$

In [Ber73], Bers has proved that the function

$$(\gamma, z) \mapsto \left(\tilde{f} \circ \gamma_0^{-1} \circ f^{-1}\right)(z) = h(\gamma, z)$$

depends holomorphically on  $\gamma$  and z, which implies that  $\left(\tilde{f} \circ \gamma_0^{-1} \circ f^{-1}\right)'(\infty)$  depends holomorphically on  $\gamma$  and our assertion follows.

**Lemma 5.5.** Let  $\gamma = g^{-1} \circ f \in \mathcal{T}(1)$ , where  $f|_{\mathbb{D}}(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n z^{n+1}$ ,  $a_0 = 1$ , and  $g|_{\mathbb{D}^*}(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} b_n z^{1-n}$ . Then

(5.2) 
$$|b_0|^2 = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (n+1)|a_n|^2 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (n-1)|b_n|^2.$$

*Proof.* Evaluate the Euclidean area of the domain  $\Omega = f(\mathbb{D}) = g(\mathbb{D})$  in two different ways. First,

$$A_E(\Omega) = \lim_{r \to 1^-} \iint_{f(\mathbb{D}_r)} d^2 z = \lim_{r \to 1^-} \iint_{\mathbb{D}_r} |f'|^2 d^2 z = \pi \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (n+1)|a_n|^2,$$

where  $\mathbb{D}_r = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| < r\}$ . On the other hand, the classical area theorem gives

$$A_E(\Omega) = \pi \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (1-n)|b_n|^2,$$

and we obtain (5.2).

Now we complete the proof of the theorem. Let

$$\mathbf{u} = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}} c_n e^{in\theta} \frac{d}{d\theta} \in T_0^{\mathbb{R}} \mathcal{T}(1),$$

and let  $\gamma_t = g_t^{-1} \circ f^t$ ,  $\gamma_0 = \text{id}$ , be the corresponding smooth curve in  $\mathcal{T}(1)$ . Using notations from the previous lemma, differentiate the relation (5.2) with respect to t and set t = 0, and using  $b_0(0) = 1$ ,  $a_n(0) = b_n(0) = 0$  for  $n \geq 1$ , we get

$$\dot{b}_0 + \bar{\dot{b}}_0 = 0.$$

Here we denote

$$\dot{a}_n(\mathbf{u}) = \dot{a}_n = \frac{da_n}{dt}(0)$$
 and  $\dot{b}_n(\mathbf{u}) = \dot{b}_n = \frac{db_n}{dt}(0)$ .

Differentiating (5.2) twice with respect to t and setting t = 0 we get

$$\frac{d^2b_0}{dt^2}(0) + \frac{d^2\bar{b}_0}{dt^2}(0) + 2\left|\frac{db_0}{dt}(0)\right|^2 = 2\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (n+1)|\dot{a}_n|^2 + 2\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (n-1)|\dot{b}_n|^2$$
$$= 4\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n|\dot{a}_n|^2,$$

where we have also used the property **TS1** in Section 2.2.3. Since  $g'_t(\infty) = b_0(t)$ , using (5.3) we get

$$\frac{d^2}{dt^2} \log |g_t'(\infty)||_{t=0} = 2 \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n |\dot{a}_n|^2.$$

Let  $\mathbf{v} = \frac{1}{2}(\mathbf{u} - iJ\mathbf{u})$  be the holomorphic tangent vector to  $\mathcal{T}(1)$ . Since  $\dot{a}_n(J\mathbf{u}) = i\dot{a}_n(\mathbf{u})$ , using (2.16) we finally get

(5.4) 
$$(\partial \bar{\partial} K)(\mathbf{v}, \bar{\mathbf{v}}) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n \left( |\dot{a}_n(\mathbf{u})|^2 + |\dot{a}_n(J \mathbf{u})|^2 \right) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n |\dot{a}_n(\mathbf{u})|^2.$$

This proves that  $\Theta = 4i\omega_{VK}$  at the origin of  $\mathcal{T}(1)$ . Since both these (1,1)-forms on  $\mathcal{T}(1)$  are right-invariant, the assertion follows.

Remark 5.6. In [KY87], A.A. Kirillov and D. Yuriev have stated that the function K, restricted to the space  $S^1 \setminus \operatorname{Diff}_+(S^1)$ , is a Kähler potential of the Velling-Kirillov metric. Theorem 5.3 extends this result to  $\mathcal{T}(1) \simeq S^1 \setminus \operatorname{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$  and gives its geometric interpretation.

5.2. The Chern form  $c_1(V)$  and the resolvent kernel. Let  $\mu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  be a horizontal holomorphic tangent vector to  $\mathcal{T}(1)$  at the origin. According to the property  $\mathbf{TV1}$  in Section 2.2.2, the vector field  $\tau_{\mu}$  — the horizontal lift of the vector field  $\frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon_{\mu}}$  on  $U_0 \subset T(1)$  to the point  $(0, z) \in \pi^{-1}(0)$ , is identified with  $(\sigma_z^{-1})^*\mu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$ .

**Proposition 5.7.** (i) On the fiber  $\pi^{-1}(0) \subset \mathcal{T}(1)$  the Velling-Kirillov metric is given by

$$\begin{split} \langle \partial_z, \partial_z \rangle_{VK} \left( 0, z \right) &= \frac{1}{(1 - |z|^2)^2}, \\ \langle \partial_z, \tau_\mu \rangle_{VK} \left( 0, z \right) &= 0, \\ \langle \tau_\mu, \tau_\mu \rangle_{VK} \left( 0, z \right) &= \frac{1}{2} \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}^*} G(z, u) |\mu(u)|^2 \rho(u) d^2 u. \end{split}$$

(ii) On the fiber  $\pi^{-1}(0) \subset \mathcal{T}(1)$  the (1,1)-form  $\Theta$  is given by  $\Theta(\partial_z, \partial_{\bar{z}})(0,z) = -\frac{2}{(1-|z|^2)^2},$  $\Theta(\partial_z, \tau_{\bar{\mu}})(0,z) = 0,$ 

$$\Theta(\tau_{\mu}, \tau_{\bar{\mu}})(0, z) = -\iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} G(z, u) |\mu(u)|^2 \rho(u) d^2 u.$$

(iii) The vertical holomorphic tangent bundle  $V \to \mathcal{T}(1)$  of the fibration  $\pi : \mathcal{T}(1) \to \mathcal{T}(1)$  is a negative line bundle.

*Proof.* It follows from the property **TV2** in Section 2.2.2 that the vector field  $\partial_z$  at  $(0, z) \in \pi^{-1}(0)$  corresponds to the tangent vector

$$\mathbf{u} = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}} c_n e^{in\theta} \frac{d}{d\theta} \in T_0^{\mathbb{R}} S^1 \setminus \mathrm{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$$

with  $c_1 = \frac{1-\bar{z}}{(1-z)(1-|z|^2)}$  and  $c_n = 0$  for  $n \geq 2$ . This proves the first formula in part (i). The second formula follows from the fact that, according to the property **TS1** in Section 2.2.3, the tangent vector  $\mathbf{u} \in T_0^{\mathbb{R}}S^1 \setminus \mathrm{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$  which corresponds to the horizontal lift  $\tau_{\mu}$  of the vector field  $\frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon_{\mu}}$  to  $(0, z) \in \pi^{-1}(0)$ , has  $c_1 = 0$ . The last formula follows from the following lemma.

**Lemma 5.8.** Let  $\mu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  and

$$\phi(z) = D_0 \beta(\mu)(z) = \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} (n^3 - n) a_n z^{n-2} \in A_{\infty}(\mathbb{D}).$$

Then

$$\iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}^*} G(z,u) |\mu(u)|^2 \rho(u) d^2 u = 2 \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} n |a_n^z|^2,$$

where

$$(\sigma_z^{-1})^*(\phi)(u) = \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} (n^3 - n)a_n^z u^{n-2}$$

is the power series expansion of  $(\sigma_z^{-1})^*(\phi) = \phi \circ \sigma_z^{-1} ((\sigma_z^{-1})')^2 \in A_\infty(\mathbb{D})$ .

*Proof.* Since G(z,u) is a point-pair invariant, it is sufficient to prove the formula for  $z=\infty$ . In this case, using the relation  $G(\infty,u)=G(0,1/\bar{u})$  between the resolvent kernels on  $\mathbb{D}^*$  and  $\mathbb{D}$  and the formula  $\mu=\Lambda(\phi)$  we get

$$\iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} G(\infty, u) |\mu(u)|^2 \rho(u) d^2 u = \iint_{\mathbb{D}} G(0, u) (1 - |u|^2)^2 |\phi(u)|^2 d^2 u.$$

It follows from the explicit formula (2.19) that

$$(1-|u|^2)^2G(0,u) = h(r) = \left(\frac{1}{2\pi}\frac{1+r^2}{1-r^2}\log\frac{1}{r^2} - \frac{1}{\pi}\right)(1-r^2)^2, \quad r = |u|.$$

Since h is an integrable function on [0,1), we have

$$\iint_{\mathbb{D}} G(0,u)(1-|u|^2)^2 |\phi(u)|^2 d^2u = 2\pi \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} (n^3-n)^2 |a_n|^2 \int_0^1 h(r)r^{2n-4} r dr.$$

A straightforward computation gives

$$\int_0^1 h(r)r^{2n-4}rdr = \frac{1}{\pi} \frac{1}{(n^3 - n)(n^2 - 1)},$$

which proves the lemma.

Using this Lemma, the property **TV1** in Section 2.2.2 and the property **TS2** in Section 2.2.3, we get the third formula in part (i). Now part (ii) follows from Theorem 5.3, and part (iii) follows from part (ii) and the property **RK2** in Section 2.4.

Remark 5.9. Parts (ii) and (iii) of Proposition 5.7 generalize Wolpert's computation of the (1,1)-form  $\Theta$  for finite-dimensional Teichmüller spaces (see Theorem 5.5 and formula (5.3) in [Wol86]).

5.3. Mumford-Morita-Miller characteristic forms. In this section we consider  $\pi: \mathcal{T}(1) \to T(1)$  as a holomorphic fibration of Hilbert manifolds and evaluate the Mumford-Morita-Miller forms  $\kappa_n$  on T(1).

**Theorem 5.10.** The characteristic forms  $\kappa_n$  are right-invariant on the Hilbert manifold T(1) and for  $\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_n, \nu_1, \ldots, \nu_n \in H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*) \simeq T_0T(1)$ 

$$\kappa_n(\mu_1, \dots, \mu_n, \bar{\nu}_1, \dots, \bar{\nu}_n) = \frac{i^n(n+1)!}{(2\pi)^{n+1}} \sum_{\sigma \in S_n} sgn(\sigma) \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} G\left(\mu_1 \bar{\nu}_{\sigma(1)}\right) \dots G\left(\mu_n \bar{\nu}_{\sigma(n)}\right) \rho(z) d^2 z,$$

where the sum goes over the permutation group  $S_n$  on n elements and  $sgn(\sigma)$  is the sign of the permutation  $\sigma$ .

*Proof.* It is straightforward computation of the integral

$$\kappa_n(\mu_1, \dots, \mu_n, \bar{\nu}_1, \dots, \bar{\nu}_n) = \left(\frac{-i}{2\pi}\right)^{n+1} \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} \Theta^{n+1}\left(\partial_z, \partial_{\bar{z}}, \tau_{\mu_1}, \tau_{\bar{\nu}_1}, \dots, \tau_{\mu_n}, \tau_{\bar{\nu}_n}\right) dz \wedge d\bar{z}$$

using Part (ii) of Proposition 5.7. We need only to verify that the integral is convergent. This follows from the properties of the resolvent kernel in Section 2.4. Indeed, the property **RK3** assures that  $G(\mu\bar{\nu})$  is bounded on  $\mathbb{D}^*$  for  $\mu,\nu\in\Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$ , and properties **RK2** and **RK4** imply that for

$$\mu, \nu \in H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*),$$

$$\left| \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} G(\mu \bar{\nu}) \rho(z) d^2 z \right| \leq \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} G(z, u) |\mu(u) \nu(u)| \rho(u) \rho(z) d^2 u d^2 z$$

$$= \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} G(z, u) |\mu(u) \nu(u)| \rho(z) \rho(u) d^2 z d^2 u$$

$$= \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} |\mu(u) \nu(u)| \rho(u) d^2 u < \infty.$$

Corollary 5.11. On the Hilbert manifold T(1)

$$\kappa_1 = \frac{1}{\pi^2} \omega_{WP}.$$

*Proof.* We have, using again the property **RK4** in Section 2.4,

$$\begin{split} \kappa_1(\mu,\bar{\nu}) = &\frac{i}{2\pi^2} \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}^*} G(\mu\bar{\nu}) \rho(z) d^2z = \frac{i}{2\pi^2} \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}^*} \mu(z) \overline{\nu(z)} \rho(z) d^2z \\ = &\frac{1}{\pi^2} \, \omega_{WP}(\mu,\bar{\nu}). \end{split}$$

Remark 5.12. Combining Corollary 5.11, Part (ii) of Proposition 5.7 and Theorem 5.3, we get another proof of Theorem 4.3 in [Teo02].

Remark 5.13. Theorem 5.10 generalizes Wolpert's result for finite-dimensional Teichmüller spaces (see Lemma 5.9 and Lemma 5.10 in [Wol86]) to the universal Teichmüller space.

## 6. First and second variations of the hyperbolic metric

Here we present a concise formula for the second variation of the hyperbolic metric in terms of the resolvent kernel. We are using the model  $\mathbb{H}^2 \simeq \mathbb{U}$ , so that the density of the hyperbolic metric is the (1,1) – tensor  $\rho(z) = y^{-2}$  on  $\mathbb{U}$ .

6.1. The first variation. It is a classical result of Ahlfors [Ahl61] that the first variation of the hyperbolic metric at the origin of T(1) is identically zero.

**Lemma 6.1.** For every  $\mu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{U})$ ,

$$L_{\mu}\rho=0.$$

*Proof.* Since

$$\rho^{\varepsilon\mu} = w_{\varepsilon\mu}^*(\rho) = -\frac{4\left|(w_{\varepsilon\mu})_z(z)\right|^2}{(w_{\varepsilon\mu}(z) - \overline{w_{\varepsilon\mu}(z)})^2},$$

we have

$$L_{\mu}\rho(z) = \frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon}\Big|_{\varepsilon=0} \rho^{\varepsilon\mu}(z) = -4 \frac{F_z(z) + \overline{\Phi'(z)}}{(z-\overline{z})^2} + 8 \frac{F(z) - \overline{\Phi(z)}}{(z-\overline{z})^3},$$

where  $F = F[\mu], \Phi = \Phi[\mu]$ , and the result follows from Lemma 2.13.

Remark 6.2. For the case  $\mu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{U},\Gamma)$ , where  $\Gamma$  is a cofinite Fuchsian group, another proof of the Ahlfors result was given by Wolpert [Wol86].

# 6.2. The second variation. Set

$$L_{\mu}L_{\bar{\mu}}\rho = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial\varepsilon\partial\bar{\varepsilon}}\Big|_{\varepsilon=0}\rho^{\varepsilon\mu}.$$

We have

**Proposition 6.3.** For every  $\mu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{U})$ ,

$$L_{\mu}L_{\bar{\mu}}\rho = \rho G(|\mu|^2).$$

*Proof.* Using the representation

(6.1) 
$$\rho^{\varepsilon\mu}(z) = -4K_{\varepsilon\mu}(z,\bar{z})$$

and the first formula in (2.25) we get

(6.2) 
$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon} \rho^{\varepsilon \mu}(z) = \frac{4}{\pi} \iint_{\mathbb{T}} \mu(u) K_{\varepsilon \mu}(z, u) K_{\varepsilon \mu}(u, \bar{z}) d^2 u,$$

where the integral is understood in the principal value sense. Setting  $\varepsilon = 0$  in (6.2) and using Lemma 6.1, we obtain

(6.3) 
$$\iint_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\mu(u)}{(u-z)^2 (u-\bar{z})^2} d^2 u = 0 \text{ for all } z \in \mathbb{U}.$$

Using formulas (2.24) and (2.25), we get from (6.2) the following integral representation for the second variation of the hyperbolic metric

$$L_{\mu}L_{\bar{\mu}}\rho(z) = -\frac{4}{\pi^2} \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \mu(u)\overline{\mu(v)} \left(\frac{1}{(u-\bar{v})^2(z-\bar{v})^2(u-\bar{z})^2} + \frac{1}{(u-z)^2(u-\bar{v})^2(\bar{z}-\bar{v})^2}\right) d^2u d^2v.$$
(6.4)

The differentiation under the integral sign is justified by the same argument as in [Ahl62]. We transform the principal value integrals in (6.4) into the ordinary integrals by using the identity

(6.5) 
$$\frac{1}{u-\bar{v}} = \frac{z-\bar{z}}{(u-\bar{z})(z-\bar{v})} + \frac{(\bar{v}-\bar{z})(z-u)}{(u-\bar{z})(z-\bar{v})(u-\bar{v})},$$

which gives

$$\frac{1}{(u-z)^2(u-\bar{v})^2(\bar{z}-\bar{v})^2} = \frac{1}{(u-\bar{z})^2(z-\bar{v})^2(u-\bar{v})^2} + \frac{2(z-\bar{z})}{(u-\bar{z})^3(z-\bar{v})^3(u-\bar{v})} + \frac{(z-\bar{z})^2}{(u-z)^2(u-\bar{z})^2(z-\bar{v})^2(\bar{z}-\bar{v})^2} + \frac{2(z-\bar{z})^2}{(u-z)(u-\bar{z})^3(z-\bar{v})^3(\bar{z}-\bar{v})}.$$

Using (6.3) and Corollary 2.15 we see that last two terms in this formula do not contribute into the representation (6.4) and we obtain

$$L_{\mu}L_{\bar{\mu}}\rho(z) = -\frac{8}{\pi^2} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \mu(u)\overline{\mu(v)} \left(\frac{1}{(u-\bar{v})^2(z-\bar{v})^2(u-\bar{z})^2} + \frac{(z-\bar{z})}{(u-\bar{z})^3(u-\bar{v})(z-\bar{v})^3}\right) d^2u d^2v.$$

Now we apply the operator  $2(\Delta_0 + \frac{1}{2})$  to the bounded function  $\rho^{-1}L_{\mu}L_{\bar{\mu}}\rho$  on  $\mathbb{U}$ . Using (6.5) it is straightforward to compute that

$$(2\Delta_0 + 1) \left( \frac{(z - \bar{z})^2}{(u - \bar{v})^2 (z - \bar{v})^2 (u - \bar{z})^2} + \frac{(z - \bar{z})^3}{(u - \bar{z})^3 (u - \bar{v})(z - \bar{v})^3} \right)$$

$$= \frac{9}{2} \frac{(z - \bar{z})^4}{(u - \bar{z})^4 (z - \bar{v})^4},$$

which, together with (2.23), gives

$$(2\Delta_0 + 1) \left(\rho^{-1} L_{\mu} L_{\bar{\mu}} \rho\right) (z)$$

$$= \frac{9}{\pi^2} \iiint_{\text{II}} \iint_{\text{II}} \mu(u) \overline{\mu(v)} \frac{(z - \bar{z})^4}{(u - \bar{z})^4 (z - \bar{v})^4} d^2 u d^2 v = |\mu(z)|^2.$$

Using the property **RK3** in Section 2.4 completes the proof.

Corollary 6.4. For every  $\mu, \nu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$ ,

$$G(\mu\bar{\nu})(z) = \frac{2}{\pi^2} \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \mu(u)\overline{\nu(v)} \left( \frac{(z-\bar{z})^2}{(u-\bar{v})^2(z-\bar{v})^2(u-\bar{z})^2} + \frac{(z-\bar{z})^3}{(u-\bar{z})^3(u-\bar{v})(z-\bar{v})^3} \right) d^2u d^2v.$$

Remark 6.5. It follows from Proposition 6.3 by polarization that

$$L_{\mu}L_{\bar{\nu}}\rho = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \varepsilon_1 \partial \bar{\varepsilon}_2} \bigg|_{\varepsilon_1 = \varepsilon_2 = 0} \rho^{\varepsilon_1 \mu + \varepsilon_2 \nu} = \rho G(\mu \bar{\nu}).$$

Remark 6.6. For the case  $\mu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{U},\Gamma)$ , where  $\Gamma$  is a cofinite Fuchsian group, the formula for the second variation of the hyperbolic metric in Proposition 6.3 was first proved by Wolpert [Wol86]. However, the method in [Wol86] does not work for the universal Teichmüller space T(1). The proof of Proposition 6.3 shows that the original singular integral representation (6.4) of Ahlfors can be easily transformed to a closed form using the resolvent kernel.

### 7. RIEMANN CURVATURE TENSOR

In this section we consider T(1) as a Hilbert manifold equipped with the Weil-Petersson metric. We prove that the Weil-Petersson metric is Kähler, compute its Riemann and Ricci tensors, and show that the Ricci, holomorphic, and sectional curvatures are all negative. Since the Weil-Petersson metric is right-invariant, it is sufficient to compute these tensors at the origin of T(1).

7.1. The first variation of the Weil-Petersson metric. For  $\mu, \nu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  set

$$Q(\mu, \nu) = P(R(\mu, \nu)) \circ w_{\nu} \frac{(\overline{w_{\nu}})_{\bar{z}}}{(w_{\nu})_{z}}.$$

**Proposition 7.1.** For  $\mu, \nu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$ ,

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon} Q(\mu, \varepsilon \nu) \Big|_{\varepsilon=0} &= 0, \\ \frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon} Q(\mu, \varepsilon \nu) \Big|_{\varepsilon=0} &= -2 \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}} \rho^{-1} \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}} G(\mu \bar{\nu}). \end{split}$$

*Proof.* We will be using canonical complex anti-linear isomorphism  $\Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*) \simeq \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D})$ , given by the reflection (2.1), and the model  $\mathbb{H}^2 \simeq \mathbb{U}$  of the hyperbolic plane. From (2.6) we get

(7.1) 
$$\rho^{\varepsilon\nu}(z) Q(\mu, \varepsilon\nu)(z) = \frac{12}{\pi} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \mu(u) K_{\varepsilon\nu}(u, \bar{z})^2 d^2 u.$$

It follows from equations (2.25) that

(7.2)

$$\frac{\dot{\partial}}{\partial \varepsilon}\Big|_{\varepsilon=0}Q(\mu,\varepsilon\nu)(z) = \frac{6(z-\bar{z})^2}{\pi^2} \iint\limits_{\mathrm{II}} \iint\limits_{\mathrm{II}} \frac{\mu(u)\nu(v)}{(u-\bar{z})^2(u-v)^2(v-\bar{z})^2} d^2u d^2v$$

and (7.3)

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{\varepsilon}}\bigg|_{\varepsilon=0} Q(\mu, \varepsilon \nu)(z) = \frac{6(z-\bar{z})^2}{\pi^2} \iint_{\mathbb{T}} \iint_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\mu(u)\overline{\nu(v)}}{(u-\bar{z})^2(u-\bar{v})^2(\bar{v}-\bar{z})^2} d^2u d^2v.$$

The integrals are understood in the principal value sense and differentiation under the integral sign in (7.1) is justified as in [Ahl62].

To prove that the integral (7.2) is zero, we use the identity

$$\frac{1}{(u-v)(u-\bar{z})(v-\bar{z})} = \frac{1}{(u-v)^2} \left( \frac{1}{v-\bar{z}} - \frac{1}{u-\bar{z}} \right),$$

and rewrite the integral (7.2) as follows

(7.4) 
$$\iint_{\mathbb{U}} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \frac{\mu(u)\nu(v)}{(u-\bar{z})^{2}(u-v)^{2}(v-\bar{z})^{2}} d^{2}u d^{2}v$$

$$= \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \iiint_{\mathbb{U} \times \mathbb{U} \setminus \{|u-v| < \varepsilon\}} \left( \frac{1}{(u-v)^{4}(v-\bar{z})^{2}} - \frac{2}{(u-v)^{5}(v-\bar{z})} + \frac{2}{(u-v)^{5}(u-\bar{z})} + \frac{1}{(u-v)^{4}(u-\bar{z})^{2}} \right) \mu(u)\nu(v) d^{2}u d^{2}v$$

$$= I_{1} + I_{2} + I_{3} + I_{4}.$$

Applying Lemma (2.12) to the principal value integrals over u in the terms  $I_1$ ,  $I_2$  and  $I_4$ , we conclude that these terms vanish. Changing the order of integrations in  $I_3$  (which is legitimate since domain of integration is invariant under the involution  $(u, v) \mapsto (v, u)$ ) and applying Lemma (2.12) to the integral over v we conclude that the term  $I_3$  also vanishes. This proves that the holomorphic variation of  $Q(\mu, \nu)$  vanishes.

To prove the formula for the antiholomorphic variation, we again use the identity (6.5), which gives

$$\frac{1}{(u-\bar{z})^2(u-\bar{v})^2(\bar{v}-\bar{z})^2} = \frac{(u-z)^2}{(u-\bar{z})^4(\bar{v}-z)^2(u-\bar{v})^2} + \frac{(z-\bar{z})^2}{(u-\bar{z})^4(\bar{v}-\bar{z})^2(\bar{v}-z)^2} + \frac{2(z-\bar{z})^2(z-u)}{(u-\bar{z})^5(z-\bar{v})^3(\bar{v}-\bar{z})} + \frac{2(z-\bar{z})(z-u)^2}{(u-\bar{z})^5(z-\bar{v})^3(u-\bar{v})}.$$

Using formula (6.3) and Corollary 2.15 we see that the second and third terms do not contribute to (7.3), and we get

(7.5) 
$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{\varepsilon}} \Big|_{\varepsilon=0} Q(\mu, \varepsilon \nu)(z) = \frac{6(z - \bar{z})^2}{\pi^2} \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \mu(u) \overline{\nu(v)}$$

$$\left( \frac{(u - z)^2}{(u - \bar{z})^4 (\bar{v} - z)^2 (u - \bar{v})^2} + \frac{2(z - \bar{z})(z - u)^2}{(u - \bar{z})^5 (z - \bar{v})^3 (u - \bar{v})} \right) d^2 u^2 v.$$

Now applying  $\partial_{\bar{z}}\rho^{-1}\partial_{\bar{z}}$  to the integral representation in Corollary 6.4 (the differentiation under the integral sign being trivially justified) we get the formula for the antiholomorphic variation.

Set

$$\dot{Q}(\mu)[\nu] = \left. \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{\varepsilon}} \right|_{\varepsilon=0} Q(\mu, \varepsilon \nu).$$

**Proposition 7.2.** Let  $\mu \in H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  and  $\nu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$ . Then  $\dot{Q}(\mu)[\nu] \in L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z)$  and

$$\|\dot{Q}(\mu)[\nu]\|_{2}^{2} = \|\mu\bar{\nu}\|_{2}^{2} - (\mu\bar{\nu}, G(\mu\bar{\nu})),$$

where  $(\ ,\ )$  stands for the inner product in the Hilbert space  $L^2(\mathbb{D}^*,\rho(z)d^2z)$ .

*Proof.* As in the proof of Proposition 7.1, it is convenient to use the isomorphism  $\Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*) \simeq \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D})$ . For  $\mu \in BC^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}) \cap L^2(\mathbb{D}, \rho(z)d^2z)$  with compact support and  $\nu \in BC^{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$  we set

$$Q_{\nu}(\mu) = 2 \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}} \rho^{-1} \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}} G(\mu \bar{\nu}).$$

We will prove that  $\|Q_{\nu}(\mu)\|_2^2 = \|\mu\bar{\nu}\|_2^2 - (\mu\bar{\nu}, G(\mu\bar{\nu}))$ , so that  $Q_{\nu}$  extends to a bounded linear operator on  $L^2(\mathbb{D}, \rho(z)d^2z)$ . Since, according to Proposition 7.1,  $Q_{\nu}(\mu) = -\dot{Q}(\mu)[\nu]$  for  $\mu \in H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  and  $\nu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$ , the assertion follows from this fact.

From the explicit formula (2.19) we get the following estimates

(7.6) 
$$G(z,w) = O((1-|z|^2)), \quad (\partial_z \rho^{-1} \partial_z) G(z,w) = O((1-|z|^2)),$$
  
 $\partial_z G(z,w) = O(1), \quad (\partial_{\bar{z}} (\partial_z \rho^{-1} \partial_z)) G(z,w) = O(1) \quad \text{as} \quad |z| \to 1,$ 

uniformly as w varies on compact subsets of  $\mathbb{D}$ . Using Stokes' theorem and the identity

$$\rho^{-1}\partial_z \,\rho^{-1}\partial_z \,\rho \,\partial_{\bar{z}} \,\rho^{-1}\partial_{\bar{z}} = \Delta_0(\Delta_0 + \frac{1}{2})$$

we get

$$\iint_{\mathbb{D}} |\mathcal{Q}_{\nu}(\mu)|^{2} \rho(z) d^{2}z = 4 \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \partial_{z} \left(\rho^{-1} \partial_{z} G(\bar{\mu}\nu)\right) \partial_{\bar{z}} \left(\rho^{-1} \partial_{\bar{z}} G(\mu\bar{\nu})\right) \rho(z) d^{2}z$$

$$= 4 \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \Delta_{0}(\Delta_{0} + \frac{1}{2}) G(\mu\bar{\nu}) G(\bar{\mu}\nu) \rho(z) d^{2}z$$

$$= 2 \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \Delta_{0}(\mu\bar{\nu}) G(\bar{\mu}\nu) \rho(z) d^{2}z,$$

where in the last line we have used property **RK3** from Section 2.4. Due to the estimates (7.6) the boundary terms arising in the Stokes' formula vanish. Using Stokes' theorem once again we finally get

$$\iint_{\mathbb{D}} |\mathcal{Q}_{\nu}(\mu)|^{2} \rho(z) d^{2}z = 2 \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \mu \bar{\nu} \Delta_{0} G(\bar{\mu}\nu) \rho(z) d^{2}z$$

$$= \iint_{\mathbb{D}} |\mu \bar{\nu}|^{2} \rho(z) d^{2}z - \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \mu \bar{\nu} G(\bar{\mu}\nu) \rho(z) d^{2}z$$

$$= \|\mu \bar{\nu}\|_{2}^{2} - (\mu \bar{\nu}, G(\mu \bar{\nu})).$$

The boundary terms again vanish due to (7.6) and Remark 3.2.

Corollary 7.3. For  $\mu, \nu \in H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  and  $\kappa \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$ ,

$$\left(\dot{Q}(\mu)[\kappa],\dot{Q}(\nu)[\kappa]\right) = (\mu\bar{\kappa},\nu\bar{\kappa}) - (\mu\bar{\kappa},G(\nu\bar{\kappa})).$$

**Theorem 7.4.** For  $\mu, \nu \in H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  and  $\kappa \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$ ,

$$\left. \frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon} g_{\mu\bar{\nu}}(\varepsilon \kappa) \right|_{\varepsilon=0} = 0.$$

*Proof.* Since  $P^2 = P$ , we get from (4.3), (7.7)

$$g_{\mu\bar{\nu}}(\kappa) = \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}^*} Q(\mu,\kappa) \overline{Q(\nu,\kappa)} (1-|\kappa|^2) w_{\kappa}^*(\rho)(z) d^2z = \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}^*} \mu \overline{Q(\nu,\kappa)} w_{\kappa}^*(\rho)(z) d^2z,$$

so that

$$\left. \frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon} g_{\mu \overline{\nu}}(\varepsilon \kappa) \right|_{\varepsilon = 0} = \left( \dot{Q}(\mu)[\kappa], \nu \right) + \left( \mu, \dot{Q}(\nu)[\kappa] \right) = \left( \mu, \dot{Q}(\nu)[\kappa] \right).$$

Differentiation under the integral sign is justified as in [Ahl62]. Thus for all  $\mu, \nu \in H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  and  $\kappa \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$ 

$$\left(\dot{Q}(\mu)[\kappa], \nu\right) = 0,$$

and the theorem follows.

Let  $\{\mu_n\}_{n=2}^{\infty}$  be an orthonormal basis for the Hilbert space  $H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$ ,

$$\mu_n(z) = -\sqrt{\frac{n^3 - n}{8\pi}} (1 - |z|^2)^2 \bar{z}^{-n-2}, \quad n = 2, 3, \dots,$$

and let  $\{\varepsilon_n\}_{n=2}^{\infty}$  be the corresponding Bers coordinates on the chart  $V_0$ . Since  $\|\mu\|_2 = 2\|D_0\beta(\mu)\|_2$ , it follows from Section 3.3 that  $\sum_{n=2}^{\infty} |\varepsilon_n|^2 < \frac{4\pi}{3}$ . Denote by  $\frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon_n}$  the corresponding directional derivatives — the vector field  $\frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon_{\mu_n}}$  on  $V_0$ , and set  $g_{m\bar{n}} = g_{\mu_m\bar{\mu}_n}$ . Since the basis  $\{\mu_n\}_{n=2}^{\infty}$  is orthonormal,  $g_{m\bar{n}} = \delta_{mn}$  at the origin of T(1).

**Corollary 7.5.** The Weil-Petersson metric is a Kähler metric on the Hilbert manifold T(1), and the Bers coordinates are geodesic coordinates at the origin of T(1).

*Proof.* It follows from Theorem 7.4 that

$$\frac{\partial g_{m\bar{n}}}{\partial \varepsilon_l}(0) = 0.$$

Remark 7.6. Propositions 7.1 and 7.2 and Theorem 7.4 generalize Wolpert's results for finite-dimensional Teichmüller spaces (see Lemma 2.7 and Theorem 2.9 in [Wol86]) to the universal Teichmüller space. In particular, our proof of Theorem 7.4 (after Proposition 7.2 has been established) is the same as in [Wol86].

7.2. The second variation of the Weil-Petersson metric. Due to Corollary 7.5, the Riemann tensor of the Weil-Petersson metric at the origin of T(1) is given by

$$R_{k\bar{l}m\bar{n}} = -\frac{\partial^2 g_{k\bar{l}}}{\partial \varepsilon_m \partial \bar{\varepsilon}_n}(0),$$

where we are using conventions of Yano and Bochner [YB53] in Hermitian geometry.

**Theorem 7.7.** For  $\mu, \nu \in H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  and  $\kappa \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$ ,

$$\left. \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \varepsilon \partial \bar{\varepsilon}} g_{\mu \bar{\nu}}(\varepsilon \kappa) \right|_{\varepsilon = 0} = (\mu \bar{\kappa}, G(\nu \bar{\kappa})) + (\mu \bar{\nu}, G(|\kappa|^2)).$$

*Proof.* Differentiating the representation (7.7) for  $g_{\mu\bar{\nu}}(\varepsilon\kappa)$  with respect to  $\varepsilon$  and  $\bar{\varepsilon}$  we get

$$\begin{split} & \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \varepsilon \partial \bar{\varepsilon}} g_{\mu \bar{\nu}}(\varepsilon \kappa) \bigg|_{\varepsilon = 0} \\ &= \left( \left. \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \varepsilon \partial \bar{\varepsilon}} Q(\mu, \varepsilon \kappa) \right|_{\varepsilon = 0}, \nu \right) + \left( \mu \bar{\nu}, \rho^{-1} \left. \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \varepsilon \partial \bar{\varepsilon}} \rho^{\varepsilon \kappa} \right|_{\varepsilon = 0} \right) \\ &= \left( \left. \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \varepsilon \partial \bar{\varepsilon}} Q(\mu, \varepsilon \kappa) \right|_{\varepsilon = 0}, \nu \right) + \left( \left. \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{\varepsilon}} \right|_{\varepsilon = 0} Q(\mu, \varepsilon \kappa), \left. \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{\varepsilon}} \right|_{\varepsilon = 0} Q(\nu, \varepsilon \kappa) \right) \\ &+ \left( \mu, \left. \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \varepsilon \partial \bar{\varepsilon}} Q(\nu, \varepsilon \kappa) \right|_{\varepsilon = 0} \right) + \left( \mu \bar{\nu}, \rho^{-1} \left. \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \varepsilon \partial \bar{\varepsilon}} \rho^{\varepsilon \kappa} \right|_{\varepsilon = 0} \right) - \left( \mu \bar{\nu}, |\kappa|^2 \right). \end{split}$$

The differentiation under the integral sign is justified as in [Ahl62], provided that all integrals above are absolutely convergent. This follows from Proposition 6.3, property **RK3** in Section 2.4, Proposition 7.2 and the following

**Lemma 7.8.** For  $\mu \in H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  and  $\nu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$ 

$$\left. \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \varepsilon \partial \bar{\varepsilon}} \, Q(\mu, \varepsilon \nu) \right|_{\varepsilon = 0} \in L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z) d^2 z).$$

We relegate the proof of this lemma to Appendix B. Now comparing the two expressions for the second variation of  $g_{\mu\bar{\nu}}$  and using Corollary 7.3 we get

$$\left(\mu, \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \varepsilon \partial \bar{\varepsilon}} Q(\nu, \varepsilon \kappa) \Big|_{\varepsilon=0}\right) = -\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{\varepsilon}} \Big|_{\varepsilon=0} Q(\mu, \varepsilon \kappa), \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{\varepsilon}} \Big|_{\varepsilon=0} Q(\nu, \varepsilon \kappa)\right) + \left(\mu \bar{\nu}, |\kappa|^2\right) \\
= \left(\mu \bar{\kappa}, G(\nu \bar{\kappa})\right).$$

Using Proposition 6.3, we finally obtain

$$\frac{\partial^2}{\partial \varepsilon \partial \bar{\varepsilon}} \bigg|_{\varepsilon=0} g_{\mu \bar{\nu}}(\varepsilon \kappa) = (\mu \bar{\kappa}, G(\nu \bar{\kappa})) + (\mu \bar{\nu}, G(|\kappa|^2)).$$

Corollary 7.9. At the origin of T(1),

$$R_{k\bar{l}m\bar{n}} = -(\mu_k\bar{\mu}_l, G(\bar{\mu}_m\mu_n)) - (\bar{\mu}_l\mu_m, G(\bar{\mu}_k\mu_n)).$$

*Proof.* It follows from Theorem 7.7 by polarization that

$$R_{\kappa\bar{\lambda}\mu\bar{\nu}} = -\frac{\partial^2}{\partial\varepsilon_1\partial\bar{\varepsilon}_2}\bigg|_{\varepsilon_1 = \varepsilon_2 = 0} g_{\mu\bar{\nu}}(\varepsilon_1\kappa + \varepsilon_2\lambda)$$
$$= -(\kappa\bar{\lambda}, G(\bar{\mu}\nu)) - (\bar{\lambda}\mu, G(\bar{\kappa}\nu)).$$

Remark 7.10. For finite-dimensional Teichmüller spaces this result was proved by Wolpert [Wol86]. Except Lemma 7.8, our derivation is the same as in [Wol86].

7.3. Ricci and sectional curvatures. The Ricci tensor at the origin of T(1) for the orthonormal basis  $\{\mu_n\}_{n=2}^{\infty}$  of  $H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$  is defined by the following series

$$\mathcal{R}_{k\bar{l}} = \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} R_{k\bar{n}n\bar{l}}.$$

**Theorem 7.11.** The Ricci tensor at the origin of T(1) is well-defined and is given by

$$\mathcal{R}_{k\bar{l}} = -\frac{13}{12\pi} \delta_{kl}.$$

*Proof.* Set  $\mu = \mu_k, \nu = \mu_l$ , and  $\mathcal{R}_{\mu\bar{\nu}} = \mathcal{R}_{k\bar{l}}$ . We have

$$\mathcal{R}_{\mu\bar{\nu}} = -\frac{2}{\pi} \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} (n^3 - n) \left( \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} G(z, w) \mu(z) z^{n-2} \overline{\nu(w)} \bar{w}^{n-2} d^2 w d^2 z \right)$$

$$+ \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} G(z, w) \bar{z}^{n-2} z^{n-2} \mu(w) \overline{\nu(w)} \frac{(1 - |z|^2)^2}{(1 - |w|^2)^2} d^2 w d^2 z \right)$$

$$= -\frac{12}{\pi} \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} G(z, w) \frac{\mu(z) \overline{\nu(w)}}{(1 - z\bar{w})^4} d^2 w d^2 z$$

$$-\frac{3}{4\pi} \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} G(z, w) \mu(w) \overline{\nu(w)} \rho(z) \rho(w) d^2 w d^2 z$$

$$= I_1 + I_2$$

For the second integral, we use property RK4 in Section 2.4 and get

$$I_2 = -\frac{3}{4\pi} \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \mu(w) \overline{\nu(w)} \rho(w) d^2 w = -\frac{3}{4\pi} g_{\mu\bar{\nu}}.$$

For the first integral, we use projection formula (2.7) and get

$$I_{1} = -\frac{36}{\pi^{2}} \iint_{\mathbb{D}^{*}} \iint_{\mathbb{D}^{*}} \iint_{\mathbb{D}^{*}} G(z, w) \mu(z) \overline{\nu(v)} \frac{(1 - |w|^{2})^{2}}{(1 - z\overline{w})^{4} (1 - w\overline{v})^{4}} d^{2}v d^{2}w d^{2}z.$$

Let

$$B(z,v) = \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} G(z,w) \frac{(1-|w|^2)^2}{(1-w\bar{v})^4(1-z\bar{w})^4} d^2w.$$

The kernel B(z, v) satisfies

(7.8) 
$$B(z,v) = B\left(\sigma z, \sigma v\right)\sigma'(z)^2 \overline{\sigma'(v)}^2 \quad \text{for all} \quad \sigma \in PSU(1,1),$$

and

$$B(0,v) = \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}^*} \left( \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{1 + |w|^2}{1 - |w|^2} \log \frac{1}{|w|^2} - \frac{1}{\pi} \right) \frac{(1 - |w|^2)^2}{(1 - \bar{v}w)^4} d^2w = \frac{1}{9}.$$

Hence

$$B(z,v) = \frac{1}{9(1-z\bar{v})^4}$$

and

$$I_{1} = -\frac{4}{\pi^{2}} \iint_{\mathbb{D}^{*}} \iint_{\mathbb{D}^{*}} \mu(z) \overline{\nu(v)} \frac{1}{(1 - z\bar{v})^{4}} d^{2}z d^{2}w$$
$$= -\frac{1}{3\pi} \iint_{\mathbb{D}^{*}} \mu(z) \overline{\nu(z)} \rho(z) d^{2}z = -\frac{1}{3\pi} g_{\mu\bar{\nu}}.$$

Therefore.

$$\mathcal{R}_{\mu\bar{\nu}} = -\left(\frac{3}{4\pi} + \frac{1}{3\pi}\right)g_{\mu\bar{\nu}} = -\frac{13}{12\pi}g_{\mu\bar{\nu}}.$$

Since the Weil-Petersson metric on T(1) is right-invariant, it follows from Theorem 7.11 that the Ricci tensor is well-defined everywhere on T(1). Denote by  $Ric_{WP}$  corresponding Ricci (1,1)-form on T(1). In terms of Bers coordinates  $\{\varepsilon_n\}_{n=2}^{\infty}$  on the coordinate chart  $V_{\mu}$  the Ricci form is given by

$$Ric_{WP} = \frac{i}{2} \sum_{k,l=2}^{\infty} \mathcal{R}_{k\bar{l}} d\varepsilon_k \wedge d\bar{\varepsilon}_l.$$

Corollary 7.12. The universal Teichmüller space T(1) is a Kähler-Einstein manifold with negative constant Ricci curvature,

$$Ric_{WP} = -\frac{13}{12\pi} \,\omega_{WP}.$$

*Proof.* Since (1,1)– forms  $\omega_{WP}$  and Ric are right-invariant, the result immediately follows from Theorem 7.11

Remark 7.13. For the dense submanifold  $M\ddot{o}b(S^1)\setminus Diff_+(S^1)$  of  $T_0(1)$  the statement of Theorem 7.11 was established by different methods in [KY87] and [BR87a, BR87b]. The "magic ratio"  $\frac{13}{12\pi}$  is omnipresent in mathematics related to string theory.

Let  $\frac{\partial}{\partial t_{\mu}}$ ,  $\frac{\partial}{\partial t_{\nu}} \in T_0^{\mathbb{R}}T(1)$  be real tangent vectors. According to [YB53], the sectional curvature of the section spanned by these vectors is given by R/g, where

(7.9) 
$$R = R_{\mu\bar{\nu}\nu\bar{\mu}} + R_{\nu\bar{\mu}\mu\bar{\nu}} - R_{\mu\bar{\nu}\mu\bar{\nu}} - R_{\nu\bar{\mu}\nu\bar{\mu}},$$
$$g = 4g_{\mu\bar{\mu}}g_{\nu\bar{\nu}} - 2|g_{\mu\bar{\nu}}|^2 - 2\operatorname{Re}(g_{\mu\bar{\nu}})^2.$$

Similarly, the holomorphic sectional curvature of the section spanned by the holomorphic tangent vector  $\frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon_{\mu}}$ , where  $g_{\mu\bar{\mu}}=1$ , is given by  $R_{\mu\bar{\mu}\mu\bar{\mu}}$ .

As in the finite-dimensional case [Wol86], we have

**Theorem 7.14.** The sectional and holomorphic sectional curvatures of T(1) are negative.

*Proof.* For a section spanned by  $\frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon_{\mu}}$ , the holomorphic sectional curvature is obviously negative:  $\mu \neq 0$  so that  $G(|\mu|^2) > 0$ , and  $(|\mu|^2, G(|\mu|^2)) > 0$ .

For a section spanned by the real tangent vectors  $\frac{\partial}{\partial t_{\mu}}$  and  $\frac{\partial}{\partial t_{\nu}}$ , using Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, it is easy to see that g is positive. Using Corollary 7.9, the properties **RK1** and **RK2**, we get

$$R = 4\text{Re } (\mu \bar{\nu}, G(\bar{\mu}\nu)) - 2(\mu \bar{\nu}, G(\mu \bar{\nu})) - 2(|\mu|^2, G(|\nu|^2)).$$

From the property RK2 and Cauchy-Schwarz inequality we have

$$|G(\mu\bar{\nu})(z)| \le \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} G(z,w)^{1/2} |\mu(w)| G(z,w)^{1/2} |\nu(w)| \rho(w) d^2 w$$

$$\le \left( \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} G(z,w) |\mu(w)|^2 \rho(w) d^2 w \right)^{1/2} \left( \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} G(z,w) |\nu(w)|^2 \rho(w) d^2 w \right)^{1/2}$$

so that

$$\begin{aligned} |(\bar{\mu}\nu, G(\mu\bar{\nu}))| &\leq \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} |\mu\nu| G(|\mu|^2)^{1/2} G(|\nu|^2)^{1/2} \rho(z) d^2 z \\ &\leq \left( \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} |\mu|^2 G(|\nu|^2) \rho(z) d^2 z \right)^{1/2} \left( \iint_{\mathbb{D}^*} |\nu|^2 G(|\mu|^2) \rho(z) d^2 z \right)^{1/2} \\ &= \left( |\mu|^2, G(|\nu|^2) \right). \end{aligned}$$

On the other hand, if we let  $\mu\bar{\nu} = \alpha + i\beta$ , where  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are real-valued functions, then Re  $(\mu\bar{\nu}, G(\bar{\mu}\nu)) = (\alpha, G(\alpha)) - (\beta, G(\beta))$  and  $(\mu\bar{\nu}, G(\mu\bar{\nu})) = (\alpha, G(\alpha)) + (\beta, G(\beta))$ . Since for a bounded real-valued smooth function h, we can deduce from the property **RK3** and the positivity of the operator

 $\Delta_0 + \frac{1}{2}$  that  $(h, G(h)) \geq 0$ , it follows that  $\operatorname{Re}(\mu \bar{\nu}, G(\bar{\mu}\nu)) \leq (\mu \bar{\nu}, G(\mu \bar{\nu}))$ . Hence R is negative by Cauchy-Schwarz inequality.

## 8. Finite-dimensional Teichmüller spaces

Curvature properties of finite-dimensional Teichmüller spaces were extensively studied by Ahlfors [Ahl62], Royden [Roy75], and especially by Wolpert [Wol86]. Here, for the Teichmüller space  $T(\Gamma)$  of a cofinite Fuchsian group  $\Gamma$  we show how to get Wolpert's explicit formulas from the curvature formulas of the Hilbert manifold T(1), derived in Section 7.

First note that the canonical embedding of the finite-dimensional complex manifold  $T(\Gamma)$  into T(1) is holomorphic with respect to the Banach manifold structure on T(1) but not with respect to the Hilbert manifold structure on T(1). Indeed, for a cofinite Fuchsian group  $\Gamma$  the finite-dimensional vector space  $\Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*,\Gamma)$  is not a subspace of the Hilbert space  $H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*)$ , but rather

$$\Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*,\Gamma) \cap H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*) = \{0\}.$$

Thus the Weil-Petersson metric on  $T(\Gamma)$ , defined in Section 2.3, is not a pull-back of the Weil-Petersson metric on T(1). However, due to Lemma 2.9 we can represent the Petersson inner product on the tangent space at the origin of  $T(\Gamma)$  as an "average" of the inner products in T(1). Namely, using the canonical complex anti-linear isomorphisms  $\Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*,\Gamma) \simeq \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D},\Gamma)$  and  $H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*) \simeq H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D})$ , we have

$$\langle \mu, \nu \rangle_{WP} = \iint_{\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{D}} \mu \bar{\nu} \rho(z) d^2 z = \lim_{r \to 1^-} \frac{A(\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{D})}{A(\mathbb{D}_r)} \iint_{\mathbb{D}_r} \mu \bar{\nu} \rho(z) d^2 z$$
$$= \lim_{r \to 1^-} \frac{A(\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{D})}{A(\mathbb{D}_r)} \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \mu_r \bar{\nu}_r \rho(z) d^2 z.$$

Here  $\mu, \nu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}, \Gamma)$  and  $\mu_r = \chi_r \mu, \nu_r = \chi_r \nu$ , where  $\chi_r$  is the characteristic function of  $\mathbb{D}_r = \{z \in \mathbb{D} : |z| \leq r\}$ . In what follows we will denote by  $(\ ,\ )_{\Gamma}$  the Petersson inner product  $\langle\ ,\ \rangle_{WP}$  in  $\Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D},\Gamma)$ , as well as the inner product for the Hilbert space  $L^2(\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{D}, \rho(z)d^2z)$ . Since they are given by the same formula, there would be no confusion. Moreover, for  $\mu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D},\Gamma)$ ,  $|\mu| \in L^2(\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{D}, \rho(z)d^2z)$ .

**Lemma 8.1.** Let  $\mu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D})$  and  $\nu \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}) \cap L^{1}(\mathbb{D}, \rho(z)d^{2}z)$ . Then

(i) For 0 < r < 1,

$$P(\mu_r) \in H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}) \text{ and } P(\mu_r)(z) = O\left((1-|z|^2)^2\right) \text{ as } |z| \to 1.$$

(ii) 
$$\lim_{r\to 1^-}\iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}}P(\mu_r)\bar{\nu}\,\rho(z)d^2z=\iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}}\mu\bar{\nu}\,\rho(z)d^2z.$$

*Proof.* Since

$$\iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}} \left| P(\mu_r) \right|^2 \rho(z) d^2 z = \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}} P(\mu_r) \bar{\mu}_r \, \rho(z) d^2 z = \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}_r} P(\mu_r) \bar{\mu}_r \, \rho(z) d^2 z < \infty,$$

 $P(\mu_r) \in H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D})$ . Using  $\mu(z) = -\frac{(1-|z|^2)^2}{2} \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} (n^3 - n) a_n \bar{z}^{n-2}$  and (2.7), we get

$$P(\mu_r)(z) = -\frac{(1-|z|^2)^2}{4} \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} (n^3 - n) a_n \left( \frac{r^{2n+2}}{n+1} - \frac{2r^{2n}}{n} + \frac{r^{2n-2}}{n-1} \right) \bar{z}^{n-2},$$

so that  $(1-|z|^2)^{-2}P(\mu_r)(z)$  is continuous on |z|=1. To prove part (ii), consider the estimate

$$|(\mu - P(\mu_r))(z)| \leq \frac{3(1 - |z|^2)^2}{\pi} ||\mu||_{\infty} \iint_{\mathbb{D} \setminus \mathbb{D}_r} \frac{d^2 u}{|1 - u\bar{z}|^4}$$

$$= 3||\mu||_{\infty} (1 - |z|^2)^2 \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n|z|^{2n-2} (1 - r^{2n})$$

$$= 3||\mu||_{\infty} \left(1 - \frac{r^2(1 - |z|^2)^2}{(1 - r^2|z|^2)^2}\right).$$

For fixed r the right hand side of this estimate is an increasing function of |z|, so that

$$\sup_{|z| \le s} |(\mu - P(\mu_r))(z)| \le 3\|\mu\|_{\infty} \left(1 - \frac{r^2(1 - s^2)^2}{(1 - r^2s^2)^2}\right),$$

and for fixed s,

$$\lim_{r \to 1^{-}} \sup_{|z| \le s} |(\mu - P(\mu_r))(z)| = 0.$$

Also for fixed r we have the estimate

$$\|\mu - P(\mu_r)\|_{\infty} \le 3\|\mu\|_{\infty}.$$

Now since  $\nu \in L^1(\mathbb{D}, \rho(z)d^2z)$ , for every  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists 0 < s < 1 such that

$$\iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}\backslash\mathbb{D}_s} |\nu| \, \rho(z) d^2z \leq \varepsilon,$$

and we obtain,

$$\left| \iint_{\mathbb{D}} (\mu - P(\mu_r)) \, \bar{\nu} \rho(z) d^2 z \right|$$

$$\leq \iint_{\mathbb{D}_s} \left| (\mu - P(\mu_r)) \right| |\nu| \, \rho(z) d^2 z + \iint_{\mathbb{D} \setminus \mathbb{D}_s} \left| (\mu - P(\mu_r)) \right| |\nu| \, \rho(z) d^2 z$$

$$\leq \sup_{|z| \leq s} \left| (\mu - P(\mu_r)) (z) \right| \iint_{\mathbb{D}} |\nu| \, \rho(z) d^2 z + 3\varepsilon \|\mu\|_{\infty}.$$

Passing to the limit  $r \to 1^-$ , we get

$$\lim_{r \to 1^{-}} \left| \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \left( \mu - P(\mu_r) \right) \bar{\nu} \, \rho(z) d^2 z \right| \leq 3\varepsilon \|\mu\|_{\infty}.$$

Since  $\varepsilon$  is arbitrary, the result follows.

**Lemma 8.2.** For  $\mu, \nu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}, \Gamma)$ ,

$$(\mu,\nu)_{\Gamma} = \lim_{r \to 1^{-}} \lim_{s \to 1^{-}} \frac{A(\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{D})}{A(\mathbb{D}_{r})} \iint_{\mathbb{D}} P(\mu_{s}) \overline{P(\nu_{r})} \rho(z) d^{2}z.$$

*Proof.* Since  $\mu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D},\Gamma) \subset \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D})$ ,

$$\iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}} \mu_r \bar{\nu}_r \rho(z) d^2 z = \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}} \mu \bar{\nu}_r \rho(z) d^2 z = \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}} \mu \overline{P(\nu_r)} \rho(z) d^2 z.$$

According to part (i) of Lemma 8.1,  $P(\nu_r) \in L^1(\mathbb{D}, \rho(z)d^2z)$  for 0 < r < 1, so that the result follows from part (ii) of Lemma 8.1.

Remark 8.3. The limits in Lemma 8.2 can not be interchanged. Indeed, it follows from part (ii) of Lemma 8.1 that for fixed s<1 the limit  $r\to 1$  is always zero.

In a neighborhood of the origin in  $T(\Gamma)$  the Weil-Petersson metric is given by

$$g_{\mu\bar{\nu}}(\kappa) = \iint\limits_{\Gamma_{-} \backslash \mathbb{D}} P(R(\mu,\kappa)) \overline{P(R(\nu,\kappa))} \rho(z) d^2z,$$

where  $\kappa \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D},\Gamma)$ ,  $\|\kappa\|_{\infty}$  is sufficiently small, and  $\Gamma_{\kappa} = w_{\kappa} \circ \Gamma \circ w_{\kappa}^{-1}$ .

**Lemma 8.4.** Let  $\mu, \nu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}, \Gamma)$ . For  $\kappa \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}, \Gamma)$ ,  $\|\kappa\|_{\infty}$  sufficiently small.

$$g_{\mu\bar{\nu}}(\kappa) = \lim_{r \to 1^{-}} \lim_{s \to 1^{-}} \frac{A(\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{D})}{A(\mathbb{D}_{r})} \iint_{\mathbb{D}} P(R(P(\mu_{s}), \kappa)) \overline{P(R(P(\nu_{r}), \kappa))} \rho(z) d^{2}z.$$

*Proof.* First, we have

$$\begin{split} &\iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}} P(R(P(\mu_s),\kappa)) \overline{P(R(P(\nu_r),\kappa))} \rho(z) d^2z \\ = &\frac{12}{\pi} \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}} \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}} \frac{P(\mu_s)(u)(w_\kappa)_u(u)^2 \overline{P(\nu_r)(z)(w_\kappa)_z(z)^2}}{(1-w_\kappa(u)\overline{w_\kappa(z)})^4} d^2z d^2u. \end{split}$$

Since  $\rho P(\nu_r)$  is bounded on  $\mathbb{D}$ , and for  $\|\kappa\|_{\infty}$  sufficiently small  $(1/2)\rho \leq w_{\kappa}^* \rho \leq (3/2)\rho$ , we conclude that  $\rho R(P(\nu_r), \kappa)$  is also bounded on  $\mathbb{D}$ . As a result,

$$\iint_{\mathbb{D}} \left| \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \frac{(w_{\kappa})_{u}(u)^{2} \overline{P(\nu_{r})(z)(w_{\kappa})_{z}(z)^{2}}}{(1 - w_{\kappa}(u)\overline{w_{\kappa}(z)})^{4}} d^{2}z \right| d^{2}u$$

$$= \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \left| \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \frac{\overline{R(P(\nu_{r}), \kappa)(z)}}{(1 - u\overline{z})^{4}} d^{2}z \right| \frac{d^{2}u}{1 - |\kappa(u)|^{2}}$$

$$\leq C \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \frac{(1 - |z|^{2})^{2}}{|1 - u\overline{z}|^{4}} d^{2}z d^{2}u = \pi^{2}C < \infty.$$

It follows from part (ii) of Lemma 8.1 that

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{-}} \iint_{\mathbb{D}} P(R(P(\mu_{s}), \kappa)) \overline{P(R(P(\nu_{r}), \kappa))} \rho(z) d^{2}z$$

$$= \frac{12}{\pi} \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \frac{\mu(u)(w_{\kappa})_{u}(u)^{2} \overline{P(\nu_{r})(z)(w_{\kappa})_{z}(z)^{2}}}{(1 - w_{\kappa}(u)\overline{w_{\kappa}(z)})^{4}} d^{2}z d^{2}u$$

$$= \iint_{\mathbb{D}} P(R(\mu, \kappa)) \overline{P(R(P(\nu_{r}), \kappa))} \rho(z) d^{2}z.$$

Now

$$\iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}} P(R(\mu,\kappa)) \overline{P(R(P(\nu_r),\kappa))} \rho(z) d^2z$$

$$= \frac{144}{\pi^2} \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}} \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}_r} \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}} \frac{\mu(u)(w_{\kappa})_u(u)^2 \overline{\nu(v)(w_{\kappa})_z(z)^2}}{(1 - w_{\kappa}(u)\overline{w_{\kappa}(z)})^4 (1 - z\overline{v})^4} \rho(z)^{-1} d^2u d^2v d^2z$$

$$= \frac{144}{\pi^2} \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}_r} \lambda(v) \overline{\nu(v)} \rho(v) d^2v,$$

where

$$\lambda(v) = \rho(v)^{-1} \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \frac{\mu(u)(w_{\kappa})_{u}(u)^{2} \overline{(w_{\kappa})_{z}(z)^{2}} \rho(z)^{-1}}{(1 - w_{\kappa}(u) \overline{w_{\kappa}(z)})^{4} (1 - z\overline{v})^{4}} d^{2}u d^{2}z.$$

Since  $\mu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D},\Gamma)$  and  $w_{\kappa} \circ \Gamma \circ w_{\kappa}^{-1} = \Gamma_{\kappa} \subseteq \mathrm{PSU}(1,1)$ , it is easy to see that  $\lambda \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D},\Gamma)$ . Using Lemma 2.9, we get

$$\lim_{r \to 1^{-}} \frac{A(\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{D})}{A(\mathbb{D}_{r})} \iint_{\mathbb{D}} P(R(\mu, \kappa)) \overline{P(R(P(\nu_{r}), \kappa))} \rho(z) d^{2}z$$

$$= \frac{144}{\pi^{2}} \iint_{\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{D}} \lambda(v) \overline{\nu(v)} \rho(v) d^{2}v$$

$$= \frac{144}{\pi^{2}} \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \iint_{\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{D}} \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \frac{\mu(u)(w_{\kappa})_{u}(u)^{2} \overline{\nu(v)(w_{\kappa})_{z}(z)^{2}}}{(1 - w_{\kappa}(u) \overline{w_{\kappa}(z)})^{4} (1 - z\overline{v})^{4}} \rho(z)^{-1} d^{2}u d^{2}v d^{2}z$$

$$= \frac{144}{\pi^{2}} \iint_{\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{D}} \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \frac{\mu(u)(w_{\kappa})_{u}(u)^{2} \overline{\nu(v)(w_{\kappa})_{z}(z)^{2}}}{(1 - w_{\kappa}(u) \overline{w_{\kappa}(z)})^{4} (1 - z\overline{v})^{4}} \rho(z)^{-1} d^{2}u d^{2}v d^{2}z$$

$$= \iint_{\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{D}} P(R(\mu, \kappa)) \overline{P(R(\nu, \kappa))} \rho(z) d^{2}z,$$

where we have used the fact that the integrals above do not change if we let any one of the integration variables to range over  $\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{D}$  while others range over  $\mathbb{D}$  (cf. [Ahl62]). The latter property follows from the fact that  $\mu, \nu$  and  $\kappa$  are (-1,1) tensors for  $\Gamma$ , and the representation  $\mathbb{D} = \bigcup_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \gamma(\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{D})$ .

**Theorem 8.5.** For  $\mu, \nu, \kappa \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}, \Gamma)$ ,

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon} \Big|_{\varepsilon=0} g_{\mu\bar{\nu}}(\varepsilon\kappa) = 0,$$

$$\frac{\partial^2}{\partial \varepsilon \partial \bar{\varepsilon}} \Big|_{\varepsilon=0} g_{\mu\bar{\nu}}(\varepsilon\kappa) = (\mu\bar{\kappa}, G_{\Gamma}(\nu\bar{\kappa}))_{\Gamma} + (\mu\bar{\nu}, G_{\Gamma}(|\kappa|^2))_{\Gamma}.$$

*Proof.* We will use Lemma 8.4 and Theorems 7.4 and 7.7, provided one can interchange  $\frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon}$ ,  $\frac{\partial^2}{\partial \varepsilon \partial \bar{\varepsilon}}$  with the limits. This can be done as in [Ahl62] by showing that limits of corresponding derivatives converge uniformly on  $\varepsilon$  in a neighborhood of 0. We omit these standard arguments and concentrate on actual computations.

For the first variation of the Weil-Petersson metric we get

$$\left.\frac{\partial}{\partial\varepsilon}\right|_{\varepsilon=0}g_{\mu\bar{\nu}}(\varepsilon\kappa)=\lim_{r\to 1^{-}}\lim_{s\to 1^{-}}\frac{A(\Gamma\backslash\mathbb{D})}{A(\mathbb{D}_{r})}\left.\frac{\partial}{\partial\varepsilon}\right|_{\varepsilon=0}g_{P(\mu_{s})\overline{P(\nu_{r})}}(\varepsilon\kappa).$$

Since  $P(\mu_s), P(\nu_r) \in H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D})$ , we conclude from Theorem 7.4 that this is identically zero.

Similarly, for the second variation we have

$$\frac{\partial^2}{\partial \varepsilon \partial \bar{\varepsilon}} \bigg|_{\varepsilon=0} g_{\mu \bar{\nu}}(\varepsilon \kappa) = \lim_{r \to 1^-} \lim_{s \to 1^-} \frac{A(\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{D})}{A(\mathbb{D}_r)} \left. \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \varepsilon \partial \bar{\varepsilon}} \right|_{\varepsilon=0} g_{P(\mu_s) \overline{P(\nu_r)}}(\varepsilon \kappa).$$

Since  $P(\nu_r)$ ,  $P(\mu_s) \in H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D})$  and  $\kappa \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}, \Gamma) \subset \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D})$ , we get from Theorem 7.7<sup>7</sup>,

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \varepsilon \partial \bar{\varepsilon}} \bigg|_{\varepsilon = 0} g_{\mu \bar{\nu}}(\varepsilon \kappa) \\ = \lim_{r \to 1^-} \lim_{s \to 1^-} \frac{A(\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{D})}{A(\mathbb{D}_r)} \left( \left( P(\mu_s) \bar{\kappa}, G(P(\nu_r) \bar{\kappa}) \right) + \left( P(\mu_s) \overline{P(\nu_r)}, G(|\kappa|^2) \right) \right). \end{split}$$

By properties **RK2** and **RK4** in Section 2.4,

$$\iint_{\mathbb{D}} |G(P(\nu_r)\kappa)| |\kappa| \rho(z) d^2 z \le ||\kappa||_{\infty}^2 \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \iint_{\mathbb{D}} G(z,w) |P(\nu_r)(w)| \rho(z) \rho(w) d^2 w d^2 z$$
$$= ||\kappa||_{\infty}^2 \iint_{\mathbb{D}} |P(\nu_r)(w)| \rho(w) d^2 w < \infty,$$

and by property **RK3**  $G(|\kappa|^2)$  is bounded on  $\mathbb{D}$ , so that it follows from Lemma 8.1 that

$$\frac{\partial^2}{\partial \varepsilon \partial \bar{\varepsilon}} \bigg|_{\varepsilon=0} g_{\mu \bar{\nu}}(\varepsilon \kappa) = \lim_{r \to 1^-} \frac{A(\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{D})}{A(\mathbb{D}_r)} \left( \left( \mu \bar{\kappa}, G(P(\nu_r) \bar{\kappa}) \right) + \left( \mu \overline{P(\nu_r)}, G(|\kappa|^2) \right) \right).$$

We have

$$\left(\mu\bar{\kappa}, G(P(\nu_r)\bar{\kappa})\right) = \iint_{\mathbb{D}_r} \lambda_1(v)\overline{\nu(v)}\rho(v)d^2v,$$
$$\left(\mu\overline{P(\nu_r)}, G(|\kappa|^2)\right) = \iint_{\mathbb{D}_r} \lambda_2(v)\overline{\nu(v)}\rho(v)d^2v,$$

where

$$\lambda_{1}(v) = \frac{12}{\pi} \rho(v)^{-1} \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \frac{\mu(z) \overline{\kappa(z)} G(z, u) \kappa(u)}{(1 - u \bar{v})^{4}} \rho(z) d^{2}u d^{2}z,$$

$$\lambda_{2}(v) = \frac{12}{\pi} \rho(v)^{-1} \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \frac{\mu(z) G(z, u) |\kappa(u)|^{2}}{(1 - z \bar{v})^{4}} \rho(u) d^{2}u d^{2}z,$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>It is for this case that we need the condition  $\kappa \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D})$  in Theorem 7.7.

and  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}, \Gamma)$ . It follows from Lemma 2.9 that

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \varepsilon \partial \bar{\varepsilon}} \bigg|_{\varepsilon=0} g_{\mu \bar{\nu}}(\varepsilon \kappa) &= \iint_{\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{D}} \lambda_1(v) \overline{\nu(v)} \rho(v) d^2 v + \iint_{\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{D}} \lambda_2(v) \overline{\nu(v)} \rho(v) d^2 v \\ &= \frac{12}{\pi} \iiint_{\mathbb{D}} \iint_{\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{D}} \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \mu(z) \overline{\kappa(z)} G(z, u) \kappa(u) \frac{\overline{\nu(v)}}{(1 - u \bar{v})^4} \rho(z) d^2 u d^2 v d^2 z \\ &+ \frac{12}{\pi} \iiint_{\mathbb{D}} \iint_{\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{D}} \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \mu(z) G(z, u) |\kappa(u)|^2 \frac{\overline{\nu(v)}}{(1 - z \bar{v})^4} \rho(u) d^2 u d^2 v d^2 z \\ &= I_1 + I_2. \end{split}$$

As before, the integrals above do not change if we let any one of the integration variables to range over  $\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{D}$  while others range over  $\mathbb{D}$ . We have, using property **RK1**, (2.7) and (2.20),

$$\begin{split} I_1 &= \frac{12}{\pi} \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}} \iint\limits_{\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{D}} \mu(z) \overline{\kappa(z)} G(z,u) \kappa(u) \frac{\overline{\nu(v)}}{(1 - u \overline{v})^4} \rho(z) d^2 u d^2 v d^2 z \\ &= \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}} \iint\limits_{\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{D}} \mu(z) \overline{\kappa(z)} G(z,u) \kappa(u) \overline{\nu(u)} \rho(u) \rho(z) d^2 u d^2 z \\ &= \iint\limits_{\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{D}} \iint\limits_{\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{D}} \mu(z) \overline{\kappa(z)} G_{\Gamma}(z,u) \kappa(u) \overline{\nu(u)} \rho(u) \rho(z) d^2 u d^2 z \\ &= (\mu \overline{\kappa}, G_{\Gamma}(\nu \overline{\kappa}))_{\Gamma}. \end{split}$$

Similarly,

$$\begin{split} I_2 &= \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}} \iint\limits_{\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{D}} \mu(z) \overline{\nu(z)} G(z,u) \left| \kappa(u) \right|^2 \rho(u) \rho(z) d^2 u d^2 z \\ &= \iint\limits_{\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{D}} \iint\limits_{\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{D}} \mu(z) \overline{\nu(z)} G_{\Gamma}(z,u) \left| \kappa(u) \right|^2 \rho(u) \rho(z) d^2 u d^2 z \\ &= \left( \mu \bar{\nu}, G_{\Gamma}(|\kappa|^2) \right)_{\Gamma}, \end{split}$$

and the assertion follows.

Remark 8.6. Theorem 8.5 was proved by Wolpert [Wol86], and all results on Ricci, sectional, and scalar curvatures for finite-dimensional Teichmüller spaces follow from it.

We conclude this section by deriving a formula for Ricci tensor different from [Wol86], and indicating its application. Let  $\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_d$  be an orthonormal basis of  $\Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D},\Gamma)$ , which is a subspace of the Hilbert space  $L^2(\mathbb{D},\Gamma)$ of Beltrami differentials  $\mu$  for  $\Gamma$  such that  $|\mu| \in L^2(\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{D}, \rho(z)d^2z)$ . Let  $P: L^2(\mathbb{D}, \Gamma) \to \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}, \Gamma)$  be the orthogonal projector. It follows from the definition and representation (2.7) that P is an integral operator with kernel

$$P(z,w) = \sum_{n=1}^{d} \mu_n(z) \overline{\mu_n(w)} = \frac{12}{\pi} \rho(z)^{-1} \rho(w)^{-1} \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \frac{\gamma'(w)^2}{(1 - \bar{z}\gamma(w))^4}.$$

The Ricci tensor at the origin of  $T(\Gamma)$  is given by

$$(8.1) \quad \mathcal{R}_{\mu\bar{\nu}} = \sum_{n=1}^{d} R_{\mu\bar{\mu}_{n}\mu_{n}\bar{\nu}} = -\sum_{n=1}^{d} \left( \left( \mu\bar{\nu}, G_{\Gamma}(|\mu_{n}|^{2}) \right)_{\Gamma} + (\mu\bar{\mu}_{n}, G_{\Gamma}(\nu\bar{\mu}_{n}))_{\Gamma} \right)$$

$$= -\sum_{n=1}^{d} \left( \iint_{\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{D}} \iint_{\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{D}} \mu(z) \overline{\nu(z)} G_{\Gamma}(z, w) |\mu_{n}(w)|^{2} \rho(w) \rho(z) d^{2}w d^{2}z \right)$$

$$+ \iint_{\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{D}} \iint_{\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{D}} \mu(z) \overline{\mu_{n}(z)} G_{\Gamma}(z, w) \mu_{n}(w) \overline{\nu(w)} \rho(w) \rho(z) d^{2}w d^{2}z \right)$$

$$= -\frac{12}{\pi} \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \iint_{\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{D}} \mu(z) \overline{\nu(z)} G(z, w) \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \frac{\gamma'(w)^{2}}{(1 - \bar{w}\gamma(w))^{4}} \rho(w)^{-1} \rho(z) d^{2}w d^{2}z$$

$$-\frac{12}{\pi} \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \mu(z) \overline{\nu(w)} G(z, w) \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \frac{\gamma'(z)^{2}}{(1 - \bar{w}\gamma(z))^{4}} d^{2}w d^{2}z,$$

where nothing is changed if we let any of the integration variables to range over  $\Gamma\backslash\mathbb{D}$  while other range over  $\mathbb{D}$ .

It is instructive to compare the Ricci curvatures of the finite-dimensional Teichmüller space  $T(\Gamma)$  and that of the universal Teichmüller space T(1).

First,  $T(\Gamma)$  is no longer a Kähler-Einstein manifold. Second, the sum over  $\Gamma$  in (8.1) can be transformed into a sum over the conjugacy classes of  $\Gamma$ . As is in [TZ91], using variational formulas for the Selberg zeta-function, we find that the contribution of the hyperbolic conjugacy classes is the second variation of the Selberg zeta-function at s=2. The contribution of parabolic conjugacy classes (if they are present) yields a new Kähler metric on  $T(\Gamma)$ , introduced in [TZ91]. The contribution of the identity element, as it follows from Theorem 7.11, is

$$-\frac{3}{4\pi} \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}} \iint\limits_{\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{D}} \mu(z) \overline{\nu(z)} G(z,w) \rho(w) \rho(z) d^2w d^2z$$

$$-\frac{12}{\pi} \iint\limits_{\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{D}} \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}} \mu(z) \overline{\nu(w)} G(z,w) \frac{1}{(1-z\bar{w})^4} d^2w d^2z = -\frac{13}{12\pi} (\mu,\nu)_{\Gamma}.$$

As a result, we obtain a local index theorem for families of  $\bar{\partial}$ -operators acting on quadratic differentials on Riemann surfaces, proved in [TZ91].

The above arguments interpret it as an "averaged form" of Theorem 7.11. Detailed derivation of the local index theorem for families from (8.1) will be presented elsewhere.

## APPENDIX A.

Here we prove that the connected component  $T_0(1)$  of  $0 \in T(1)$  in the Hilbert manifold topology is the inverse image of  $\beta(T(1)) \cap A_2(\mathbb{D})$  under the Bers embedding, and that  $T_0(1)$  and  $T_0(1) = \pi^{-1}(T_0(1))$  are topological groups.

It follows from Theorem 3.13 that to prove  $T_0(1) = \beta^{-1}(\beta(T(1)) \cap A_2(\mathbb{D}))$ , it is sufficient to show that  $\beta(T(1)) \cap A_2(\mathbb{D})$  is connected.

**Theorem A.1.** The submanifold  $\beta(T(1)) \cap A_2(\mathbb{D})$  of  $\beta(T(1))$  is connected in the Hilbert manifold topology of  $\beta(T(1))$ .

Proof. First, in the Hilbert manifold topology the set  $\beta(\text{M\"ob}(S^1) \setminus \text{Diff}_+(S^1))$  is dense in  $\beta(T(1)) \cap A_2(\mathbb{D})$ . Indeed, since  $\beta(T(1)) \cap A_2(\mathbb{D})$  is open in  $A_2(\mathbb{D})$ , for every  $\phi \in \beta(T(1)) \cap A_2(\mathbb{D})$  there exists  $\delta$  such that  $\tilde{\phi} \in \beta(T(1)) \cap A_2(\mathbb{D})$  for all  $\tilde{\phi}$  satisfying  $\|\tilde{\phi} - \phi\|_2 < \delta$ . Since  $\phi(z) = \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} (k^3 - k) a_k z^{k-2} \in A_2(\mathbb{D})$ , for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  there exists  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $\frac{\pi}{2} \sum_{k=N+1}^{\infty} (k^3 - k) |a_k|^2 < \frac{1}{n^2}$ , so that for  $\phi_n(z) = \sum_{k=2}^N (k^3 - k) a_k z^{k-2}$  we have  $\|\phi_n - \phi\|_2 < \frac{1}{n}$ . Thus for  $\frac{1}{n} < \delta$  there exists  $\gamma_n = g_n^{-1} \circ f_n \in \text{M\"ob}(S^1) \setminus \text{Homeo}_{qs}(S^1)$  such that  $S(f_n) = \phi_n$ . Since  $\phi_n$  is analytic on an open domain containing  $\mathbb{D} \cup S^1$ , so is the function  $f_n$  and, consequently,  $f_n(S^1)$  is an analytic curve. Hence  $\gamma_n|_{S^1}$  is smooth and  $\phi_n \in \beta(\text{M\"ob}(S^1) \setminus \text{Diff}_+(S^1))$ .

Secondly, the inclusion

$$\text{M\"ob}(S^1) \setminus \text{Diff}_+(S^1) \hookrightarrow T(1)$$

is a continuous mapping between the Frechet and Hilbert manifolds. Since the Frechet manifold  $\text{M\"ob}(S^1)\backslash \text{Diff}_+(S^1)$  is connected, its image in the Hilbert manifold T(1) is also connected. Finally, since Bers embedding is a continuous mapping (actually biholomorphic) and the closure of a connected set is connected, we conclude that  $\beta(T(1)) \cap A_2(\mathbb{D})$  is connected in  $\beta(T(1))$ .

Corollary A.2. The Hilbert submanifold  $T_0(1)$  of T(1) is characterized by  $T_0(1) = \{ [\mu] \in T(1) : \beta([\mu]) \in A_2(\mathbb{D}) \}$ .

Next we prove that the Hilbert manifold  $T_0(1)$  is a topological group.

**Lemma A.3.** Every  $[\mu] \in T_0(1)$  has a representative  $\mu \in L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z) \cap \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$ .

*Proof.* First observe that  $L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z) \cap \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  is a subgroup of  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$ . Indeed, let  $\lambda, \nu \in L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z) \cap \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$ . Setting  $\mu = \nu^{-1}$  and  $\lambda_1 = \lambda, \lambda_2 = \nu$  in Lemma 3.7, we get

$$\|\lambda * \nu^{-1}\|_2 < C\|\lambda - \nu\|_2 < \infty.$$

Denote by  $B_{\alpha}$  the ball of radius  $\alpha$  about the origin in  $A_2(\mathbb{D})$ , where  $\alpha < \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{3}} \delta$  and  $\delta$  is defined in Corollary 3.6, and let  $W_0 = (\Phi \circ \Lambda)(\beta(V_0) \cap B_{\alpha})$ . By definition,  $W_0 \subset T_0(1)$  and every  $[\mu] \in W_0$  has a representative  $\mu \in L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z) \cap \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$ . For every  $\nu \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  set  $W_{\nu} = R_{[\nu]}(W_0)$ .

For every  $[\mu] \in T_0(1)$  let  $[0,1] \ni t \mapsto [\mu(t)] \in T_0(1)$  be a path in  $T_0(1)$  joining 0 to  $[\mu]$ . By definition of the Hilbert manifold structure on T(1) (see Section 3.3), there exist  $0 = t_0 < t_1 < \ldots < t_n = 1$  and  $W_i = W_{\mu(t_i)} \subset T_0(1)$ , which cover the path and such that  $W_{i-1} \cap W_i \neq \emptyset$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, n$ . We will prove by induction that each  $[\mu(t_i)]$  has a representative  $\mu_i \in L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z) \cap \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$ . For  $1 \leq i \leq n$ , choose  $[\nu_i] \in W_{i-1} \cap W_i$ . Since  $[\nu_1] \in W_0$ , it has a representative  $\nu_1 \in L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z) \cap \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$ . On the other hand, since  $[\nu_1] \in W_1$ ,  $[\nu_1] = [\lambda * \mu(t_1)]$  for some  $\lambda \in L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z) \cap \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$ . Hence  $[\mu(t_1)]$  has a representative  $\mu_1 = \lambda^{-1} * \nu_1 \in L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z) \cap \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$ . Now suppose that  $[\mu(t_{i-1})]$  has a representative  $\mu_{i-1} \in L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z) \cap \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$ . Since  $[\nu_i] \in W_{i-1} \cap W_i$ , there exist  $[\lambda_1], [\lambda_2] \in W_0$  such that  $[\nu_i] = [\lambda_1 * \mu(t_{i-1})] = [\lambda_2 * \mu(t_i)]$ . From the first equality it follows that  $[\nu_i]$  has a representative  $\nu_i \in L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z) \cap \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$ , and the second equality implies that  $[\mu(t_i)]$  has a representative  $\mu_i \in L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z) \cap \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$ . The assertion follows.

# **Lemma A.4.** $T_0(1)$ is a subgroup of T(1).

Proof. Every  $[\lambda] \in T_0(1)$  has a representative  $\lambda \in L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z) \cap \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$ . Using Lemma 3.9 with  $\mu = \lambda^{-1}$  we get by Corollary A.2 that  $[\lambda^{-1}] \in T_0(1)$ . Now let  $[\nu] \in T_0(1)$  with a representative  $\nu \in L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z) \cap \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$ . Using again Lemma 3.9 with  $\mu = \nu$  we get that  $[\lambda * \nu] \in T_0(1)$ .

The following lemmas and corollary are needed for the proof that  $T_0(1)$  is a topological group. For every  $[\mu] \in T(1)$  let

$$L_{[\mu]}: T(1) \to T(1), \quad [\nu] \mapsto [\mu * \nu],$$

be the left translation by  $[\mu]$ .

**Lemma A.5.** Left translations are continuous on  $T_0(1)$ .

*Proof.* Let  $[\mu], [\kappa] \in T_0(1)$  with representatives  $\mu, \kappa \in L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z) \cap \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$ , and let  $V_{\kappa}$  and  $V_{\mu*\kappa}$  be coordinate charts introduced in Section 3.3. In terms of corresponding Bers coordinates the mapping  $L_{[\mu]}$  takes the form

$$\beta \circ \Phi \circ R_{(\mu * \kappa)^{-1}} \circ L_{\mu} \circ R_{\kappa} \circ \Lambda : \beta(V_0) \subset A_2(\mathbb{D}) \to A_2(\mathbb{D}).$$

Since left translations commute with right translations, it simplifies to

$$\beta \circ \Phi \circ R_{\mu^{-1}} \circ L_{\mu} \circ \Lambda : \beta(V_0) \subset A_2(\mathbb{D}) \to A_2(\mathbb{D}),$$

which does not depend on  $[\kappa]$ . Thus to show that  $L_{[\mu]}$  is continuous at  $[\kappa] \in T_0(1)$  it is sufficient to show that the above mapping is continuous at

 $0 \in A_2(\mathbb{D})$ . From Lemma 3.7 it follows that the mapping

$$R_{\mu^{-1}}: L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z) \cap L^\infty(\mathbb{D}^*)_1 \to L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z) \cap L^\infty(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$$

is continuous at  $\mu$ , and from Lemma 3.9 it follows that the mapping

$$\beta \circ \Phi : L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z) \cap L^\infty(\mathbb{D}^*)_1 \to A_2(\mathbb{D})$$

is continuous at 0. What remains to show is that the mapping

$$L_{\mu}: H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1 \to L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z),$$

$$\nu \mapsto \mu * \nu = \frac{(\mu \circ w_{\nu})\frac{\overline{(w_{\nu})_z}}{\overline{(w_{\nu})_z}} + \nu}{1 + (\mu \circ w_{\nu})\bar{\nu}\frac{\overline{(w_{\nu})_z}}{\overline{(w_{\nu})_z}}}$$

is continuous at 0.

For  $\nu \in H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{D}^*) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$  we have

$$L_{\mu}(\nu) - L_{\mu}(0) = \frac{(\mu \circ w_{\nu}) \frac{\overline{(w_{\nu})_z}}{\overline{(w_{\nu})_z}} - \mu + \nu - (\mu \circ w_{\nu}) \mu \overline{\nu} \frac{\overline{(w_{\nu})_z}}{\overline{(w_{\nu})_z}}}{1 + (\mu \circ w_{\nu}) \overline{\nu} \frac{\overline{(w_{\nu})_z}}{\overline{(w_{\nu})_z}}}.$$

Since  $\mu \in L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z)$ , for every  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists 0 < r < 1 such that

$$\iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}\backslash\mathbb{D}_r} |\mu|^2 \rho(z) d^2z < \frac{\varepsilon^2}{16}.$$

It follows from Mori's theorem (see, e.g., [Ahl87]) that for every  $0 < \delta_1 < 1$  there exists  $0 < r_0 < 1$  such that for all  $\|\nu\|_{\infty} < \delta_1$  and  $r_0 \le r < 1$ ,

$$w_{\nu}(\mathbb{D}\setminus\mathbb{D}_{r'})\subset\mathbb{D}\setminus\mathbb{D}_{r}, \text{ for all } r'\geq\frac{1+r}{2}.$$

Hence if  $\|\nu\|_{\infty} < \min\{\delta, \delta_1\}$ , where  $\delta$  is as in Corollary 3.6, we have

$$\iint_{\mathbb{D}} \left| \mu \circ w_{\nu} \frac{\overline{(w_{\nu})_{z}}}{\overline{(w_{\nu})_{z}}} - \mu \right|^{2} \rho(z) d^{2}z \leq 2 \iint_{\mathbb{D}\backslash\mathbb{D}_{r'}} \left| \mu \circ w_{\nu} \frac{\overline{(w_{\nu})_{z}}}{\overline{(w_{\nu})_{z}}} \right|^{2} \rho(z) d^{2}z$$

$$+2 \iint_{\mathbb{D}\backslash\mathbb{D}_{r'}} |\mu|^{2} \rho(z) d^{2}z + \iint_{\mathbb{D}_{r'}} \left| \mu \circ w_{\nu} \frac{\overline{(w_{\nu})_{z}}}{\overline{(w_{\nu})_{z}}} - \mu \right|^{2} \rho(z) d^{2}z$$

$$\leq \frac{3\varepsilon^{2}}{8} + \iint_{\mathbb{D}} \left| \mu \circ w_{\nu} \frac{\overline{(w_{\nu})_{z}}}{\overline{(w_{\nu})_{z}}} - \mu \right|^{2} \rho(z) d^{2}z.$$

Since  $w_{\nu}(z) \to z$ ,  $(w_{\nu})_z(z) \to 1$  as  $\|\nu\|_{\infty} \to 0$  uniformly for all  $z \in \mathbb{D}_{r'}$ , we can choose  $\delta_2$  such that for all  $\|\nu\|_{\infty} < \delta_2$ , the second integral is less than

 $\frac{\varepsilon^2}{8}$ . Finally, let  $\delta_3 \leq \sqrt{\frac{4\pi}{3}} \min\{\delta, \delta_1, \delta_2\}$ , then for all  $\|\nu\|_2 < \delta_3$ , we have

$$||L_{\mu}(\nu) - L_{\mu}(0)||_{2} < \frac{1}{1 - \sqrt{\frac{3}{4\pi}} \delta_{3}} \left(\frac{\varepsilon}{\sqrt{2}} + 2\delta_{3}\right),$$

which is less than  $\varepsilon$  for  $\delta_3$  sufficiently small.

Notice that what we actually prove is the following

Corollary A.6. For every  $[\mu] \in T_0(1)$  the adjoint mapping

$$T_0(1) \ni [\nu] \mapsto [\mu * \nu * \mu^{-1}] \in T_0(1)$$

is continuous at the origin.

**Lemma A.7.** The following statements hold.

- (i) The inverse mapping  $T_0(1) \ni [\mu] \mapsto [\mu^{-1}] \in T_0(1)$  is continuous at the origin.
- (ii) The group multiplication  $T_0(1) \times T_0(1) \ni ([\mu], [\nu]) \mapsto [\mu * \nu] \in T_0(1)$  is continuous at the origin.

*Proof.* In coordinate chart  $V_0$  the inverse mapping takes the form

$$A_2(\mathbb{D}) \supset \beta(V_0) \ni \phi \mapsto \beta \circ \Phi((\Lambda \phi)^{-1}) \in A_2(\mathbb{D}).$$

By Lemma 3.9, it is continuous at 0. This proves (i). In coordinate chart  $V_0$  the group multiplication takes the form

$$\beta(V_0)\times\beta(V_0)\ni(\phi_1,\phi_2)\mapsto\beta\circ\Phi(\Lambda(\phi_1)*\Lambda(\phi_2))\in A_2(\mathbb{D}).$$

Its continuity at  $(0,0) \in A_2(\mathbb{D}) \times A_2(\mathbb{D})$  follows from Lemma 3.9 and the proof of Lemma A.5.

**Theorem A.8.** The Hilbert manifold  $T_0(1)$  is a topological group.

*Proof.* We need to prove that the map

$$T_0(1) \times T_0(1) \ni ([\mu], [\nu]) \mapsto [\mu * \nu^{-1}] \in T_0(1)$$

is continuous at every point  $([\mu], [\nu]) \in T_0(1) \times T_0(1)$  with representatives  $\mu, \nu \in L^2(\mathbb{D}^*, \rho(z)d^2z) \cap \mathcal{O}(\mathbb{D}^*)_1$ . In coordinate charts  $V_{\mu}, V_{\nu}$  and  $V_{\kappa}$ , where  $\kappa = \mu * \nu^{-1}$ , this map takes the form

$$\beta(V_0) \times \beta(V_0) \ni (\phi_1, \phi_2) \mapsto \beta \circ \Phi(\Lambda(\phi_1) * \kappa * \Lambda(\phi_2)^{-1} * \kappa^{-1}) \in A_2(\mathbb{D}).$$

Its continuity at  $(0,0) \in A_2(\mathbb{D}) \times A_2(\mathbb{D})$  follows from Corollary A.6, Lemma A.7 and Lemma 3.9.

Finally, we show that  $\mathcal{T}_0(1)$  is also a topological group.

**Proposition A.9.** The Hilbert manifold  $\mathcal{T}_0(1)$  is a topological group.

*Proof.* We have to prove that the multiplication map

$$\mathcal{T}_0(1) \times \mathcal{T}_0(1) \ni (\gamma_1, \gamma_2) \mapsto \gamma_1 * \gamma_2^{-1} \in \mathcal{T}_0(1)$$

is continuous. Setting  $\gamma_1 = ([\nu], \zeta)$  and  $\gamma_2 = ([\mu], w)$ , we get from (2.13) that  $\gamma_1 * \gamma_2^{-1} = ([\lambda], z)$ , where

$$\lambda = (\sigma_u^{-1})^* (\nu * \mu^{-1}), \quad z = (w^{\lambda} \circ \gamma_1 \circ (w^{\nu})^{-1})(\zeta),$$

and

$$\gamma_2 = \sigma_u \circ w_\mu = g_\mu^{-1} \circ f^\mu, \quad u = g_\mu^{-1}(w).$$

It easily follows from the proof of Lemma A.5 that the mapping

$$\text{M\"ob}(S^1) \times T(1) \ni (\sigma, [\mu]) \mapsto [(\sigma^{-1})^*(\mu)] \in T(1)$$

is continuous. Now the map  $\mathcal{T}(1) \ni ([\mu], w) \mapsto g_{\mu}^{-1}(w) \in \mathbb{D}^*$  depends continuously on  $[\mu]$  (uniformly when w varies on compact subsets), so using that  $T_0(1)$  is a topological group, we conclude that  $[\lambda] \in T_0(1)$  depends continuously on  $\gamma_1, \gamma_2 \in \mathcal{T}_0(1)$ . Finally, by the result of Bers [Ber73] (which we already have used in the proof of Lemma 5.4) we get that  $z \in \mathbb{D}^*$  also depends continuously on  $\gamma_1$  and  $\gamma_2$ .

### Appendix B.

Here we prove Lemma 7.8. Using the model  $\mathbb{H} \simeq \mathbb{U}$  and (2.25), we get for the second variation of Q,

$$\frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial \varepsilon \partial \bar{\varepsilon}} \bigg|_{\varepsilon=0} Q(\mu, \varepsilon \nu)(z) 
= \frac{24}{\pi^{3}} \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \frac{\rho(z)^{-1} \mu(w) \overline{\nu(u)} \nu(v) d^{2}v d^{2}u d^{2}w}{(w-v)^{2}(v-\bar{z})^{2}(w-\bar{u})^{2}(\bar{u}-\bar{z})^{2}} 
+ \frac{24}{\pi^{3}} \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \frac{\rho(z)^{-1} \mu(w) \overline{\nu(u)} \nu(v) d^{2}v d^{2}u d^{2}w}{(w-\bar{z})^{2}(w-v)^{2}(v-\bar{u})^{2}(\bar{u}-\bar{z})^{2}} 
+ \frac{24}{\pi^{3}} \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \frac{\rho(z)^{-1} \mu(w) \overline{\nu(u)} \nu(v) d^{2}v d^{2}u d^{2}w}{(w-\bar{z})^{2}(w-\bar{u})^{2}(v-\bar{u})^{2}(v-\bar{z})^{2}} 
- \mu(z) \rho^{-1}(z) \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial \varepsilon \partial \bar{\varepsilon}} \bigg|_{\varepsilon=0} \rho^{\varepsilon \nu}(z) = I_{1}(z) + I_{2}(z) + I_{3}(z) + I_{4}(z).$$

Using Proposition 6.3 and property **RK3**, we immediately get that  $I_4 \in L^2(\mathbb{U}, \rho(z)d^2z)$ . Now using the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, the identity

$$\iint\limits_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{d^2w}{|w - \bar{z}|^4} = \frac{\pi}{4}\rho(z),$$

and the property that the Hilbert transform is an isometry on  $L^2(\mathbb{C},d^2z),$  we get

$$||I_{1}||_{2}^{2} = \frac{24^{2}}{\pi^{6}} \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \left| \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \frac{\mu(w)\overline{\nu(u)}\nu(v)d^{2}vd^{2}ud^{2}w}{(w-v)^{2}(v-\bar{z})^{2}(w-\bar{u})^{2}(\bar{u}-\bar{z})^{2}} \right|^{2} \rho(z)^{-1}d^{2}z$$

$$\leq \frac{24^{2}}{\pi^{6}} \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \left( \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \frac{\rho(z)^{-1}|\nu(v)|^{2}d^{2}v}{|v-\bar{z}|^{4}} \right)$$

$$\times \left( \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \left| \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \frac{\mu(w)\overline{\nu(u)}d^{2}ud^{2}w}{(w-v)^{2}(w-\bar{u})^{2}(\bar{u}-\bar{z})^{2}} \right|^{2} d^{2}v \right) d^{2}z$$

$$\leq \frac{12^{2}\|\nu\|_{\infty}^{2}}{\pi^{5}} \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \left| \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \frac{\mu(w)\overline{\nu(u)}d^{2}ud^{2}w}{(w-v)^{2}(w-\bar{u})^{2}(\bar{u}-\bar{z})^{2}} \right|^{2} d^{2}v d^{2}z$$

$$\leq \frac{12^{2}\|\nu\|_{\infty}^{2}}{\pi^{3}} \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} |\mu(v)|^{2} \left| \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \frac{\nu(u)d^{2}u}{(u-\bar{v})^{2}(u-z)^{2}} \right|^{2} d^{2}z d^{2}v \leq 36\|\nu\|_{\infty}^{4} \|\mu\|_{2}^{2}.$$

Similarly, denoting by  $\overline{\mathbb{U}}$  the lower half-plane,

$$||I_{3}||_{2}^{2} = \frac{24^{2}}{\pi^{6}} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \left| \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \frac{\mu(w)\overline{\nu(u)}\nu(v)d^{2}vd^{2}ud^{2}w}{(w - \bar{z})^{2}(w - \bar{u})^{2}(v - \bar{z})^{2}} \right|^{2} \rho(z)^{-1}d^{2}z$$

$$\leq \frac{12^{2} ||\nu||_{\infty}^{2}}{\pi^{5}} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \frac{\mu(w)\overline{\nu(u)}d^{2}ud^{2}w}{(w - \bar{z})^{2}(w - \bar{u})^{2}(v - \bar{u})^{2}} d^{2}vd^{2}z$$

$$= \frac{12^{2} ||\nu||_{\infty}^{2}}{\pi^{5}} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \frac{\mu(w)\overline{\nu(u)}d^{2}ud^{2}w}{(w - \bar{z})^{2}(w - \bar{u})^{2}(\bar{v} - \bar{u})^{2}} d^{2}vd^{2}z$$

$$\leq \frac{12^{2} ||\nu||_{\infty}^{2}}{\pi^{3}} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} ||\nu(v)|^{2} \left| \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \frac{\mu(w)d^{2}w}{(w - \bar{z})^{2}(w - \bar{v})^{2}} \right|^{2} d^{2}vd^{2}z$$

$$\leq \frac{12^{2} ||\nu||_{\infty}^{4}}{\pi} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} ||\mu(v)|^{2} \left| \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \frac{\mu(w)d^{2}w}{(w - \bar{z})^{2}(w - \bar{v})^{2}} \right|^{2} d^{2}vd^{2}z$$

$$\leq \frac{12^{2} ||\nu||_{\infty}^{4}}{\pi} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \frac{|\mu(v)|^{2}}{|v - \bar{z}|^{4}} d^{2}vd^{2}z = 36 ||\nu||_{\infty}^{4} ||\mu||_{2}^{2}.$$

For the term  $I_2$  we use the same identity as in the proof of Proposition 6.3<sup>8</sup>

$$\frac{1}{(v-\bar{u})^2(\bar{u}-\bar{z})^2} = \frac{(v-z)^2}{(v-\bar{z})^2(z-\bar{u})^2(v-\bar{u})^2} + \frac{2(v-z)^2(z-\bar{z})}{(v-\bar{z})^3(v-\bar{u})(z-\bar{u})^3} + \frac{(z-\bar{z})^2}{(v-\bar{z})^2(z-\bar{u})^2(\bar{u}-\bar{z})^2} + \frac{2(z-\bar{z})^2(v-z)}{(v-\bar{z})^3(\bar{u}-\bar{z})(\bar{u}-z)^3}.$$

As in the proof of Proposition 6.3, the last two terms do not contribute to  $I_2$ , and we obtain

$$I_{2}(z) = \frac{24}{\pi^{3}} \rho^{-1}(z) \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \frac{\mu(w)\nu(v)\overline{\nu(u)}(v-z)^{2}d^{2}vd^{2}ud^{2}w}{(w-\bar{z})^{2}(w-v)^{2}(v-\bar{z})^{2}(z-\bar{u})^{2}(v-\bar{u})^{2}}$$

$$+ \frac{48}{\pi^{3}} \rho^{-1}(z) \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \frac{\mu(w)\nu(v)\overline{\nu(u)}(v-z)^{2}(z-\bar{z})d^{2}vd^{2}ud^{2}w}{(w-\bar{z})^{2}(w-v)^{2}(v-\bar{z})^{3}(z-\bar{u})^{3}(v-\bar{u})}$$

$$= I_{5}(z) + I_{6}(z).$$

The  $L^2$ -norm of  $I_5$  is estimated exactly as before and we get  $||I_5||_2^2 \le 36||\nu||_{\infty}^4 ||\mu||_2^2$ . Finally,

$$||I_{6}||_{2}^{2} = \frac{48^{2}}{\pi^{6}} \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \frac{\mu(w)\nu(v)\overline{\nu(u)}(v-z)^{2}(z-\bar{z})d^{2}vd^{2}ud^{2}w}{(w-\bar{z})^{2}(w-v)^{2}(v-\bar{z})^{3}(z-\bar{u})^{3}(v-\bar{u})} \Big|^{2} \rho(z)^{-1}d^{2}z$$

$$\leq \frac{24^{2}\|\nu\|_{\infty}^{2}}{\pi^{5}} \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \frac{|z-\bar{z}|^{2}}{|u-\bar{z}|^{2}} \Big| \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \frac{\mu(w)\nu(v)(v-z)^{2}d^{2}vd^{2}w}{(w-\bar{z})^{2}(w-v)^{2}(v-\bar{z})^{3}(v-\bar{u})} \Big|^{2} d^{2}ud^{2}z$$

$$\leq \frac{24^{2}\|\nu\|_{\infty}^{2}}{\pi^{5}} \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \left( \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \left| \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \frac{\mu(w)d^{2}w}{(w-\bar{z})^{2}(w-v)^{2}} \right|^{2} d^{2}v \right)$$

$$\left( \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \frac{|z-\bar{z}|^{2}}{|u-\bar{z}|^{2}} \iiint_{\mathbb{U}} \frac{|\nu(v)|^{2}|v-z|^{4}}{|v-\bar{z}|^{6}|v-\bar{u}|^{2}} d^{2}vd^{2}u \right) d^{2}z.$$

Making a change of variables  $\frac{v-z}{v-\bar{z}} \mapsto v$  and  $\frac{u-z}{u-\bar{z}} \mapsto u$ , we obtain

$$\begin{split} &\iint\limits_{\mathbb{U}} \frac{|z-\bar{z}|^2}{|u-\bar{z}|^2} \iint\limits_{\mathbb{U}} \frac{|\nu(v)|^2 |v-z|^4}{|v-\bar{z}|^6 |v-\bar{u}|^2} d^2v d^2u & \leq \|\nu\|_{\infty}^2 \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}} \iint\limits_{\mathbb{D}} \frac{|v|^4}{|1-v\bar{u}|^2} d^2v d^2u \\ & = \frac{3\pi^2}{4} \|\nu\|_{\infty}^2. \end{split}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>We could estimate  $I_2$  in the same way as  $I_1$  If  $\nu \in H^{-1,1}(\mathbb{U})$ . However, for Theorem 8.5 we only have  $\nu \in \Omega^{-1,1}(\mathbb{U})$ .

Hence

$$||I_6||_2^2 \le \frac{3 \cdot 12^2 ||\nu||_{\infty}^4}{\pi} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \iint_{\mathbb{U}} \frac{|\mu(v)|^2}{|v - \bar{z}|^4} d^2v d^2z = 108 ||\nu||_{\infty}^4 ||\mu||_2^2.$$

#### References

- [AB60] Lars Ahlfors and Lipman Bers, Riemann's mapping theorem for variable metrics, Ann. of Math. (2) **72** (1960), 385–404.
- [Ahl61] Lars V. Ahlfors, Some remarks on Teichmüller's space of Riemann surfaces, Ann. of Math. (2) **74** (1961), 171–191.
- [Ahl62] \_\_\_\_\_, Curvature properties of Teichmüller's space, J. Analyse Math. 9 (1961/1962), 161–176.
- [Ahl87] \_\_\_\_\_, Lectures on quasiconformal mappings, Wadsworth & Brooks/Cole Advanced Books & Software, Monterey, CA, 1987, With the assistance of Clifford J. Earle, Jr., Reprint of the 1966 original.
- [Ber65] L Bers, Automorphic forms and general Teichmüller spaces, Proc. Conf. Complex Analysis (Minneapolis, 1964), Springer, Berlin, 1965, pp. 109–113.
- [Ber66] Lipman Bers, A non-standard integral equation with applications to quasiconformal mappings, Acta Math. 116 (1966), 113–134.
- [Ber72] \_\_\_\_\_, Uniformization, moduli and Kleinian groups, Bull. London. Math. Soc. 4 (1972), 257–300.
- [Ber73] \_\_\_\_\_, Fiber spaces over Teichmüller spaces, Acta. Math. 130 (1973), 89–126.
- [Bou67] N. Bourbaki, Éléments de mathématique. Fasc. XXXIII. Variétés différentielles et analytiques. Fascicule de résultats (Paragraphes 1 à 7), Actualités Scientifiques et Industrielles, No. 1333, Hermann, Paris, 1967.
- [BR87a] M. J. Bowick and S. G. Rajeev, The holomorphic geometry of closed bosonic string theory and Diff  $S^1/S^1$ , Nuclear Phys. B **293** (1987), no. 2, 348–384.
- [BR87b] \_\_\_\_\_, String theory as the Kähler geometry of loop space, Phys. Rev. Lett. **58** (1987), no. 6, 535–538.
- [DE86] Adrien Douady and Clifford J. Earle, Conformally natural extension of homeomorphisms of the circle, Acta Math. 157 (1986), no. 1-2, 23-48.
- [EN88] Clifford J. Earle and Subhashis Nag, Conformally natural reflections in Jordan curves with applications to Teichmüller spaces, Holomorphic functions and moduli, Vol. II (Berkeley, CA, 1986), Math. Sci. Res. Inst. Publ., vol. 11, Springer, New York, 1988, pp. 179–194.
- [Hej76] Dennis A. Hejhal, The Selberg trace formula for PSL(2, R). Vol. I, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1976, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 548.
- [Kir87] A. A. Kirillov, Kähler structure on the K-orbits of a group of diffeomorphisms of the circle, Funktsional. Anal. i Prilozhen. 21 (1987), no. 2, 42–45.
- [KY87] A. A. Kirillov and D. V. Yur'ev, Kähler geometry of the infinite-dimensional homogeneous space  $M = \text{diff}_+(S^1)/\text{rot}(S^1)$ , Funktsional. Anal. i Prilozhen. **21** (1987), no. 4, 35–46, 96.
- [Lan85] Serge Lang,  $SL_2(\mathbf{R})$ , Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 105, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1985, Reprint of the 1975 edition.
- [Lan95] \_\_\_\_\_, Differential and Riemannian manifolds, third ed., Springer-Verlag, New York, 1995.
- [Leh87] Olli Lehto, Univalent functions and Teichmüller spaces, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1987.
- [Nag88] Subhashis Nag, The complex analytic theory of Teichmüller spaces, John Wiley & Sons Inc., New York, 1988, A Wiley-Interscience Publication.
- [NV90] Subhashis Nag and Alberto Verjovsky,  $diff(S^1)$  and the Teichmüller spaces, Comm. Math. Phys. **130** (1990), no. 1, 123–138.

- [Pat75] S. J. Patterson, A lattice-point problem in hyperbolic space, Mathematika 22 (1975), no. 1, 81–88.
- [Roy75] H. L. Royden, Intrinsic metrics on Teichmüller space, Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians (Vancouver, B. C., 1974), Vol. 2, Canad. Math. Congress, Montreal, Que., 1975, pp. 217–221.
- [STZ99] Maria E. Schonbek, Andrey N. Todorov, and Jorge P. Zubelli, Geodesic flows on diffeomorphisms of the circle, Grassmannians, and the geometry of the periodic KdV equation, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 3 (1999), no. 4, 1027–1092.
- [Teo02] Lee-Peng Teo, Velling-Kirillov metric on the universal Teichmüller curve, Preprint arXiv: math.CV/0206202 (2002).
- [TZ91] L. A. Takhtajan and P. G. Zograf, A local index theorem for families of  $\overline{\partial}$ operators on punctured Riemann surfaces and a new Kähler metric on their
  moduli spaces, Comm. Math. Phys. 137 (1991), no. 2, 399–426.
- [Vel] John A. Velling, A projectively natural metric on Teichmüller's spaces, unpublished manuscript.
- [Wol86] Scott A. Wolpert, Chern forms and the Riemann tensor for the moduli space of curves, Invent. Math. 85 (1986), no. 1, 119–145.
- [YB53] K. Yano and S. Bochner, Curvature and Betti numbers, Annals of Mathematics Studies, No. 32, Princeton University Press, Princeton, N. J., 1953.

Department of Mathematics, Stony Brook University, Stony Brook, NY 11794-3651, USA

 $E ext{-}mail\ address: leontak@math.sunysb.edu}$ 

DEPARTMENT OF APPLIED MATHEMATICS, NATIONAL CHIAO TUNG UNIVERSITY, 1001, TA-HSUEH ROAD, HSINCHU CITY, 30050, TAIWAN, R.O.C.

E-mail address: lpteo@math.nctu.edu.tw